
High Peak Borough Council

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Monday, 7 October 2019

Time: 1.30 pm

Venue: Main Hall, Town Hall, Market Street, Chapel en le Frith

27 September 2019

PART 1
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee 
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests

3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

4. Minutes of the meeting held on 15 July 2019 - Clerical Error (Pages 7 - 34)

5. Update Sheet 

6. Planning Applications (Pages 35 - 36)

7. DOC/2017/0071 Land at Linglongs Road, Whaley Bridge - discharge of conditions 
relating to HPK/2017/0694 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 
24, 26, 27, and 28 (Pages 37 - 76)

8. DOC/2108/0110 Land off Linglongs Road, Whaley Bridge - Discharge of condiitions 
5, 6, 7, 9, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 21, 29, 32, and 33 in relation to HPK/2017/0247 
(Pages 77 - 94)

9. HPK/2018/0551 Howard Town Brewery - proposed change of use of the existing B2 
use class (general industrial) to a Sui Generis (Brew shop with ancillary tasting 
room and provision of bar  snacks) (Pages 95 - 114)

10. HPK/2018/0143 Land at Forge Road, Chinley - residential development comprising 
12 dwellings (open market and affordable), public open space and associated 
infrastructure together with a new car park for 1st Chinley Scout Group (Pages 115 
- 154)

11. HPK/2019/0097 Rockhead Spring Pump Building, Bakewell Road, Buxton - 
installation of a pipe from Rockhead Spring Pump House to Waterswallows Lane 
along a route that includes Bakewell Road, Redgap Lane, Daiseymere Lane and 
Waterswallows Lane (Pages 155 - 214)

Public Document Pack



SIMON BAKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Membership of Development Control Committee
Councillor R McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Lomax (Vice-Chair)
Councillor A Barrow Councillor L Dowson
Councillor C Farrell Councillor I Huddlestone
Councillor G Oakley Councillor J Perkins
Councillor P N Roberts Councillor E Thrane
Councillor J Todd Councillor S Young



High Peak Borough Council

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Meeting: Monday, 9 September 2019 at 1.30 pm in Main Hall, Town Hall, Market Street, 
Chapel en le Frith

Present: Councillor R McKeown (Chair) 

Councillors T Ashton, A Barrow, L Dowson, C Farrell, I Huddlestone, 
D Lomax, P N Roberts, E Thrane, J Todd and S Young

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors G Oakley and 
J Perkins

20/27 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTERS BEFORE 
THE COMMITTEE
(Agenda Item 2)

There were no declarations made.

20/28 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 3)

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 12 August 2019 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.

20/29 UPDATE SHEET
(Agenda Item 4)

RESOLVED:

That the update sheet be noted.

20/30 PLANNING APPLICATIONS
(Agenda Item 5)

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

20/31 DOC/2017/0071 LAND AT LINGLONGS ROAD, WHALEY BRIDGE - 
DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS RELATING TO HPK/2017/0694 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 
9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 24, 26, 27 AND 28
(Agenda Item 6)

Discharge of conditions relating to HPK/2017/0694 – 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 
12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 24, 26, 27 and 28.

Applicant:   Kevin Furey, Barratt HomesPage 3

Agenda Item 3



Development Control Committee
Monday, 9 September 2019

The Committee had undertaken a site visit.

Chairman of the Committee – Cllr. R McKeown – announced that a large 
amount of information had been received by all Committee members at 
22:40 hrs on Saturday 7 September 2019 from ‘Whaley Bridge Matters’. 
Given the technical nature of the information, members felt that more time 
and clarification was needed to fully absorb the contents.

RESOLVED:

That the application be deferred for further consideration of the information 
received from ‘Whaley Bridge Matters’ and to allow for a “non-technical 
summary” clarification document to be produced to explain the drainage 
issues and proposals.

Cllr. Thrane requested that, once the clarification document had been 
produced, it be forwarded to a member of the Committee to confirm that it 
was suitably clear. She was happy to be the nominated member to do so.

20/32 HPK/2018/0620 BUCKINGHAM HOTEL, 1-2 BURLINGTON ROAD, 
BUXTON - REDEVELOPMENT OF THE BUCKINGHAM HOTEL, THE 
DEMOLITION OF THE EXISTING BUCKINGHAM HOTEL, THE ERECTION 
OF A REPLACEMENT HOTEL BUILDING (95 BEDS) AND ANCILLARY 
FACILITIES AND SUBSTANTIAL BASEMENT PARKING
(Agenda Item 7)

Redevelopment of the Buckingham Hotel, the demolition of the existing 
Buckingham Hotel, the erection of a replacement hotel building (95 beds) 
with ancillary facilities and substantial basement parking.

Applicant:   Mr A Barar

The Committee had undertaken a site visit.

The Committee were addressed by Mr A Barar.

Updates sheet contained a further letter of objection from the Serpentine 
Nursery School, responses from the Applicant, comments from DCC 
Highways and Officer response.

RESOLVED:

1. That the application be refused for the reasons and based on the 
policies contained in the report, and

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do 
not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.Page 4



Development Control Committee
Monday, 9 September 2019

20/33 HPK/2019/0309 1 FOXLOW MEWS, HEREFORD CLOSE, BUXTON - 
RETENTION OF UTILITY / STORE ROOM IN PLACE OF APPROVED 
GARAGE AND PROPOSED LOFT CONVERSION AND ASSOCIATED 
DORMERS ABOVE
(Agenda Item 8)

Retention of utility / store room in place of approved garage and proposed 
loft conversion and associated dormers above.

Applicant:   Mr. Peter Watmough

The Committee had undertaken a site visit.

The application had been Called-in to Committee by Cllr. L Grooby.

RESOLVED:

1. That the application be approved as set out in the report, and

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do 
not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

The meeting concluded at 1.57 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



          
 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Report to Development Control Committee 
 

7 October 2019 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendices Attached 
 
Appendix A – Minute extract 20/16 of the meeting held on 15 July 2019  
Appendix B – report regarding HPK/2017/0518 dated 15 July 2019 
 
1.        Reason for the Report: To report on a clerical error in the minutes of the 

meeting held on 15 July 2019 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 To confirm that the resolution set out in paragraph 3.2 of this report was the 
resolution moved, seconded and approved at the meeting of the 15 July 2019, 
and the minutes be amended accordingly. 
 

3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The Committee considered a report concerning application HPK/2017/0518 

Woods Mill, Milltown, Glossop at the meeting of Development Control held on 
15 July 2019 (Appendix B). Appended to the report was a previous report on 
the same matter to committee dated 19 March 2018. 

 
3.2 At the meeting on 15 July, the Committee resolved as follows: 
 

1. That in consideration of the report to Committee dated 13.3.2018 and this 
report, approval be GRANTED, subject to: 
• A Section106 obligation being entered into by the supermarket provider 

as set out within the report; 
• A Section 106 obligation being entered into by the developer of the 

residential elements of the scheme as set out in the report; 
• Repetition of the same conditions 21, 44 and 45 attached to 

HPK/2015/0571;  
• Amendments to conditions 21, 44 and 45 of planning consent 

HPK/2015/0571 to reference the amended plans and wording 
 
2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 

Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to 

TITLE: MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 15 JULY 
2019 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Ben Haywood, Head of Development Services 
   
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



the decision being issued, the Operations Manger – Development Services 
be delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the 
Development Control Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed 
the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision” 

 
3.3 Unfortunately, due to a clerical error, the resolution in minute 20/16 

(Appendix A) was written in accordance with the recommendations set out 
in the previous report dated 19 March 2018, rather than the report dated 15 
July 2019 considered by the Committee. 

 
3.4 The Committee is therefore requested to confirm that the resolution set out 

in paragraph 3.2 of this report was the resolution moved, seconded and 
approved at the meeting of the 15 July 2019, and the minutes be amended 
accordingly. 

 
 
 
 
   

 

Page 8



APPENDIX A 

 

MINUTE EXTRACT 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 15 JULY 2019 

 

20/16 HPK/2017/0518 WOODS MILL, MILLTOWN, GLOSSOP - VARIATION OF 
CONDITIONS 21, 44 AND 45 OF HPK/2015/0571 
(Agenda Item 7) 
 
Applicant:  Mr. M. Ryan, Glossop Land Limited 
 
The Committee were addressed by Mr. Andrew Jamieson in objection to the 
application and by Mr. Mark Iveson in support of the application. 
 
The Committee had undertaken a site visit. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

A. That the application be APPROVED subject to:  
1. The existing Section 106 Agreement attached to planning consent 

HPK/2015/0571 to reference the new consent; 
2. Repetition of the same conditions attached to outline consent HPK/2015/0571 

and compliance with any conditions agreed by a discharge of condition 
application; 

3. Amendment to conditions 21, 44 and 45 of planning consent HPK/2015/0571 
to reference the amended plans and wording. 

 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 

decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / Informatives / planning 
obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to the decision being 
issued, the Operations Manager – Development Services be given delegated 
authority to do so in conjunction with the Chairman of the Development 
Control Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive 
nature of the Committee’s decision. 

 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix B 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
Date 15th July 2019 

 
Application 
No: 

HPK/2017/0518 

Location Woods Mill, Milltown, Glossop 
Proposal Variation of conditions 21, 44 and 45 of HPK/2015/0571 
Applicant Mr M Ryan, Glossop Land Limited 
Agent Mr C Smith, Plan A (North West) Limited   
Parish/ward Howard Town Date Registered 15th September 

2017 
If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane Colley,  
Jane.Colley@highpeak.gov.uk  Tel: 01298 28400 ext. 4981 
 
1. REFERRAL & BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Previous Members of the Committee will recall the above 

application HPK/2017/0518 at the meeting of the 19th March 2018, 
whereby it was resolved to approve the application, subject to 
conditions and the applicant entering into a deed of variation. The 
variation was applied for because of changes to the layout which 
were necessary to accommodate ground conditions on part of the 
site being developed for housing.  In accordance with any s73 
application a variation to the 106 agreement is required to ensure 
that the original agreement applies to the new consent as it did to 
the original consent.  
 

1.2 The site itself is currently being built on to provide housing but is 
part of a larger site which, in summary, is intended ultimately to 
provide housing, a new supermarket, an up graded existing 
commercial unit (Unit A), parking, a riverside walk and associated 
structures. 

 
1.3 The proposed development when built out will deliver the riverside 

walk which is a key benefit of the scheme providing a pedestrian 
link between Victoria Street and the Howard Town development 
with the Shirebrook estate and residences beyond.  The scheme 
also proposed upgrading an existing commercial structure on site 
referred to in this report as Unit A. 
 

1.4 The minutes of this meeting relating to the variation are as follows: 
 
HPK/2017/0518 WOODS MILL, MILLTOWN, GLOSSOP  
(Agenda Item 9)  
 
Variation of conditions 21, 44 and 45 of HPK/2015/0571  

Page 11

mailto:Jane.Colley@highpeak.gov.uk


 

Applicant: Mr M Ryan, Glossop Land Limited  
 
RESOLVED:  
1. That approval be granted, subject to:  
a. A Deed of variation to the existing section 106 agreement attached to 
planning consent HPK/2015/0571 to reference the new consent;  
b. Repetition of the same conditions attached to outline consent 
HPK/2015/0571 and compliance with any conditions agreed by a discharge 
of condition application;  
c. Amendment to conditions 21, 44 and 45 of planning consent 
HPK/2015/0571 to reference the amended plans and wording  
 
2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / 
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Operations Manager – Development 
Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of 
the Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive 
nature of the committee’s decision.  
 
 
1.5 Since this time, the applicant has advised the Officers that it has not 

been possible to complete the Deed Of Variation due to a dispute 
between the various landowners.  The Council has sought to assist 
the applicant. However, various proposals to overcome the issue 
proposed by the applicant were not considered to be viable and the 
relationship between the landowners has now completely broken 
down.  In the alternative officers have suggested that in order to 
deliver as many benefits of the scheme as a whole, including 
completion of the housing development, that the applicant enter into 
a new deed but only to deliver those parts of the previous s106 in 
respect of the residential element of the scheme.   

 
1.6 At the same time Officers have been engaged in discussions with 

the owners of the land for the proposed supermarket, who are also 
willing to enter into a deed, but again only in respect of those 
obligations regarding the “supermarket land”.   

 
1.7 This report deals only with the effect of the revised legal 

agreements and should be read in conjunction with the previous 
committee report (appended) which deals with all other planning 
considerations. 

 
 
2. OFFICER COMMENT 

 
2.1 Planning permission was initially granted in July 2016 

(HPK/2015/0571) for the erection of a new supermarket, 
refurbishment and extension to an existing retail unit (known as 
Unit A) and 57 residential units. This was subject to the 

Page 12



 

completion of a section 106 agreement which secured the 
following: 

 
1. £15,000 towards the investigation and implementation of any 

highway works and/or traffic regulation order(s) 
 
2. £5,000 towards the approval and monitoring of a travel plan 

relating to the occupation of the dwellings; and 
3. £5,000 towards the approval and monitoring of a travel plan 

relating to the site of the supermarket; and   
4. The construction of the Riverside Walk prior to the occupation of 

the supermarket or any dwelling (except any dwelling accessed 
from Mill Street). 

5. The management and maintenance of the Riverside Walkway.  
 
2.2 The legal agreement also prevented the occupation of the 

supermarket until:  
 

1. 10 dwellings in phase 1 were practically complete; 
2. 8 dwellings were completed to roof level externally including all 

glazing so as to be weatherproof;  
3. All roads and services had been provided sufficient to serve all 

the dwellings on the site and constructed to base-course level; 
4. The works to Unit A (refurbishment and extension) were 

practically complete.   
 
2.3 The above restrictions were imposed to ensure that the whole 

site was developed taking into account that the site lies within a 
regeneration area and is subject to Policy DS1 of the Local Plan, 
the Glossop Design and Place Making Strategy Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD), including the Design Brief for the 
Woods Mill Area. Policy DS1 identifies Woods Mill as a 
Regeneration Area, where mixed use development is acceptable. 
This Policy, amongst a number of criteria, identifies that 
incremental development which would undermine the 
comprehensive redevelopment of the site will be resisted. 
  

2.4 The site also lies within the conservation area, and therefore the 
scheme as a whole was considered important in delivering 
improvements to the character and appearance of the designated 
heritage asset.  As can be seen from the timing arrangements set 
out above it was considered that the danger was that the 
supermarket would come forward without the housing or 
completion of the other commercial unit; Unit A.  In fact it 
happened the other way around. 

 
2.5 The applicant now advises that due to dispute between the 

various landowners, that a Deed Of Variation cannot be entered 
into, and as a consequence is now prejudicing the completion of 
the residential element of the scheme. It is therefore proposed 

Page 13



 

that the applicant enter into a new s106 deed which will contain 
all the same obligations as the original section 106 agreement, ie 
in respect of the riverside walk but only as it relates to the 
residential land.  

 
2.6 Equally, the proposed supermarket operator, who was signatory 

to the original section 106 agreement has also approached the 
Council seeking to vary the section 106 agreement. They advise 
that the original contractual arrangements to construct the 
supermarket and Unit A have broken down and therefore the 
restrictions placed on the occupation of the supermarket prevent 
its construction. The supermarket provider has stated that they 
wish to construct the supermarket as soon as possible. 
Accordingly the operators of the supermarket are now seeking to 
enter into a new section 106 agreement to remove the prohibition 
on occupation of the supermarket until the works to Unit A 
(refurbishment and extension) are practically complete and which 
will contain all the other restrictions as the current agreement, ie 
in relation to the riverside walk and travel plan.  Unit A is not in 
the ownership of the supermarket operator and they have no 
control over it’s refurbishment.   
   

2.7 At the present time, the residential element of the scheme is well 
under way, with a number of the dwellings to the north of Glossop 
Brook in occupation. No works have commenced in respect of the 
supermarket, other than the demolition of Woods Mill which took 
place a number of years ago.  

 
2.8 In terms of the original section 106 agreement, more than 18 

dwellings are now practically complete and the vast majority of 
roads and services serving the residential part of the scheme are 
constructed. Indeed a number of the internal roads are 
constructed with a tarmac surface. Moreover the section of the 
riverside walk towards the front of the houses, adjacent to 
Glossop Brook is almost completed.     

 
2.9 The original section 106 agreement also secured a number of 

financial contributions including £15,000 towards the investigation 
and implementation of any highway works and/or traffic regulation 
order(s) on surrounding roads, £5,000 towards the approval and 
monitoring of a travel plan relating to the occupation of the 
dwellings and £5,000 towards the approval and monitoring of a 
travel plan relating to the use of the supermarket. To date, 
£15,000 towards the off site highway works and £5,000 towards 
the travel plan for the residential part of the site have been 
received.  

 
2.10 The effect of separating the residential element from the 

remaining areas of the site, will enable the revised layout, which 
was found to be acceptable at the March 2018 committee 

Page 14



 

meeting to progress towards completion. If the supermarket 
provider also enters into a deed of variation, removing the 
restrictions placed on it, this will allow this element of the scheme 
to be constructed. The only element which would then be left 
without any formal mechanism to ensure its delivery would be the 
refurbishment and extension of Unit A.  

2.11 The owners of Unit A consider that the refurbishment works 
should now be linked to the sale of the residential development 
(rather than the supermarket) which they say will force the 
residential developer to carry out his contractual obligations by 
undertaking the extension and refurbishment works to Unit A as 
originally envisaged. The owners of Unit A also advise that the   
the supermarket provider has agreed to give the applicant access 
to their land to install main services across their land which is 
required to facilitate the works to Unit A.  

 
2.12 The supermarket provider has confirmed to the Council that there 

would be no objection to the installation of the required services 
for Unit A, but this would be subject to easements, licence and 
the location of the services being agreed with the applicant. 
   

2.13 The applicant states that he will not under any circumstances 
take any responsibility for the delivery of any part of the retail 
development on the site, whether for Unit A or the supermarket. 
In these circumstances, it is breakdown of the relationship 
between the various landowners which now threatens the 
regeneration benefits of the site.   
 

2.14 As a matter of fact even if the applicant were willing to enter 
negotiations to enter onto the supermarket land the Council could 
not guarantee that agreement could be reached, particularly 
given the background between the parties, or that it could be 
reached in a timely way.  In the meanwhile the housing 
development would be stalled.  
 

2.15 In addition, if the Council were to require the housing 
development to be tied to the delivery of Unit A, not only would 
the ultimate successful development of Unit A be uncertain 
(because of reliance on other parties to cooperate and enter into 
legal agreements as between them) but it would also be imposing 
a brand new requirement on the applicant part way through his 
development of the site, which will of necessity lead to substantial 
delay (and costs) and which could be deemed to be 
unreasonable in the circumstances.   

 
2.16 In planning terms it is necessary to consider what benefits, or 

otherwise, would be gained by either retaining the current 
position i.e. that the site be built in accordance with the original 
planning consent HPK/2015/0571, or that two section 106 

Page 15



 

agreements be entered into thus allowing the section 73 decision 
to be issued.   

 
2.17 If the Council were to refuse the applicants request, building 

works for the residential element of the scheme would need to be 
completed in accordance with the approved layout. The applicant 
sought a section 73 application because of the difficulties with the 
layout of the southern section of the site and the presence of a 
sewer and retaining wall structures. Therefore the applicant is 
physically unable to comply with the approved layout plans and 
the difficulties between the various parties would continue.  
Moreover, the supermarket provider would not build the 
superstore, due to the restriction placed on its opening and Unit A 
would not be refurbished as there would be no supermarket 
present on the land. In this situation, there would be significant 
harm to the conservation area, due to the absence of the 
supermarket, Unit A and a partially completed residential area. 
The land would remain in its present condition, the residential 
element would be partially completed, and a large and unsightly 
area of vacant land at the heart of the regeneration area would 
remain.     

 
2.18 Despite the suggestion of the owners of Unit A to “flip” the 

restriction of development onto the completion of the residential 
development, given that any access agreements onto the 
supermarkets land to install the required services for Unit A are 
yet to be agreed, (notwithstanding an informal indication from the 
supermarket that it would be willing to allow it), and the stated 
refusal by the applicant to enter into such an agreement,  the 
delivery of all three elements would be undermined, which would 
significantly and demonstrably harm the conservation and 
regeneration areas.  

 
2.19 It is extremely disappointing that landownership and contractual 

matters have prevented the supermarket and Unit A being 
brought forward at the same time. However, the separation of the 
various elements of the scheme, will ensure that both the 
supermarket and residential elements of the scheme are brought 
forward with their benefits to the local economy in terms of jobs 
and improving a regeneration area within the conservation area. 
Moreover, with the delivery of both the residential and 
supermarket elements, this will have a less harmful impact on the 
conservation area, than if the applicant were to revert back to the 
original approved plans and the consequential loss of the 
supermarket and Unit A.    

 
2.20 Unit A would become severed from the occupation of the 

supermarket, and this element could not be positively secured in 
terms of its delivery. However, planning permission would remain 
in place for its refurbishment and extension at a future date. The 

Page 16



 

refurbishment of Unit A would have obvious benefits to the 
conservation area. However, if this were the only element which 
was not secured, the harm to the conservation area, would be 
less than securing both the residential and supermarket elements 
of the scheme.  

 
2.21 By entering into two separate 106 agreements with the developer 

of the residential part of the site and the supermarket provider, 
both elements of the original scheme would be delivered. If the 
Council were to refuse either option or attempt to impose an 
agreement on an unwilling applicant and dependent on 
agreements to enter land, as set out above, there is a danger that 
the area of land associated with both the supermarket and unit A 
would remain undeveloped to the significant detriment of the 
conservation area within the regeneration area and the remaining 
housing development would have to be abandoned as the 
original plans cannot be built out due to ground conditions.   

 
2.22 The remaining elements of the section 106 agreement in terms of 

the provision of the riverside walkway, connecting both the 
residential and retail parts of the site to Howard Town to the west, 
would remain. Moreover, the supermarket provider would still be 
required to provide the £5,000 contribution towards the approval 
and monitoring of the travel plan.  

 
3. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
3.1 Overall, it is considered that releasing some of the restrictions 
imposed by the original legal agreement, will enable the site to be 
developed and allow the Council to issue the section 73 decision. The 
release of the section 73 decision will enable the houses to be 
completed, whilst still ensuring that the riverside walkway is delivered. 
Equally, by severing the ties which prevent the occupation of the 
supermarket, the supermarket provider will be able to construct the 
supermarket.  Although this course of action will not deliver the 
extension and refurbishment of Unit A and the comprehensive 
redevelopment of the whole site, a requirement of Policy DS1, it will 
ensure that two elements of the scheme are delivered, a significant 
benefit which outweighs the regeneration benefits associated with Unit 
A.  The proposal to require the applicant to enter into an agreement they 
have indicated they will not agree to and dependent on a number of 
other agreements for entry to property not owned by the applicant is 
considered to be too uncertain to be relied upon and potentially also 
unreasonable . 
 
3.2 In summary the Section 106 was originally attached to the planning 
permission to ensure the comprehensive redevelopment of the site. It is 
now serving to prevent two of the 3 elements from being delivered. It is 
considered that it is no longer serving a useful planning purpose in its 
current form and is, in fact, preventing what it was intended to secure. 

Page 17



 

Replacing it with 2 new modified agreements will enable the housing 
and supermarket to be delivered unimpeded. Whilst this course of action 
does not ensure the delivery of Unit A, it does not remove the planning 
permission and does not prevent it either. Accordingly, its is 
recommended that the committee resolve to approve the application 
subject to the 2 revised Section 106 agreements as detailed below.  
 
4. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
A: That in consideration of the report to Committee dated 
13.3.2018 and this report approval be GRANTED, subject to:  
 

• A Section 106 obligation be entered into by the 
supermarket provider as set out in the report  

• A Section 106 obligation be entered into by the developer 
of the residential elements of the scheme as set out in the 
report.  

• Repetition of the same conditions attached to 
HPK/2015/0571. 

• Amendments to conditions 21, 44 and 45 of planning 
consent HPK/2015/0571 to reference the amended plans 
and wording.  

 
 

B In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager – Development Services has delegated authority to do so 
in consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 
Informative 
 
This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the 
issues raised through the application process and thorough discussion 
with the applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the NPPF the 
Case Officer has sought solutions where possible to secure a 
development that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area. 
      
 
Site Plan 
 
 

Page 18



 1 

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

Date 19th March 2018 
 

Application 
No: 

HPK/2017/0518 

Location Woods Mill, Milltown, Glossop 
Proposal Variation of conditions 21, 44 and 45 of HPK/2015/0571 
Applicant M M Ryan, Glossop Land Limited 
Agent Mr C Smith, Plan A (North West) Limited   
Parish/ward Howard Town   Date registered 15th September  

2017 
If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane 
Colley,  Jane.Colley@highpeak.gov.uk  Tel: 01298 28400 ext. 4981 

 
REFERRAL 
 
This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee as it involves a variation to a number of planning conditions 
imposed on a major development.  
 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
 
Approve, subject to the completion of a Deed of Variation to the 
completed Section 106 agreement and amended conditions 
 

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 

 
2.1 The application site covers 2.4 hectares and spans Glossop Brook, 
stretching between the existing Howard Town Mill development and 
Milltown. The eastern part of the site was formerly dominated by Woods 
Mill, a substantial multi-storey traditional mill building, which has been 
demolished pursuant to planning application HPK/2015/0442. The 
western part of the site comprises a number of retail and commercial 
properties, under used land and derelict buildings. The land to the south 
of the Brook was formerly a scrap yard.  
 
2.2 Planning consent was granted, ref HPK/2015/0571 in July 2016 for a 
new supermarket, the refurbishment of the existing retails units to the 
western section of the site and 57 dwellings. Works have commenced at 
the site in respect of the dwellings.  
 
2.3 The site currently takes access from a number of different points. 
The retail units at the western end of the site take access from Victoria 
Street through Howard Town Mills; the commercial properties within the 
middle of the site are accessed from Mill Street and there is an 

Page 19

mailto:Jane.Colley@highpeak.gov.uk


 2 

additional vehicular access into Woods Mill from Milltown. There are no 
Public Rights of Way through the site. 
 
2.4 The site lies within an area of mixed retail, commercial and 
residential use at the heart of Glossop. The whole of the site falls within 
Howard’s Town Mill Conservation Area whilst the western part of it also 
lies within Glossop town centre boundary.  
 
2.5 The site lies within Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3. 
   
   

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL  
 

3.1 This application seeks consent to vary three planning conditions 
imposed under HPK/2015/0571 relating to the timing of the construction 
of the estate roads serving the residential element of the scheme 
(condition 21), the approved plans (condition 44) and the timing for the 
submission of public realm facilities (condition 45). The full wording of 
the conditions and the changes proposed are as follows:  
 
3.2 Approved condition 21 relates to the timing of when the estates 
roads are to be constructed and states:  
 

21. The carriageways of the proposed estate roads serving the 
residential development shall be constructed in accordance with 
Condition 20, up to and including at least road base level, prior to 
the commencement of the erection of any dwelling intended to 
take access from the roads. The carriageways, footways and 
footpaths in front of each dwelling shall be completed with final 
surface course within twelve months from the first occupation of 
the dwellings unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with 
Policy CF6 of the High Peak Local Plan 2016.  

 
3.3 Works have already commenced on the construction of the 
residential dwellings without the necessary roads having being 
constructed to road base level. The applicant states that this has been 
necessary due to extensive ground works to satisfy the requirements of 
the archaeology conditions (conditions 32 and 33) and the remediation 
works (condition 9-12). In addition, the applicant also identifies that in 
order to comply with the Section 106 agreement, which requires a 
minimum of 18 dwellings to be constructed prior to the commencement 
of development on the supermarket, contractually, the supermarket will 
not commence until the requirements are the Section 106 have been 
met. Therefore the works which have commenced to date are in breach 
of condition 21. It is therefore proposed that condition 21 be reworded:  
 
3.4 The following new condition is therefore proposed:  

Page 20



 3 

 
The carriageways of the proposed estate roads serving the 
residential development shall be constructed in accordance with 
Condition 20, up to and including at least road base level, prior to 
the occupation of any dwelling intended to take access from the 
roads. The carriageways, footways and footpaths in front of each 
dwelling shall be completed with final surface course within 
twelve months from the first occupation of the dwellings unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
3.5 Condition 44 of HPK/2015/0571 relates to the approved plans and 
states:  
 

44. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans on the plan 
schedule dated 6th June 2016. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning, in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

3.6 The applicant new proposes to amend this condition with a new 
schedule of plans which show the following changes:  
 
a) Plots 26, 27, 45 and 55 – change to house type from A1/2 to A3. This 
change will increase the number of bedrooms within these units from 3 
bedrooms to 4 bedrooms. 
b) Plots 46 and 57 – Removed in their entirety from the scheme. This 
has been necessary as these plots are not viable due to the need for 
substantial retaining structures.   
c) Garages serving plots 54 and 55 (formerly plots 55 and 56)  amended 
from attached single garages to detached single garages. 
d) Removal of footpath link located between plot 45 and Glossop Brook 
 
3.7 The effect of the above changes will reduce the overall number of 
residential units from 57 to 55. It is therefore proposed that condition 44 
be reworded: 
 

44. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans on the plan 
schedule dated 8th March 2018……. 

 
3.8 Condition 45 states:  
 

45. Within 3 months of the commencement of development, a 
scheme for the provision of all lighting columns, signage, refuse 
bins and any public realm facilities shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall include details of the siting, size and a timetable for the 
construction of the facilities. Thereafter the development shall be 
completed strictly in accordance with the approved details. 

Page 21



 4 

Reason: In the interests of a safe and accessible environment 
and in accordance with Policy EQ6 of the High Peak Saved Local 
Plan 2016. 

 
3.9 To date the applicant has not sought to discharge this condition, 
despite having commenced development. The applicant advises that 
details for the public realm or street furniture have not been provided by 
the end user of the supermarket and therefore they have been unable to 
comply with this condition. Therefore, following discussions with officers 
it is proposed to amend the wording of this condition. 
 
3.10 The following new wording is proposed:  
 

45. Prior to the commence of any development is phases 7 and 
8, as agreed under condition 6, a scheme for the provision of all 
lighting columns, signage, refuse bins and any public realm 
facilities shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of the 
siting, size and a timetable for the construction of the facilities. 
Thereafter the development shall be completed strictly in 
accordance with the approved scheme and prior to the first 
occupation of the development identified in phases 7 and 8. 

 
3.11 Under the terms of approved condition 6 of HPK/2015/0571 
(Phasing details) phases 7 and 8 relate solely to the areas associated 
with the supermarket and the existing commercial units which are to 
refurbished and extended (former Bulldog Fashion complex of 
buildings). Therefore the effect of this change of wording to condition 45 
would be to allow the residential element to continue, but would not 
permit the construction of the retails elements until the public realm 
facilities were agreed, and installed prior to first occupation.   
  
3.12 The application, the details attached to it, including the plans, 
comments made by residents and the responses of the consultees can 
be found on the Council’s website at: 
 
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet
?PKID=218930  
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
4.1 The following is a summary of the relevant planning application 
relating to the site. 
 
HPK/2015/0571 Proposed Demolition of existing 

buildings and structures and 
erection of 2,470sqm Class 
A1retail unit, refurbishment of 
existing retail unit and extension 
to provide 155sqm additional 

Approved 
1/7/2016 

Page 22

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=218930
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=218930


 5 

Class B1 offices and 594sqm 
additional Class A1 retail floor 
space, erection of 57 dwellings, 
associated access including 
new bridges, car parking, 
lanscaping and associated 
works. 

HPK/2015/0442 Demolition of dangerous 
buildings known as Woods Mill 

Approved 
26/10/2015 

HPK/2015/0125 Proposed Demolition of Former 
Mill Buildings, Associated 
Structures and other Buildings 
to enable redevelopment to 
provide up to 3,372 sqm gross 
additional Class A1 retail 
floorspace (at ground level), up 
to 447sqm gross additional 
Class B1 Office Floorspace and 
54 Dwellings, with provision of 
site accesses to include new 
bridge, car parking and 
landscaping and other 
associated works 

Refused 28/7/15 

HPK/2014/0408 Proposed demolition of former 
mill buildings to redevelop the 
site to provide Class A1 retail 
floorspace; Class B office 
floorspace and 54 dwellings. 
Provision of site accesses and 
including new bridge, car 
parking and landscaping and 
associated works. 

Withdrawn  

 
 

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 

High Peak Local Plan Submission 2016 
 
S1 – Sustainable Development Principles 
S1a – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S2 – Settlement Hierarchy 
S5 – Glossopdale Sub-Area Strategy  
EQ1 – Climate Change 
EQ6 – Design and Place Making 
EQ7 – Built and Historic Environment 
EQ9 – Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows 
EQ10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land 
EQ11 – Flood Risk Management  
H1 – Location of Housing Development 
H3 – New Housing Development 

Page 23



 6 

CF1 – Retail and Town Centres 
CF3  - Local Infrastructure Provision 
CF6 – Accessibility and Transport 
CF7 – Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Provision 
DS1 – Woods Mill, Glossop 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 
Adopted Glossop Design and Place Making Strategy (SPD) 2011, 
including  a Design Brief for Woods Mill Area.  
Glossop Conservation Areas Character Appraisal 2006 
Residential Design Guide SPD 2005 
Planning Obligations SPD 2005 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Paragraph 17: Core Principles 
Section 1: Delivering sustainable development 
Section 2: Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
Section 6: Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
Section 7: Requiring good design 
Section 10: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 
coastal change 
Section 11: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 12: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
Paragraphs 196, 216 
 
 
 

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 
Site notice Expiry date for comments: 31/10/17 
Neighbour letters  Expiry date for comments: 25/10/17 
Press notice Expiry date for comments: N/A 
 
Neighbours 
 
Two letters of comment have been received stating:  
 

• To a layman these plans are meaningless, how will it effect 
residents and for how long? 

• Will residents in Mill St have to park elsewhere?  
• It looks like the access to housing will only be from Milltown, 

whereas the original plans had access in via Mill St and access 
out by Milltown. 

• The only access to the Lidl supermarket will be via Mill St and not 
through the existing retail park, this will make this area very busy 
and getting back onto the High St a problem. The old plans made 
much more sense.  

Page 24



 7 

• Cars come down Cross Cliffe very fast so the entrance/exit is 
dangerous.  
 

 
 

Consultee 
 

 
Comment 

 
Officer 

response 
DCC Highway 
Authority 

The proposed road infrastructure serving 
the development does not meet the criteria 
required to be considered for adoption by 
the Highway Authority and therefore will 
remain private. In terms of the proposed 
amended to the conditions:  
 
Condition 21 - There is no perceived 
impact on the operation of the existing 
highway by the proposed variation. 
 
Condition 44 – The new estate road are to 
remain private although I trust you will 
ensure that the level of off street car 
parking complies with your Authorities 
standards as any under provision will be 
likely to result in vehicles parking in a 
manner that may obstruct areas dedicated 
to manoeuvring, thereby leading to 
overlong/awkward reversing in the 
carriageway. The Highway Authority’s 
current guidance recommends that any 
private roads/driveways serving in excess 
of 5 no. dwellings are laid out to adoption 
standards. A carriageway width of 4.2m 
with a 1.8m width footway to one side only 
would mean that cul-de-sac 3 would be 
substandard to current recommendations.  
 
Condition 45 – There are no apparent 
highway implications.  
 

 
 
 

DCC County 
Archaeologist 

The proposed alterations will have no 
additional archaeological impact. I 
recommend that any new consent is 
subject to the same archaeological 
conditions as the existing consent, except 
where previously discharged. 
 

 

Environmental 
Health Officer  

No observations to make.  

Arboriculture 
Officer 

With respect to the highway amendments 
to the south of Glossop Brook, the trees to 

 

Page 25



 8 

be retained are generally poor and some 
selected felling and replacement will need 
to be agreed in this area. This was 
discussed on site and should be 
formalised. 
 
On this basis I see no Arboricultural 
objection to tree removal in this area as 
long as a high quality landscaping scheme 
is provided including tree replacement 
where suitable.    

High Peak 
Access Group 

After looking at the details of the request 
for an extension to comply with the 
conditions of the planning approval, we feel 
that whilst there is justification for an 
extension to allow for the proper 
preparation of detailed proposals on the 
external landscaping we feel that it is not 
appropriate to allow the extension to run 
until prior to occupation as this would allow 
the works to be completed without the 
proposals being submitted for comment 
prior to starting the landscape works on 
site. We consider that the extension should 
only be allowed for the period prior to 
commencement of construction of the retail 
unit. 

 

 
7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND 

PLANNING BALANCE  
 
 
Procedural Matters 
 
7.1 Section 73 of the Town and County Planning Act 1990 allows for an 
application to be made to vary or remove planning conditions associated 
with a planning permission. One of the uses of a section 73 application 
is to seek a minor material amendment, where there is a relevant 
condition that can be varied. There is no statutory definition of “minor 
material amendment” however, it is likely to include any amendment 
where its scale and/or nature results in a development which is not 
substantially different from the one which has been approved.  
 
7.2 It is therefore necessary to consider whether the changes proposed 
are a minor material amendment to the development and whether they 
substantially differ in scale and nature to the development approved in 
addition to considering whether planning permission for the 
development should be granted subject to conditions which differ from 
those previously approved.   

 

Page 26



 9 

Planning Policies  
 
7.3 The determination of a planning application is to be made 
pursuant to section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004, which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990.  
 
7.4 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 
70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning 
authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan currently consists of the High 
Peak Local Plan 2016.  
 
7.5  Paragraph 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
explains that at the heart of the Framework is the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development. For decision makers this means that when 
considering development proposals which accord with the development 
plan they should be approved without delay; or where the development 
plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, grant planning 
permission unless any adverse impacts would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies 
in the NPPF taken as a whole. 
 
7.6 Local Plan policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as contained within the NPPF. 
 
Principle of Development  
 
7.7 Policy DS1 of the adopted Local Plan sets out the Councils vision for 
Woods Mill Regeneration Area, seeking to deliver a vibrant mix of uses 
which will complement existing development and contribute towards the 
vitality and viability of the town centre. The Council, in approving the 
previous application considered that the use of the site for a new 
supermarket, residential development, refurbishment of the existing 
retails units and public open space met the requirements of Policy DS1 
and the Glossop Design and Place Making Strategy Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD), including the Design Brief for the Woods Mill 
Area. Although this current application seeks to amend the wording of 
three conditions, it does not change the fundamental approach to the 
redevelopment of the site for a variety of mixed uses, thus continuing to 
contribute towards the environmental, social and economic regeneration 
of this part of Glossop.     
 
Design and Impact on the and Conservation Area 
 
7.8 The site lies within the Howard Town Mills Conservation Area which 
was designated in 2003 to protect the area’s industrial heritage. The 

Page 27



 10 

Conservation Area stretches from Victoria Street eastwards and 
includes Howard Town Mill, Woods Mill and Eastern Mill all part of the 
Howard Town Mill complex developed by John Wood in the 19th 
Century.  Over the years, many of the buildings making up the complex, 
which was one of the largest integrated cotton mills in England, have 
been demolished.   The main surviving parts are Howard Town Mill (now 
converted into a budget hotel, retail and residential use), and the 
remnants of some former weaving sheds and administrative buildings 
east of Milltown.  
 
7.9 Section 72 of the Town and Country Planning (Conservation and 
Listed Buildings) Act 1990 places a statutory duty on the Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving 
and enhancing the character and appearance of conservation areas. 
This duty is embodied in the NPPF which requires the LPA to set out in 
their Local Plan a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment 
of the historic environment, including heritage assets. Paragraph 126 of 
the NPPF advises that Local Planning Authorities should: 
 
 ‘”recognise that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and 
conserve them in a manner appropriate to their significance. In 
developing this strategy, local planning authorities should take account 
of: 

• the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with 
their conservation; 

• the wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits 
that conservation of the historic environment can bring; 

• the desirability of new development making a positive 
contribution to local character and distinctiveness; and 
opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic 
environment to the character of a place.” 

 
7.10 The application sets out a number of changes, under condition 44, 
to the layout and appearance of some of the residential units. No 
changes are proposed in respect of the supermarket or refurbished 
retail units.   
 
7.11 To the south of Glossop Brook, the approved plans show a total of 
13 semi and detached units. It is now proposed remove two plots from 
this area, plots 46 and 57, which comprises a semi detached and a 
detached property. The semi detached house would be replaced with a 
single dwelling. The revised layout also shows the replacement of two 
co-joined garages serving plots 55 and 56 (now plots 54 and 55) with 
two detached garages. The applicant explains that plot 46 has been 
removed due to the proximity to an existing sewer and plot 57 removed 
due to the need to install significant retaining structures required to built 
this property.   
 

Page 28



 11 

7.12 The plans also show the replacement of approved house type A1 
at plots 45 and 55, with house type A3, a detached property containing 
four bedrooms. Similarly Plots 26 and 27 located to the north of Glossop 
Brook would be replaced with house type A3. Overall all four properties 
would increase the number of bedrooms from three to four, with roof 
space bedrooms served by roof lights.     
 
7.13 In terms of visual impact, the replacement house type would match 
the design approach found elsewhere on the site and therefore reflect 
what has already been granted planning permission. None of the 
changes proposed, including the loss of two units to the south of the 
Brook and the amendments to the garages would harm the character of 
the conservation area, indeed these changes would continue to 
preserve and enhance the heritage asset and relate well to the other 
dwellings in this location.  
 
7.14 It is therefore considered that the proposed minor amendment 
change would not be of a scale or nature which would result in a 
development which is substantially different to that previously approved. 
Consequently the proposed changes to the layout are minor-material 
amendments that can be appropriately considered pursuant to the 
current application. Furthermore, the proposed house type changes 
would continue to preserve the heritage asset in line with adopted 
Policies DC1 and EQ7, the Glossop Design and Place Making Strategy 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and Design Brief for the 
Woods Mill Area and are therefore acceptable in design and 
conservation terms.  
 
Amenity 
 
7.15 Policy EQ6 of the adopted Local Plan seeks to ensure that new 
development achieve a satisfactory relationship to adjacent 
development taking into account factors such as overlooking, privacy 
and overshadowing. The changes to the proposed to the houses would 
not have any adverse impact on any existing residential properties. 
Plots 26 and 27 (located to the north of Glossop Brook) are integral to 
the residential development on this side of the Brook and would not 
have any impact on any surrounding residential properties in the wider 
area. The plots are positioned 20m from the rear elevations of plots 15-
18 and whilst slightly below the Councils privacy standards of 21m, it not 
uncommon in an urban environment.  In terms of plot 55 it has no 
windows located in its rear elevation and therefore would not cause any 
overlooking towards Bank Cottage. Plot 43 has no direct relationship 
with any existing residential property. It is therefore considered that the 
minor material amendment would result in a development which is 
substantially differ in scale and nature to the development previously 
approved and it meets the requirements of Policy EQ6 in terms of 
amenity.  
 
Access and Highway safety 

Page 29



 12 

 
7.16 Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that new development can be safety 
accessed and car parking levels in accordance with the car parking 
guidance contained at Appendix 1 of the adopted Local Plan. The 
proposed means of vehicular access into the site remain as approved in 
July 2016, there are not proposals to amend this. Access would be 
gained via the Howard Town Mill complex, Mill Street and Milltown.  
 
7.17 The applicant initially proposed to reduce the width of the road 
serving the residential units to the south of Glossop Brook. Following the 
comments of the highway authority, the road layout has been amended 
back to that approved under HPK/2015/0571. The road continues to 
have a width of 5m with a 2m wide footway.  
 
7.18 As noted above the proposed revised house types would increase 
the number of bedrooms from 3 to 4 bedrooms for each of the four plots. 
Appendix 1 of the adopted Local Plan, provide guidance for levels of car 
parking advising that 4 bedroom properties should have 3 off road 
parking spaces. Each of the plots would have two designated off road 
car parking spaces, including garages, resulting in a shortfall of one 
space per unit. Whilst below the recommended parking levels, the site is 
located in a high sustainable location, with good access to social, 
cultural and community facilities and alternative modes of transport. 
Therefore, in this case, it is considered that the below level of car 
parking provision is acceptable.  
 
7.19 The proposed revisions to condition 21 would require the roads to 
be constructed up to base course level prior to the occupation of the 
dwellings. The original condition required the road to be constructed up 
to base course level prior to the commencement of the erection of any 
dwelling. Thereafter, the final surface of the road would need to be 
installed within 12 months from the first occupation of the dwelling, 
which would be the same trigger point as originally set out in the 
condition. Whilst condition 21 has already been breached because the 
applicant has commenced the construction of the dwellings, the effect of 
the revised wording to this condition, would still require the final surface 
to be installed within 12 months of the first occupation of the dwellings. 
The revised wording is considered to be reasonable and enforceable 
and would continue to allow the construction of the dwellings, whilst 
ensuring that the final road surface would be installed within a 
reasonable time period.   
 
7.20 The amendments proposed are considered to be minor-material 
amendments that do not result in a development which is substantially 
different in scale or nature to the development approved and meets the 
requirements of Policy CF6 with regard to highway safety.  
 
Public Realm Facilities  
 

Page 30



 13 

7.21 Policy EQ6 of the adopted Local Plan states that new 
developments should be designed to ensure that buildings and external 
spaces can be access by everyone, including disabled people.  
 
7.22 Condition 45 was imposed on the original planning consent to 
ensure that any public realm facilities, including lighting columns, 
signage, bins and other facilities were designed into the scheme at an 
earlier stage to achieve good accessibility throughout the site for those 
with mobility problems. The applicant initially proposed an amendment 
to this condition requiring the details to be agreed prior to the occupation 
of the retail element of the scheme. However officers considered that 
this revised wording would defeat the purposes of ensuring that public 
accessibility was designed into the scheme at an early stage.   
 
7.23 The proposed rewording of condition 45 would ensure that none of 
the commercial element of the wider scheme could be constructed until 
details of the public realm facilities were submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with High Peak Access. 
However it would allow the continuing build out of the residential 
element of the scheme. This balance is considered to be reasonable 
and fair, allowing works to continue whilst ensuring that the external 
spaces and public realm facilities serving the retail element is 
considered early in the design process. The revision sought to condition 
45 is considered to be a minor material amendment to the approved 
scheme and would not result in a proposal which would substantially 
differ from the existing outline consent.     
 
Other Matters 
 
7.24 The original planning consent was the subject of a section 106 
agreement which secured:  
 
1.  £15,000 towards the investigation and implementation of any 
highway works and/or traffic regulation order(s)  
2. £5,000 towards the approval and monitoring of a travel plan relating 
to the occupation of the dwellings; and 
3. £5,000 towards the approval and monitoring of a travel plan relating 
to the site of the supermarket; and   
4. The construction of the Riverside Walk prior to the occupation of the 
supermarket or any dwelling (except any dwelling accessed from Mill 
Street). 
5. The management and maintenance of the Riverside Walkway.  
 
7.25 If approved, a deed of variation to the section 106 agreement 
would be required to the link any new consent to these requirements.   
 
 
8. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSIONS 
 

Page 31



 14 

8.1 The development of the site has been accepted by the granting of 
the planning permission in July 2016. The changes proposed are 
considered to be minor amendments to the approved scheme and 
would not result in a development which would substantially differ from 
the original planning consent. Therefore it is considered that a fresh 
application is not required and can be dealt with via the Section 73 
process. Whilst the number of houses to be delivered at the site has 
decreased to 55 the revised plans and amendments to the timings of the 
conditions do not substantially differ from that previously approved. 
 
8.2 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant 
to section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.  
 
8.3 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless 
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 
70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning 
authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan currently consists of the High 
Peak Local Plan 2016. The development would meet Policies DS1, H1 
and H2 of the Development Plan.  
 
8.4 The wording proposed by the applicant for conditions 21, 44 and 45 
would enable the revised plans to be referred to and the amended 
timings for the delivery of the final surface of the roads and detailed 
design for the public realm facilities to be secured. Moreover the precise 
wording for these conditions would meet the tests identified at 
paragraph 206 of the NPPF, being necessary, relevant to planning, 
enforceable, precise and reasonable. 
 
8.5 The revised layout and design of housing is considered to be 
acceptable in highway safety terms, layout, amenity and the impact on 
the designated heritage asset.    
 
8.6 There are no other planning issues are raised. Accordingly, the 
proposal is considered to be sustainable development under the terms 
of the NPPF, and complies with Policies S1, S1a, S2, S5, DS1, EQ6, 
EQ7, H1, H2, CF6 and CF7 of the High Peak Local Plan 2016 which 
seek provide sustainable development. It therefore benefits from the 
presumption in favour and accordingly is recommended for approval. 
 
9. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
A. That approval be GRANTED subject to: 

a. A Deed of Variation to the Existing Section 106 
Agreement attached to planning consent 
HPK/2015/0571 to reference the new consent 

Page 32



 15 

b. Repetition of the same conditions attached to outline 
consent HPK/2015/0571 and compliance with any 
conditions agreed by a discharge of condition 
application.  

c. Amendment to conditions 21, 44 and 45 of planning 
consent HPK/2015/0571 to reference the amended 
plans and wording. 

 
 
 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of 
the Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/ informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Operations 
Manager - Development Services has delegated authority to do so 
in consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 

 
    

Site Plan 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



          
 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Report to Development Control Committee 
 

7 October 2019 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendices Attached - None 
 
1.        Reason for the Report: To outline the Committee’s determination of 

planning applications 
 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the report be noted. 
 

 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 Unless the Committee decide to waive their delegated power in respect of any 

application, the Committee’s determination of any application will operate as a 
final decision, unless:- 

 
 a. it is a major departure from Council Policy; 
 

b. There are resource implications for the Borough Council which need to 
be considered by the Executive 

 
3.2 The environmental, legal, financial and equal opportunities raised by each 

application are dealt with within each report.  There are no known Community 
Safety issues unless specified in the report. 
 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

Background papers for all planning 
applications  

Town Hall, Buxton  

 

TITLE: PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION BY 
COMMITTEE 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Anthony McKeown  
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Ben Haywood – Head of Development Services 
   
WARDS INVOLVED:  All 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 7th October 2019

Application 
No:

DOC/2017/0071

Location Land at Linglongs Road, Whaley Bridge 
Proposal Discharge of conditions relating to HPK/2017/0694 4, 5, 6, 7, 

8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 24, 26, 27 and 
28

Applicant Kevin Furey, Barratt Homes
Agent N/A
Parish/ward Whaley Bridge Date registered 21/07/2017
If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane Colley -
Email jane.colley@highpeak.gov.uk; Tel: 01298 28400 Ext: 4981

1. REFERRAL

1.1 Members resolved to defer this application at the 9th September 2019 
committee, requesting the submission of a non technical summary for the proposed 
drainage strategy at the site. It was agreed that Councillor Thrane would review the 
document, to establish whether its content was clear, which has now taken place. 
The applicant has therefore submitted a Technical Note of the proposed drainage 
strategy for the site, which is attached at Appendix 1. 

1.2 The purpose of this report is therefore to advise members to review the non 
technical document at Appendix 1 along with the details provided by email to 
members on the 7th September 2019 by Whaley Bridge Matters (WBM). This report 
should be considered alongside the Committee report of the 9th September 2019, 
which is attached at Appendix 2. The non technical summary has been reviewed by 
the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) and their comments are presented below. 

2. Consultation Responses: 

Lead Local Flood Authority: 

I’ve read through the document and I agree with its content, the comments reflect a 
currently acceptable approach to a drainage strategy.

Neighbour Consultations: 

An email has been received from Whaley Bridge Matters on the 27th September 
2019 raising the following concerns: 

 The current plans will increase flood risk elsewhere, in breach of the NPPF 
and Local Plan Policy. The drainage conditions cannot and should not be 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7

mailto:jane.colley@highpeak.gov.uk


discharged. 
 GWP have raised major concerns with the way in which the applicant has 

calculated and applied greenfield run-off rates (GROR) in their letters of the 
19th July 2019, 25th Jult 2019 and 4th September 2019. The applicant has 
calculated the greenfield run off rate on the basis of 4 hectares, whereas the 
applicant should be using the GROR for the smaller developed area as the 
maximim storm run off rate for their calculations. This will be a smaller flow 
rate and hence will require a larger attentuation scheme. The current scheme 
is therefore undersized and will not restrict post development run off to the 
GROR (including climate change). There will therefore be an increased flood 
risk cause by the development. 

 Following an FOI request, the applicants focus is on their costs rather than 
flood risk impact. An email from the applicant to the LLFA on the 27th 
February 2018 states “altering the design to include only impermemable area 
in the greenfield run off calculations will result in the steeply sloping contraints 
of the site, will be almost impossible to achieve with a significant replan and 
change in the drainage strategy.

 The applicant has had full control of its drainage plans throughout this 
process. They could have designed it from the very beginning to comply with 
national and local policy requirements and the associated planning conditions, 
but chose not to do so.

3. Officer Comment

3.1 The Technical Note for the proposed drainage strategy explains that it is a 
requirement by DEFRA that new development should discharge surface water at a 
rate no greater than the situation pre-development. In this case, the proposed post 
development discharge rate will be below the existing greenfield runoff rates, thereby 
producing a betterment. Although WMB consider the methodology employed by the 
applicant to calculate greenfield runoff rates is incorrect because they consider the 
whole area of the site should be calculated, industry standards state that greenfield 
run off rates should be calculated for the whole development area that is within the 
area served by the drainage network. Therefore areas of public open space, which is 
where the protected trees lie, have been excluded from the greenfield run off 
calculations as they are not within the area served by the drainage network.   

3.2 It is therefore considered that sufficient information has been submitted to 
demonstrate that the proposed drainage strategy would not cause flooding 
elsewhere, including the River Goyt or to the new properties within the site.  The 
details for the drainage conditions, which include conditions 9, 10, 11 and 13 are 
therefore considered to be acceptable 

RECOMMENDATION

A. That, the conditions imposed on HPK/2017/0694 and as set out in the report 
of the 9th September 2019 (Appendix 2) be agreed. 

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 

Page 38



the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision.

Informatives

During the course of the application, the Local Planning Authority has sought further 
clarification on the conditions, accordingly paragraph 38 of the NPPF has been 
adhered to. 

Site Plan

The Site

50 100

metres
0

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



TECHNICAL NOTE ON DRAINAGE STRATEGY 

LINGLONGS ROAD, WHALEY BRIDGE 

 

The site is an existing grassed field, sloping steeply towards an ordinary unnamed watercourse that runs 

within the site. This watercourse in turn drains into the River Goyt, to the west of the site. 

The site does NOT drain in any way to the nearby Toddbrook Reservoir. Toddbrook Reservoir discharges 

to the River Goyt, but only in significant storm events, and is downstream of the development site. 

The site is in the Environment Agency’s lowest category of flood zone – Flood Zone 1 (there is no Flood 

Zone 0), and is therefore at low risk of flooding. 

UK wide standards set out by DEFRA requires that all new developments discharge surface water at a rate 

no greater than  it was pre‐development. To achieve this the peak run off rate  is controlled via a  flow 

control device and oversized surface water storage pipes under the highways. 

The pre‐development surface water discharge rate is termed “Greenfield Run‐off Rate”, and is calculated 
using an industry standard method based upon the development area.  
 
The GWP response dated 4th Sept 2019, claims that the “Greenfield Run‐off Rate” has been incorrectly 

calculated by using  the entire site area  to arrive at  the “Greenfield Run‐off Rate”, suggesting  this will 

provide an over estimate of the “Greenfield Run‐off Rate”. GWP suggest that the rate should be calculated 

using the smaller developed area. 

The applicant believes that GWPs response is incorrect and misleading. The applicant has used the correct 

areas  and  the  correct  industry  standard method  of  calculating  the  “Greenfield  Run‐off  Rate which  is 

evidenced below. 

The following is an extract from the uksuds.com website: 
 
“The Greenfield runoff rate which is to be used for assessing the requirements for limiting discharge flow 
rates and attenuation storage for a site, should be calculated for the whole development area (paved and 
pervious surfaces ‐ houses, gardens, roads, and other open space) that is within the area served by the 
drainage network, whatever size of the site and type of drainage system” 
[HR Wallingford http://www.uksuds.com/FAQRetrieve.aspx?ID=54989] 
 
HR Wallingford, are the UK’s leading specialist in Flood and Water Management, and contributing authors 
of  the  industry  adopted  standard  publication  ‘Ciria  C753  The  SUDS  Manual’,  which  is  the  national 
governments adopted standard for design and implementation of SUDS. 
 
The site area is 6.2Ha (as stated in the FRA Para 2.1) this includes large areas of POS and Trees. The large 

areas of POS and Trees have been excluded  from  the Greenfield Run‐off  calculations  as  they are not 

“within the area served by the drainage network”. 

The developed area used for calculating Greenfield Run‐off Rates is 4.42ha (see page 85 of the FRA). This 

includes “houses, gardens, roads, and other [small pieces of] open space”.  

Greenfield run off rates have been calculated  in the site specific Flood Risk Assessment  (para 2.4 and 
evidenced on pg85 of the FRA), and have been summarised in Table 1. 
 
Proposed post development discharge rates have been calculated and modelled using industry standard 
software and modelling methods. Final discharge rates are summarized in Table 1. 

Page 41



 

Storm Frequency  Pre‐development 
Greenfield  Run‐off 
Rate. (Litres/second) 

Proposed  post‐
development 
Discharge  Rate. 
(Litres/second) 

Difference  %  post 
development. 

1 in 1 year  24.8 L/s  24.1L/s  ‐2.8% 

Qbar (aprx 1in 2.3 Year)  28.6 L/s  25.8L/s  ‐9.8% 

1 in 30 year  48.4L/s  32.2L/s  ‐33.5% 

1 in 100 year  59.4L/s 36.1L/s ‐39.2% 

1  in  100  year  +  40% 
climate change 

  48.4L/s  ‐18.5%  (when  compared  to 

1in100 no climate change) 

Table 1. 
  
A 1  in 100 year storm is a severe rainfall event, that has the probability of occurring only once  in 100 

years. This can also be considered as having 1% probability of occurring in any year. 

Industry standard practice requires that the post development discharge rate for the 1 in 100 year + 40% 

climate change storm,  is equal to or  less than the predevelopment 1 in 100 year storm event without 

climate change, thus producing a betterment. 

As can be seen from the above Table1, a significant reduction in discharge rate for all events has been 

provided, thus providing a reduction in flow discharging to the River Goyt, and a betterment for Whaley 

Bridge. 

Given the above evidence, it can be shown that GWP’s comments of 4th Sept 2019 regarding incorrect 

calculation of “Greenfield Run‐off Rate” and increased flood risk are incorrect and can be discounted. 

The LLFA are an independent regulator within Derbyshire County Council. It is their role to comment on 

planning applications and drainage proposals. The LLFA are satisfied that Barratt have approached the 

Greenfield Run‐off Rate in the correct method. 

In reality, the above calculations are likely to be a conservative approach for the following reasons:  

1. Current  practice  uses  formulae  for  calculating  greenfield  runoff which  do  not  have  any  gradient 

terms in them. This results in lower greenfield flow rates than probably take place in practice in most 

circumstances.  For  the  developer  this  implies  unnecessary  cost,  while  for  the  Planners  and 

Environmental Regulator  it provides  a margin of  safety  for  controlling downstream  flooding.  [HR 

Wallingford UKSUDS.com] 

2. Since the pre‐development site is a steep site, the pre development greenfield run off rates could be 

greater than calculated, as mentioned above, implying the design is a conservative design. 

3. The design assumes a 100% impermeable area for all Roof, driveways, and highways. In reality only 

roofs and highways are positively drained. Driveways are positively drained only where the surface 

water  is  likely to cause run off  to properties. The majority of driveways are allowed to run off to 

adjacent landscaped areas. This assumption is known to be an over estimate as some run off will not 

reach the drainage systems and could infiltrate to ground or adjacent landscaped areas. 

4. An additional 10% increase in impermeable areas has been included into the modelling to allow for 

“Urban Creep”. That  is the increase  in drained areas caused by potential  future building of house 

extensions, driveway widening, and other increases in drained areas. 

Given the above, the LLFA and Barratt consider that the design is a robust one that has been designed in 

accordance  recognised  national  government  standards  for  new  developments  and  SUDS,  and  allows 

numerous factors of safety for any future increase in flows, as well as betterment for the River Goyt. 

Page 42



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 9th September 2019

Application 
No:

DOC/2017/0071

Location Land at Linglongs Road, Whaley Bridge 
Proposal Discharge of conditions relating to HPK/2017/0694 4, 5, 6, 7, 

8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 24, 26, 27 and 
28

Applicant Kevin Furey, Barratt Homes
Agent N/A
Parish/ward Whaley Bridge Date registered 21/07/2017
If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane Colley -
Email jane.colley@highpeak.gov.uk; Tel: 01298 28400 Ext: 4981

This application has been brought before the Development Control Committee as it 
is a locally contentious issue

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The site lies to the south west of Whaley Bridge on land which slopes in an 
easterly direction. The highest point on the land is along the western boundary and 
adjacent to Linglongs Road. To the east are a number of mature trees which screen 
the site from the industrial estate known as Botany Business Park.  The land is 
currently used for grazing and covers 6.3 hectares in area. To the north are 
residential properties along Macclesfield Road.  

2.2 A large number of trees, protected by a tree preservation order (TPO 262) 
dissect the site, and form an important landscaping screen, behind which properties 
and their rear gardens along Macclesfield Road form the backdrop to the site when 
viewed from the south. 

2.3 The Goyt Way - Midshires Way long distance recreational trail, footpath 
HP23/57/2, runs through the site in a north south direction, providing access from 
Taxal (Linglongs Road) to Macclesfield Road to the north and beyond onto Reddish 
Lane.  

Page 43

mailto:jane.colley@highpeak.gov.uk


3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1 Outline planning permission for up to 107 dwelling was granted under 
HPK/2017/0694 in October 2018. This application seeks to agree a number of 
planning conditions imposed on the outline planning consent.   

3.2 The initial application to agree planning conditions was submitted in July 2017 
and was made pursuant to outline planning permission HPK/2014/0119. 
However following the approval of a section 73 application, ref 
HPK/2017/0694 to vary a number of the outline planning conditions imposed 
on HPK/2014/0119, revised plans and details for all conditions were received 
on the 11th June 2019 and pursuant to the s73 application. 

3.3 Since this time and following the statutory consultation responses below, a 
number of revisions have been submitted and are discussed under the 
relevant conditions below. 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

DOC/2018/0110- Discharge of conditions 5, 6, 7, 9, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 21, 
29, 32 and 33 in relation to HPK/2017/0247 - Pending

HPK/2017/0694 – Variation of conditions 5, 24 and 31 of HPK/2014/0119 – 
Approved 3.10.18

HPK/2017/0247 – Reserved matters for 107 dwellings and associated works – 
Approved 3.8.19 

HPK/2014/0119 – Proposed outline planning application for up to 107 
dwellings including landscaping and public open space – Approved 7.5.17

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

Adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S3 Strategic Housing Development
S6 Central Sub Area Strategy 
EQ1 Climate Change
EQ2 Landscape Character
EQ5 Biodiversity
EQ6 Design and Place Making
EQ9 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
EQ10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land
EQ11 Flood Risk Management
CF6 Accessibility and Transport

Page 44



National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
Paragraphs 54, 55
National Planning Practice Guidance 

6. CONSULTATIONS

Site notice Expiry date for comments: N/A
Press notice Expiry date for comments: N/A
Neighbours Expiry date for comments: N/A

Neighbours/Local Interest Groups

6.1 The following objections, including photographs and a video have been 
received in respect of the revised plans submitted for the various conditions on the 
11th June 2019:

 The developer still intends using vortex limiters as the major run-off flow rate 
control, which ignores the impact of absorption of rainfall. The proposed 
vortex limiters will have return rates expressed in hours or days, the result 
will be a longer high run-off flow rate within a rainfall event. As there are no 
rainfall absorption with vortex limiters the total volume of discharge will be 
greater, which will increase downstream local catchment flooding and flood 
resilience will be decreased. Low flow rates during summer droughts will 
reduce dissolved oxygen, raise water temperatures and increase siltation, 
result in higher nutrient levels, increased weed growth and greater flash 
flood susceptibility. 

 The new trench drains will increase the run off markedly above that required 
to mimic the present situation, contrary to the NPPF.  

 The new trench drains encircle and cross the easterly section of the claimed 
undeveloped area. There are no details of the size, depth or section 
diagrams, this drainage system is total unregulated. The trench drains 
significantly increases the flood risk of downstream properties and the River 
Goyt flood zone 3 contrary to the NPPF. 

 The Linglongs Road outfall CCTV survey – why was there a 2 year delay in 
publishing this information? At no point is there any CCTV location given so 
this is about as useless as the lack of proper scanning used in the Gladman 
Geo-Physics survey of the area around the Linglongs outfall. Combining 
both sets of information with the gradient profile in the FRA it is clear that 
unless water has started to go up hill, or the Linglongs Road outfall chamber 
is surcharged the highest achievable point of the land gradient is the 
crossing soak away pipe going to the valley in the north west field. 

 The amended drainage plans still intend to discharge run-off well in excess 
of the present sloping greenfield site. 

 The Linglongs outfall drains the whole of the south west quadrant of Taxal 
Edge including the Linglongs Road housing, Taxal Edge up to the ridge and 
the knoll of the south west field.

 Barratt Homes assertion to the LLFA that it is impossible for ochre drainage 

Page 45



from a spring located to the south west and outside the site to drain in the 
south east field is incorrect. Photos show this drainage entering the south 
east field where is it reabsorbed in the manner of a greenfield site. 

 New trench drains will be required to sized with 40% extra capacity for 
climate change further increasing the drainage runoff rate. 

 The construction method statement is insufficient as no detail is shown on 
where the proposed pile locations area. Furthermore the document does not 
include the appendices, which should be included for ease of reading. 

 No details are provided for the proximity and fixing methods of the heras 
fencing to the Macclesfield Road properties. 

 A pre-condition survey of the drystone wall boundaries should be provided 
given that piling and potential vibration may damage walls. 

 The CMS document is riddled with typos.
 One of the finest oak trees will be removed.
 Macclesfield Road will be watching this development. 
 The structural integrity of the drystone wall will be compromised by the 

drainage groundworks.
 With the improved drainage and the reduction of the shallow soils moisture 

content, settlement will likely occur to the wall. The wall is reflective of the 
Derbyshire local character. 

 The note accompanying the drainage conditions is contradictory. The 
developer clearly has no knowledge of the quantity of water entering the site 
and where from and also is unaware of the route of water existing the 
chamber and its eventual outfall. Is water being discharged into the fields in 
the form of a soakaway and being regulated as it seeps down through the 
site. 

 There is an old stone covered chamber with multiple inlets for properties, 
behind number 130 Macclesfield Road. It should be noted that the largest 
inlet pipe to this chamber shows the typical orange of iron deposits indicating 
this particular inlet is for field drainage rather than the surface water runoff 
from other inlets. 

 The developer has made no effort to acknowledge or indicate the presence 
of drains that discharge surface water onto the site from properties on 
Macclesfield Road from 134 upwards and possibly lower properties.  

 United Utilities have made no mention of the trunk pipeline (from Errwood 
Reservoir). This pipeline has burst 9 times. An objector has seen the extent 
of the damage caused by the most recent “blow-out” hole that was made in 
the water meadow adjoining the river Goyt. It looked like a bomb crater and 
that livestock would have been killed or seriously injured. It is made of 
potentially dangerous fibre glass. It is worrying that Barratts propose to 
undertake significant ground work in close proximity to this pipeline.  

 A video has been submitted which shows the extreme run off and flood 
damage (Lanehead Road) directly above the development. Water inputs 
from higher land currently drain through the site and the downstream effects 
on the River Goyt and beyond are attenuated by the greenfeild 
characteristics of the site.  

 A consultant on behalf of Whaley Bridge Matters has submitted a document 
(19th July 2019). In summary the comments state the greenfield run-off rate 
for the total area as a maximum acceptable run-off flow rate from the small 

Page 46



developed area of the site, ignoring that run-off will continue to occur from 
the undeveloped area and permeable parts of the developed site. The total 
flows leaving the site will therefore exceed the pre-commencement situation. 
These erroneous and misleading calculations have not been updated, 
therefore will result in an increase in downstream flood risk. Rainfall onto 
undeveloped areas will have a greater time of concentration that the piped 
drainage network, the provision of a system of land drains in these areas will 
most likely increase the ease of ground drainage and result in a reduction in 
time it takes for these areas to discharge and increase in both peak flows 
and total flow rates. Therefore the applicant should amend the calculation of 
greenfield run off rates or amend the storm water drainage calculations and 
explain how the land drains will be designed. The proposed method of 
conveying flows from springs, overland flow and groundwater via land drains 
discharging into the eastern ditch will limit the existing opportunity for run off 
re-infiltration and evaporation thus increasing the peal flow rates and total 
volumes discharging to the drainage ditch. The applicant should provide a 
quantitative assessment of the impacts of the proposed development. The 
applicant has not assessed either qualitatively nor quantitatively the existing 
run off flow quantities from adjoining properties and thus not considered 
whether the potential changes will cause on this drain and flows could 
increase the risk of flooding upstream or downstream. The applicant should 
determine the flow rates entering the upstream flow transfer drain, the 
condition of the existing transfer drain and it conveyance capacity. The 
CCTV survey is less than one third of the pipe length and therefore is 
insufficient to prove the existence of a culvert, the pipeline dimensions, 
conditions and restrictions. Therefore the applicant has failed to demonstrate 
the length of a culvert system extending the full length of the site and 
therefore does not know whether the proposed changes to the culvert will 
reduce conveyance and increase upstream flood risk or increase 
conveyance and increase downstream flood risk. The increased amount of 
surface water run-off from various sources being discharge from the site into 
the drainage ditch downstream of the site in close proximity to the River Goyt 
and how this may result in an increased risk of flooding immediately 
downstream where river flooding is expected to occur. In conclusion the 
response provided by the applicant does not address the original concerns 
raised by GWP in our letter of February 2018.     

 A consultant on behalf of Whaley Bridge Matters has submitted a document 
(25.7.19) referring to the drainage calculations April 2019, Drainage Layout 
and the response from the LLFA. The LLFA response has not taken into 
account our latest technical review. In summary permeable areas of the site 
will most likely generate runoff during extreme rainfall events. The applicant 
and LLFA state that overland flows from permeable area will drain at a 
slower rate and will therefore have no impact to the performance of the 
drainage scheme. This can only be proven by a qualitative assessment of 
the hydrological response. Therefore the application should either amend the 
calculation for greenfield run off rate or amend the storm water drainage 
calculations. In respect of the CCTV results, the surveyed length is clearly 
insufficient. To prove the existence of a culvert extending the full length of 
the site, therefore has not evaluated whether any proposed changes will 
increase floor risk upstream.  With respect to existing springs, overland flow 

Page 47



and groundwater flow, the applicant argues that Land Drains will be installed. 
No information has been provided about the dimension of these land drains, 
which will control flow velocity and conveyance capacity and thus determine 
the extent of the increase in flood risk.  We disagree with the LLFA that the 
developer is taking all reasonable steps to ensure that the surface water 
runoff and other flows which run through the site are appropriately managed. 
Quantitative assessment should be undertaken to ensure that there is no 
increase in flood risk upstream and/or downstream.  

In response to the original plans and details submitted in July 2017, the following 
responses, including photographs of the site have been received, although it is noted 
that the original plans have now been superseded by the plans and details received 
in June 2019: 

 A soakaway or swale has a better performance in mimicking greenfield run off 
rates than by a vortex flow control. It is clear that insufficient consideration has 
been given to investigate and mimic the existing situation to protect 
downstream communities from increased flooding. There is also a chemical 
factory who has expressed concern about flooding impact.  

 The UU outfall presently drains the north west and north east fields making it 
a designed flood alleviation system. 

 The proposed drainage is contrary to the NPPF.
 The proposed drainage does not address flows, including surface water, from 

outside of the site e.g. Linglongs Avenue. 
 The existing fields are a soakaway, any increase in flow rate will result in the 

River Goyt flooding.
 Transferring overland flow to a direct discharge could have a direct influence 

on the quality of the River Goyt and further pollution. 
 There are not details about where large construction equipment is to be safety 

delivered and off loaded from articulated vehicles. 
 The dedicated parking provision for Macclesfield residents does not 

accurately represent those lost in producing the development and is 
inadequate. 

 The offices, site car park and brick delivery area should be located away from 
the south of the site and existing properties. This will minimise long term 
disruption.

 The plans and details are out of date, inaccurate and conflict with one 
another. 

 The discharge of conditions could be seen as a predetermined approval.
 An eighteen foot retaining wall will create building platforms which would have 

a negative impact on the community, creating an unsafe environment for 
children, extreme loss of privacy for new and existing residents and 
shadowing of gardens and properties.

 Putting fences and walls right next residents own walls and hedges will 
prevent maintenance. 

 The conditions should not be discharged until full approval of reserved 
matters application HPK/2017/0247 has been granted.  

 The applicant is systematically underestimating likely run off. 
 The current routing of upstream inflows are not shown on the layout plan, the 

Page 48



FRA cannot be trusted. 
 Vortec flow limiters have little impact to no impact on the initial flash surge as 

they pass through and limiting flow rate. 
 The red edge on the development plan framework does not match the red 

edge on the location plan. The development framework plan is mis-scaled. 
 The overland flow from the natural spring into the south east field is heavily 

contaminated with ochre mining drainage.
 The revised development framework plan substantially alters the proposed 

development from that which has been approved under HPK/2014/0119 and 
goes beyond minor material amendments. 

 The section 73 application is not appropriate or valid.
 What is the status of HPK/2017/0247. If HPK/2017/0694 is passed would a 

fresh reserved matters application be made? 
 Given the outcome of the LGO we reserve our rights to contact them. 
 Routing upstream inflows through a culvert will not allow for infiltration and 

evapotranspiration occurring, leading to increased risk of flooding 
downstream. 

 A concrete pipe will transmit flow more quickly than overland flow, resulting 
upstream flows arriving downstream and flood risk to the east of the site. 

 The proposed culvert and existing downstream drainage ditch has not been 
assessed for flow capacity.

 Oversized pipes are proposed, however other SUDS techniques have not 
been explored.

 Drainage calculations are inconsistent.
 Climate change rainfall allowances have not been appropriately applied to all 

rainfall scenarios. 
 Implications of altering the path of a public sewer network pipeline have not 

been considered, assessed or mitigated in the FRA. This could increase the 
risk of flooding downstream. 

 Flows arising from at least one of the springs to the eastern drainage ditch will 
impact on the how the spring flows are conveyed across the site.

 The soakaway tests have not been repeated and are insufficient for the site.
 Groundwater flooding will be a problem in the area of identified springs, where 

property foundations will interfere with shallow water egress, potentially 
damaging new properties and altering spring flows and locations. 

 Fluvial flood risk to the receiving water has not been assessed. 
 The storm water drainage scheme neglects to include run off from the 

retained greenfield areas which will exceed current pre-development run off 
rate.  

 The volume of surface water run off will increase as a result of the 
development. 

 The responses provided by Derbyshire County Council are inadequate, and 
flawed. 

 The comment from Barratt’s drainage advisers gives no assurance regarding 
flooding downstream and ignores previous surveys. 

 Following the Judicial Review proceedings how will the details of the drainage 
solutions be provided and how will the Council disclose statutory consultee 
comments and your report, prior to making any decisions.

 There is a legitimate expectation that details for groundwater flows, surface 

Page 49



water runoff from adjoining properties, rainfall onto non developed parts of the 
site and the Linglongs Road estate outfall will be submitted. 

 HPBC has confirmed that you are not in any way fettered by the approval of 
the drainage and engineering layout under the reserved matters decision.

 Anything less than full disclosure of all documentation and schemes received 
from the applicant, statutory consultee comments, and your own 
recommendation would leave HPBC at increased risk of future legal 
challenge. 

 New land drains will accelerate drainage through the site.
 The applicant’s drainage plans involve capturing and discharging off site to 

the River Goyt and existing and new inflows to the site. DCC seem to accept 
that the total offsite discharge volume will inevitably increase.

 The NPPF requires that development will not increase downstream flood risk. 
 DCC confirm that they do not hold data relating to modelling on specific 

ordinary watercourse or main rivers. However on contacting the EA they state 
that flash flooding is now a matter for the Local Authority and Lead Local 
Flood Authority. This issue has not been assessed by either the EA or DCC.

 There is still a significant risk of flooding to Botany Bay immediately 
downstream of the proposed development. From the various water inputs to 
the site, the proposals would increase the overall peak rate and volume 
discharge and render the discharge immediate rather than delayed, therefore 
increasing downstream flood risk, contrary to the NPPF. The current situation 
would not be mimicked as the EA intended in its submission at outline stage. 

 A report of a significant historic flooding event which occurred immediately 
downstream of the development emphasises the centrality of downstream 
flood risk. The current layout and engineering proposals increase downstream 
flood risk, by reason of the diversion of land drains and subsequent direct and 
uncontrolled discharge of various inputs to the sloping site. 

Consultees

Consultee Comment Officer 
respo
nse 

DCC 
Highways

27.08.2019: 

Condition 23
Travel Plan 

Travel awareness
7.4 The travel welcome pack should include (but not be 
limited to) the following:
Public transport
•           www.derbysbus.info/ for timetable and route maps 
for bus services throughout Derbyshire. 
•           www.nationalrail.co.uk for all rail services.

Journey Planning
•           www.travelineastmidlands.co.uk for all mode 

7.8, 
7.10, 
7.43-
7.50

Page 50

http://www.derbysbus.info/
http://www.nationalrail.co.uk/
http://www.travelineastmidlands.co.uk/


journey planning.

Cycle information
•           

www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/access/c
ycling/default.asp for cycling information throughout 
Derbyshire, including the Cycle Derbyshire map.

Other useful cycle related websites:
•           www.sustrans.org for details of the National Cycle 
Network.
•           www.lovetoride.net for cycling rewards and 
incentives.
•           http://bikeweek.org.uk/ for details of the national 
cycling focus week.

Walking
•           

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/ac
cess/walking/default.asp for walking information 
throughout Derbyshire.

Car Share
•           https://liftshare.com/uk/community/derbyshire for 

details of the free of charge journey matching service 
throughout Derbyshire.

Public Transport measures
7.10 The developer is encouraged to negotiate with local 
bus operators to offer ‘taster tickets’ or similar discounts for 
public transport use. The operator of most services in 
Whaley Bridge is High Peak Buses. Contact: High Peak 
Buses. Keith Myatt, Head of Business Development. 
keith.myatt@centrebus.co.uk. 07720 088 675.

Taster tickets should be available to all households as part 
of the travel welcome pack, and should be valid for a 
minimum of one week’s commuter journeys on the selected 
operator’s services.

Car sharing scheme
7.11 Noted. Consideration should also be given to the 
establishment of an informal site based car share scheme, 
with journey matches facilitated by the Travel Plan 
Coordinator.

Marketing summary
7.13 Noted.
Consideration should be given to the establishment of:
•           A site based website, detailing all travel options for 

Page 51

http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/access/cycling/default.asp
http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/access/cycling/default.asp
http://www.sustrans.org/
http://www.lovetoride.net/
http://bikeweek.org.uk/
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/access/walking/default.asp
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/access/walking/default.asp
https://liftshare.com/uk/community/derbyshire
mailto:keith.myatt@centrebus.co.uk


all existing and potential residents.
•           A social media presence, e.g. Facebook page or 
twitter account, to facilitate prompt communication between 
the Travel Plan coordinator and residents.

Additional comments:
(i)         Travel Plan coordinator duties
The duties of the Travel Plan coordinator should include the 
provision of personalised travel planning for all new 
households upon occupation.
(ii)        Residents group
Dependent upon interest and demand, consideration 
should be given to the establishment of any or all of: (i) a 
residents group, (ii) a walking group, (iii) a BUG (bicycle 
user group) or (iv) a dedicated travel plan group. It is to this 
group (whichever is established or most pro-active) that 
responsibility for the Travel Plan should be passed beyond 
the initial monitoring period.
(iii)       Travel Plan status
The Travel Plan is a working document, and should not be 
seen as exhaustive. It will be subject to change in the light 
of progression and completion of the development, results 
of actions undertaken, and responsive to results of future 
travel surveys.
(iv)       Travel Plan Monitoring            
Derbyshire County Council is now able to offer an online 
toolkit known as STARSFor, https://starsfor.org/ for the 
purposes of Travel Plan monitoring. This is available for a 
fee payable to Derbyshire County Council, and enables the 
user to input monitoring data and track modal shift. This 
replaces any other travel plan monitoring fee that may be 
charged. Should this be of interest, please contact the 
Derbyshire County Council Sustainable Travel Team: 
sustainable.travel@derbyshire.gov.uk . Other means of 
monitoring travel plans exist. There is no obligation to use 
STARSFor.

Resident’s Travel Pack

P4. 
Replace ‘facilities within walking distance’ map with that 
attached (or equivalent), with suitable annotations and 
labels.

P5.
Replace link to Derbyshire Cycle map with: 
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-
elements/documents/pdf/leisure/countryside/access/cycling
/cycle-derbyshire-map.pdf 

Page 52

https://starsfor.org/
mailto:sustainable.travel@derbyshire.gov.uk
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/pdf/leisure/countryside/access/cycling/cycle-derbyshire-map.pdf
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/pdf/leisure/countryside/access/cycling/cycle-derbyshire-map.pdf
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/pdf/leisure/countryside/access/cycling/cycle-derbyshire-map.pdf


P6. To Adults:
Add:
All adults who live and work in Derbyshire are entitled to 
take advantage of County Rider, with up to eight hours of 
free bespoke cycle training. See: 
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/road-
safety/bicycles/county-rider/county-rider.aspx 
Chinley Churners Cycling Club. Replace link with: 
https://www.facebook.com/groups/cccclub/

P10 Concessionary travel. 
Replace link with: https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-
roads/public-transport/fares-tickets-passes/concessionary-
fares/bus-passes-concessionary-fares-schemes.aspx

The documents should be revised to incorporate the above 
comments, before the condition may be discharged.

09.08.2019:

Condition 8: 

The information within the document, relating to items (e), 
(f) and (g), is considered acceptable in principle from a 
highway perspective (although it is noted that in item (e) 
there is reference made to earthworks and construction 
activities taking place on site in Autumn 2017). 

This would therefore be sufficient to discharge parts of 
condition 8, specifically (e), (f) & (g), however, it should be 
noted that item (e) does require the approved dust 
suppression measures to be maintained in a fully functional 
condition for the duration of the construction phase, to fully 
comply with the requirements of the condition.   

07.08.2019:

Condition 7: 

Drawing Nos 466-ED-CMS01 Plans 1 , 2 & 3 demonstrate 
that acceptable on site arrangements can be provided to 
satisfy the requirements of the condition in part. However, 
the condition also requires the arrangements to be laid out 
and maintained for the duration of the construction period 
for the condition to be fully discharged.

However, as previously highlighted the access to serve the 
initial S278 works, off Linglongs Road takes access from 
land which is outside of the application site boundary and 

Page 53

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/road-safety/bicycles/county-rider/county-rider.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/road-safety/bicycles/county-rider/county-rider.aspx
https://www.facebook.com/groups/cccclub/
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/public-transport/fares-tickets-passes/concessionary-fares/bus-passes-concessionary-fares-schemes.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/public-transport/fares-tickets-passes/concessionary-fares/bus-passes-concessionary-fares-schemes.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/public-transport/fares-tickets-passes/concessionary-fares/bus-passes-concessionary-fares-schemes.aspx


presumably does not benefit from any separate planning 
consent (unless this may be deemed to be permitted 
development given Linglongs road is a non-classified 
route). Provided your Authority is satisfied with this 
arrangement it is unlikely the Highway Authority would be in 
a position raise objections in principle.  

Condition 8: 
It would appear the condition, in this form, was not 
recommended by the Highway Authority, in its consultation 
response, however, it is noted that items (e) and (f) are 
considered to be highway related. Unfortunately I have not 
managed to find any information submitted specifically 
relating to these items. Please ask the applicant to provide 
further information / clarification before the condition is 
discharged.

Condition 22: 
Details on drawing number VD17501-100-01 Rev J show a 
staggered barrier arrangement where the existing public 
right of way connects to Macclesfield Road. In addition the 
general arrangement drawing demonstrates the provision of 
a connected, shared pedestrian / cycle network within the 
development itself linking to Linglongs Road and the Public 
Right of Way running through the site. The proposals 
shown are acceptable in principle and may therefore be 
considered satisfactory to discharge the condition in part, 
however, the condition does require the arrangements to be 
laid out and implemented.

Condition 23: 
I have forwarded the Travel Plan information to our 
Sustainable Travel team for information and comment. At 
present I have not received any feedback regarding the 
submitted information. I will contact them to see when any 
update / comments may be available and get back to you.

Condition 24: 
It is noted drawing number 466-P-MP01 Rev D has been 
submitted in support of the discharge of this condition. This 
does show 11 No parking spaces to the rear of 76-84 
Macclesfield Road being under the control of the ‘site wide 
management’. The principle of the spaces is generally 
acceptable, however, there does not appear to be any 
supporting information in relation to their allocation or 
finished surface details (as specifically required by the 
condition). This should be provided before the condition 
may be discharged. 

In addition, given the phasing arrangements now proposed, 

Page 54



it is unlikely the road network in this area would be 
constructed for some time. This may cause an issue with 
the availability of the parking spaces, in order to comply 
with the requirements of the condition i.e. the spaces need 
to be made available for use prior to the occupation of the 
development in any phase. The applicant may wish to 
modify the wording of this condition if it proves this would 
be considered to be too restrictive in terms of their current 
program.

Tree Officer Condition 26:  The information submitted is sufficient to 
discharge the condition. 

7.50-
7.51

Environmen
tal Health 
Officer 

23.08.2019: The CMS may be accepted. 

20.08.2019:

Condition 6 - The noise mitigation scheme submitted in 
support of the application may be accepted

• Wardell Armstrong, Detailed Noise Assessment 
Report (ref: LE13843 v0.2 FINAL), dated July 
2017

 
The mitigation works identified within the report shall be 
undertaken in full.

03.07.19: 

Condition 6 – Noise mitigation scheme
The submitted scheme is a DRAFT document for comment 
and a final document approved by a senior consultant is 
required to discharge the condition.

 Wardell Armstrong, Detailed Noise Assessment 
Report (ref: LE13843), dated May 2017

The report is a couple of years out of date, this should not 
cause too many issues however it will be assessed in light 
of appropriate standards at the time it was submitted (May 
2019). The following issues need to be addressed.

3.1          External Living Space
Where predicted noise levels exceed 50dB in external living 
areas mitigation shall be proposed to reduce this to below 
50dB. In some exceptional circumstances it may not be 
possible to reduce nose to below the target value, in such 
case it may be necessary to revisit the site layout to 
achieve desired criteria through good acoustic design (as 
defined within ProPG, May 2017). Where it is still not 
possible to meet the first target criteria, the developer shall 
ensure that noise levels are kept as low as practical 
through good acoustic design. 

7.6 – 
7.8, 
7.10, 
7.30-
7.32

Page 55



The final report shall include a noise contour map clearly 
indicating all plots with external living space >50dB. For 
outdoor living space where the noise contour exceeds 50dB 
the maximum predicted noise level shall be illustrated for 
theses plots.

3.2          Internal living Space
The final report shall include

 Noise contour map clearly illustrating predicted noise 
levels at all plots.

 Where façade values indicate that BS8233 criteria 
are predicted to be exceeded with windows open the 
report shall demonstrate that good acoustic design 
principles (ProPG) are employed to reduce noise to 
a reasonable minimum. Where noise criteria values 
can only be achieved with windows closed these 
properties shall be clearly identified and a 
justification for this included in a statement of good 
acoustic design. In such cases the developer shall 
consider thermal comfort of occupants to ensure 
there is adequate summer time ventilation, any noise 
created by mechanical ventilation shall be assessed.

Condition 8 – Construction Method Statement
The submitted CMS should not be accepted at this time:

 Barratt Homes, Construction Method Statement, 
dated July 2017

Note – this CMS has been approved under Condition 10 of 
HPK/2014/0119, comments are made on the understanding 
that Planning Officers will put them into the correct context.

From an Environmental Health point of view the CMS may 
not be accepted; other services/organisations may wish to 
make their own representations in this matter.

(a) The method and duration of any pile driving 
operations (expected starting date and completion 
date);

The piling statement shall demonstrate that an appropriate 
piling method has been chosen consistent with “best 
available technique” to reduce noise and vibration nuisance 
at neighbouring properties. The statement shall include 
details of any monitoring to take place, and any trigger 
values and subsequent actions

Condition 14 – Land Contamination
I refer you to my email dated 5th April 2018, with regard to 
HPK/2014/0119.

Page 56



The Coal 
Authority

Condition 27: 
Within the context of TCA’s response to you dated 12th 
September 2017 and on the basis that the same report has 
been submitted TCA would have no objections to the LPA 
discharging condition 27. 

7.52-
7.52

United 
Utilities

28.8.2019:

Further to our review of the submitted drainage engineering 
layout (ref 466/ED/02 Rev S dated 30.4.2019) United 
Utilities has no objection to conditions 11 and 12 being 
discharged. We recommend the Lead Local Flood Authority 
along with any other statutory consultee, are also consulted 
on the proposal.

1.7.2019: 

Further to our review of the submitted Drainage engineering 
layout (ref 466/ED/02 Rev R dated 10.04.2019), United 
Utilities has no objection to the conditions 11 and 12 being 
discharged. We recommend the Lead Local Flood Authority 
along with any other statutory consultee, are also consulted 
on the proposal. 

7.23-
7.24

Derbyshire 
Wildlife 
Trust

30.08.2019:
Further to our response on the 9th June 2019 we have 
reviewed the bat and bird box plan that accompanies 
conditions 17 and 18 and we can see that this has been 
updated and they now reflect the same specifications and 
locations. We are now satisfied with the information provided. 
9.6.2019:
There are six conditions that relate to ecology and these are 
set out below. 
Condition 16-Biodiversity Management Plan
We previously provided comments on the LEMP (V7 
dated June 2018) on 29th  August 2018 within
which we stated that we were satisfied with the details set 
out within this document. We advised that that Conditions 
18 and 19 could be discharged. The condition reference 
has now changed to 16. It is considered that this condition 
can be discharged.

Condition 17-Incorporation of features for nesting birds 
and roosting bats
We have reviewed the plan produced by TEP 
(D6270.02.002L dated 24.04.2017) that provides details of 
the locations of proposed bird and bat boxes. This plan 
reflects the suggestions previously made by Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust with the exception of the swift boxes. We 

7.33- 
7.42

Page 57



have reviewed the proposed location of the swift boxes 
and we are satisfied that they are located where there is 
a clear enough flight path. This condition can be discharged.
Condition 18-Assessment of tree for roosting bats
We have reviewed the Bat Mitigation Strategy for trees 
produced by TEP (ref: 6270.01.001, January 2018). We 
are satisfied with the measures detailed within this 
document and can advise that this condition can be 
discharged. The only amendment that is required is for 
the bat box location plan to be updated so that it 
matches with the plan provided for condition 17. The 
recommendations made within this document for pre-
commencement surveys and mitigation should be 
implemented in full.
Condition 19-Assessment of badger sett and strategy
We have reviewed the Badger Licensing Strategy 
(5104.02.01 June 2019) produced by TEP and it is 
considered that it addresses all our previous concerns and 
comments. It is considered that this condition can be 
discharged.
Condition 20-Vegetation clearance and nesting birds
No information has been provided with respect to this 
planning condition. 
Condition 21-Japanese Knotweed Strategy
A Japanese knotweed strategy has been produced by 
Japanese Knotweed Solutions dated 17th March 2017. 
We are satisfied with the details within this strategy and 
can advise that this condition can be discharged.

Local Lead 
Flood 
Authority 
(LLFA)

29.08.2019:
In the case of this application, the greenfield runoff rate was 
calculated using the developable area. This rate was 
modelled in MicroDrainage, and the model accounted for 
an additional 10% increase in flows into the system in the 
storm design criteria (which is on top of the 40% climate 
change allowance and 10% allowance for urban creep) and 
assumed a 100% runoff from all impermeable surfaces (in 
reality this is very unlikely). The permeable areas of the 
proposed development will not drain as they do now due to 
landscaping etc, and runoff routes for any surface water 
generated will also be impeded by verges, fencing, walls 
and gardens etc. This will reduce the time of entry into the 
drainage system into which an additional 10% inflow has 
been accounted for. During higher order rainfall  (greater 
than 30 year) events the modelling is showing a reduction 
in the discharge rate from the greenfield rates proposed. 

The LLFA are satisfied that the applicant has approached 

7.12-
7.23, 
7.25-
7.29

Page 58



the greenfield discharge rate in a reasonable manner and 
the model has been tested sufficiently.

The applicant has camera surveyed a culvert into which the 
surface water outfall from Linglongs road discharges into. 
The survey was not able to reach the headwall in the 
watercourse to the east, but the applicant dye tested to 
confirm that it does outfall into the watercourse to the east. 
It is reasonable to expect the continuation of the culverted 
watercourse through the site, in particular as there is a 
United Utilities adopted outfall into the culvert. Under the 
Land drainage Act the riparian landowner would be 
expected to maintain the free passage of flow of the 
watercourse, therefore any restrictions or collapses should 
be dealt with regardless of planning consent, and this also 
applies to any unadopted drains currently within the site.
The use of land drains within the site, is to manage the flow 
of springs and re-emergence of throughflow, to reduce the 
flood risk to the proposed properties. The throughflow 
generated due to rainfall landing on the permeable areas of 
the site will be reduced, given that a large proportion of the 
site will be positively drained, by the proposed surface 
water drainage system, and therefore the volume discharge 
will likely be less than the current situation.  

I can confirm that Land Drainage Consent (under section 
23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991) will be required for the 
diversion of the culverted watercourse.

12.07.2019:

Condition 9:  
If the surface water management plan system is installed 
as per drawing number 466/ED/02S and phased as per 
drawing 466/ED/47A, surface water generated by rainfall 
over the developed area will be manage appropriately. The 
design has been robustly tested through modelling 
(Drainage calculations 2019) and it has been demonstrated 
that run off rates can be reduced from greenfield rates in 
higher order events.

Condition 10: 
Surface water resulting from rainfall onto the positively 
drained areas of the site will be managed as per the 
drainage design, rainfall that lands on permeable areas of 
the site (public open space, verges etc._ will infiltrate in a 
similar fashion to as it does now. Permeable areas will be 
reduced due to the development therefore overland flows 
from these areas will be reduced as the majority of rainfall 
will be captured, stored and released at greenfield rate by 

Page 59



the surface water drainage system. Any rainfall that does 
not infiltrate and reaches the surface water system via 
overland flow (in exceedance conditions) will do so at a 
slower rate that the positively drained impermeable area, 
and will therefore not impact on its performance as 
designed. 

The existing United Utilities surface water outfall into a 
watercourse culverted through the site will be maintained 
and the culverted watercourse will have its passage of flow 
maintained through the site. A CCTV survey and dye 
testing identified the culverted watercourse continues 
through the site and any additional land drainage flows will 
be maintained if encountered. 

Existing springs will be managed through the site utilising 
land drains, these will be separate from the surface water 
management system and so will not impact on its 
performance.

Throughflow and ground water flows (resulting from rainfall 
onto the site) will reduce as the impermeable area will 
increase and so less rainfall will enter soils, this will reduce 
groundwater recharge. Land drains are the traditional way 
of draining poorly drained areas, for example to increase 
land availability for agriculture and are the most appropriate 
method of managing throughflow in this instance. 

Condition 11:
The sustainable drainage system as proposed will be 
offered for adoption and maintained thereafter by United 
Utilities. The applicant has confirmed how the un-adopted 
elements of the site drainage will be maintained and 
managed. 

Condition 13: 
Whilst worded differently, the condition (to ensure 
management of existing flows into the site) is dealt with in 
the information provided for condition 10. 

The concerns of Whaley Bridge Matters (WMB) have been 
addressed by the developer as per their email dated 
11.6.2019. 

The Environment agency Flood Risk Maps (Flood zones 2 
and 3 maps) indicate that there are areas of land at risk of 
flooding to the east of the development, The applicant is not 
proposing any development within these flood risk area and 
therefor the proposed development will not increase the 
existing fluvial flood risk. 

Page 60



The Environment Agency Surface Water Flood Risk Maps 
(Risk of flooding from Surface Water Maps) indicate that 
there are areas of land within the developers site, which are 
at risk of flooding (1/30 and1/110yr). The developer is 
altering the drainage characteristics of the greenfield site 
(by nature of their development proposals ), but are taking 
all reasonable measures to ensure that the surface water 
run-off and other flows which run-through the site are 
appropriately manages to not only ensure proposed 
properties are safe from flooding , but to also ensure that 
flood risk isn’t increased downstream. 

From Environment Agency Flood Risk Maps (pluvial and 
fluvial) there is a current downstream risk of flooding from 
the River Goyt and rainfall events. The applicant is not 
proposing development in the areas at risk and therefor the 
proposed development will not be at an increased risk and 
the risk of flooding will remain the same downstream. The 
developer is altering the drainage characteristics of the 
greenfield site by the nature of their proposals (increasing 
impermeable surfaces) but they are taking all reasonable 
measures to ensure that the appropriate management of 
surface water and other flows through the site.

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND PLANNING BALANCE

7.1 The purpose of the imposition of planning conditions is to ensure that 
development can proceed where it would otherwise have been necessary to refuse 
planning permission, by mitigating the adverse effects. The objectives of planning 
are best served when the power to attach conditions to a planning permission is 
exercised in a way that it clearly seen to be fair, reasonable and practicable. 

7.2 The applicant has sought to agree the conditions listed below by providing the 
requirements for each condition. The information has been reviewed by various 
statutory consultees and their comments are reported above. 

7.3  Condition 4 states: 

Prior to commencement of development a scheme outlining the phasing of 
development, including a site layout plan identifying land uses such as formal and 
informal open space and infrastructure, in general accordance with the details set 
out on the Development Framework Plan drawing no. 466/P/DF/01 Rev C, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. In particular the 
layout shall provide for the retention of the existing trees on the site where this is 
justified. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
phasing scheme.
Reason: 

Page 61



7.4 The submitted plans show that the site will be developed over a number of 
phases. Weeks 1-2 will involve access to the site via the Midshires Way to install 
tree protection measures. Weeks 3-18 will involve the creation of the access road 
and regrading works from Linglongs road into the site. Thereafter the site will be 
developed as follows: 

Phase 1 – Roads and sewers (weeks 19-34)
Phase 2 – Road and sewers, including residents parking (weeks 35 – 48)
Phase 3 – Roads and sewers (weeks 60-80)
Phase 4 - Roads and sewers (weeks 80-100)

7.5 The site is broadly split into the three zones, the north west, northeast and 
south east. The houses will be constructed in 12 stages, with the first four phases 
being Plots 1-29 in the north west segment of the site, with the exception of plots 18-
27 due to the presence of the construction compound.  Thereafter phases 5 - 10 
(plots 71 – 107) in the south eastern segment of the site will be constructed and 
finally plot numbers 37 – 70 to the north east of the site will be constructed. The 
plans also identify the location of trees to be retained and the location of the public 
open space. The details submitted explain the phases of development throughout 
the site and are therefore considered to be acceptable.    

7.6 Condition 6 states: 

No development shall take place until a mitigation scheme for protecting the 
proposed dwellings from traffic noise has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling which forms part of the scheme shall be 
occupied until the approved works to that dwelling have been completed.
Reason: 

7.7 A final (rather than draft) detailed noise assessment has been submitted 
(Wardell Armstrong July 2019), which provides an assessment of the potential 
impacts on existing sources noise and the impact on the proposed residential 
dwellings and their garden areas. The majority of gardens will experience acceptable 
noise levels with the exception of plots 1-4, 23, 24, 28 and 29 whereby 1.8m close 
boarded fences will be used to screen garden areas from noise. With respect to 
noise sensitive rooms (bedrooms, living rooms, dining areas) the use of appropriate 
glazing and ventilation will ensure that within these rooms acceptable noise levels 
are achieved. The Councils Environmental Health officer has reviewed the submitted 
assessment, concluding that the report is acceptable. It is considered that subject to 
compliance with the information provided, the dwellings and their associated garden 
areas will not suffer from adverse noise levels.    

7.8 Condition 7 states:

Before any operations are commenced (excluding site clearance), space shall be 
provided within the site curtilage for storage of plant and materials, site 
accommodation, loading and unloading of goods vehicles, parking and manoeuvring 
of site operatives' and visitors' vehicles, laid out and constructed in accordance with 
detailed designs to be submitted in advance to the local planning authority for written 

Page 62



approval and maintained throughout the construction period in accordance with the 
approved designs free from any impediment to its designated use.

7.9 During the construction of the access point onto Linglongs Road, a temporary 
compound area will be set up immediately to the south of the access point. The site 
offices will be positioned in the location of plots 18 and 19 towards the northern 
boundary of the site. The car parking areas and materials store will be located along 
the northern boundary behind the garden areas of numbers 130 – 136 Macclesfield 
Road. Within the site office area, double height portacabins and other associated 
welfare facilities will be provided. The location of these facilities is considered to be 
acceptable. It is noted that a new access will be created on Linglongs Road to 
provide access to the compound area which is required in connection with the S278 
works and the creation of the new access serving the development. This would be 
permitted development. It is noted that the Highway Authority, as a statutory 
consultee raises no objection to the details.    

7.10 Condition 8 states:

No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. All construction 
work shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved Construction Method 
Statement, which shall
include the following details:
(a) The method and duration of any pile driving operations (expected starting date 
and completion date);
(b) The hours of work, which shall not exceed the following:
- Construction and associated deliveries to the site shall not take place outside 08:00 
to 19:00 hours Mondays to Fridays, and 08:00 to 16:00 hours on Saturdays, nor at 
any time on Sundays or Bank Holiday;
- Pile driving shall not take place outside 09:00 to 16:00 hours Mondays to Fridays 
and at no time on Saturdays, nor at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays;
(c) The arrangements for prior notification to the occupiers of potentially affected 
properties;
(d) The responsible person (e.g. site manager / office) who could be contacted in the 
event of complaint;
(e) A scheme to minimise dust emissions arising from construction activities on the 
site. The scheme shall include details of all dust suppression measures and the 
methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from the development. The approved 
dust suppression measures shall be maintained in a fully functional condition for the 
duration of the construction phase;
(f) Details of wheel washing facilities;
(g) Erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
(h) A scheme for recycling/disposal of waste resulting from construction works;
(i) Details of protection measures to boundaries and features of ecological value.

7.11 Taking each of the above criteria in turn, it is proposed to: 

a. A number of plots are to be founded on pile and beam foundations. It is estimated 
that 50% of the plots will be piled. The developer advises they are unable to identify 

Page 63



precisely the date on which plots will be piled, but it is estimated that a total of 27 
days will be needed. During the piling operations, vibration monitoring will be 
undertaken in accordance with British Standard 5228-2:2009: Code of practice for 
noise and vibration control on construction and open sites: Part 2: Vibration. 
Vibration measurements will be taken at positions considered to be representative of 
the properties closest to the piling operations. The results of these measurements 
will be used to quantify and correlate the levels of vibration at the neighbouring 
premises with a log of operations on the construction site. 

b. This part of condition 8 requires compliance with times for piling. 

c. The applicant states that letters will be sent to inform local residents of the 
following: 

Commencement of site entrance works off Linglongs Road
Commencement of the site clearance and re-grade works
Commencement of the on site road and sewer construction
Commencement of housing construction including notification of Barratt site 
managers details)
Commencement of piling operations.  

d. The applicant advises at the current time they are yet to appoint the contractor to 
undertake the site access works, re-grade works and initial on-site road works. 
Therefore contact details, including telephone numbers (both during and outside 
office hours) and an email address have been provided. Once the site compound is 
established and prior to bricklaying activities, a Barratt site manager will be full time 
on site and their details are to be circulated by letter to local residents. 

e. Dust management is weather dependent, during dry spells, increased water 
spraying will be employed. Other dust reduction measures include, speed limits of 
10mph during construction activities, roads to be swept, loads to be covered to 
prevent the transmission of dust, equipment for the grinding, swing and cutting of 
materials to be fitted with a water spray system and regular monitoring of the site on 
a daily basis.  

f. Due to the gradient of the land, it is not possible to install a propriety wheel wash 
on the site. Instead, a road sweeper will be employed full time to operate both on 
and off the site.  

g. Heras fencing secured to wooden posts concreted into the ground will be installed 
at all open boundaries including along the rear garden boundaries of neighbouring 
properties in Macclesfield Road. An additional plan has been submitted to show the 
location of the fencing. This also includes the public right of way which will be 
secured with heras fencing.  

h. The applicant has submitted a waste management plan which identifies the waste 
types/groups and where appropriate whether they are to be reused on site or 
recycled off site.    

Page 64



i. The protection measures to boundaries and features of ecological value will 
comprise heras fencing and all trees to be retained will be protected in accordance 
with the details submitted for condition 26. With respect to other ecological matters 
including bats, badgers and birds, these are address by conditions 17-19.

The above details are considered to acceptable and ensure that matters relating to 
residential amenity, ecology and highway safety are addressed. It is noted that both 
the highway authority, as a statutory consultee and the Environmental Health Officer 
raise no objection to the above details. The Environmental Health Officer confirms 
that the revised piling details are acceptable.

7.12 Condition 9 states: 

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until such time as a scheme 
to limit the surface water run-off generated by the proposed development to existing 
Greenfield rates with attenuation up to a 1 in 100 year event, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be fully 
implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the timing / phasing 
arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may 
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.

7.13 The submitted plans and details show that surface water drainage will be 
restricted by a series of flow controls and underground attenuation tanks in the form 
of oversized pipes. The purpose of this is to restrict the rate of water run off to a 
maximum level for 1:100 year plus 40% climate change event. It is noted that 
objectors have submitted several responses, including technical assessment of the 
applicant’s proposals. The Lead Local Flood Authority have carefully reviewed all 
statements and evidence received from third parties, concluding that surface water 
generated by rainfall over the developed part of the site has been robustly tested 
through modelling (Drainage calculations April 2019) and demonstrated that run off 
can be reduced from greenfield rates in high order events. 

7.14 The surface water and foul network, including all pipes up to and including the 
outfall headwalls will be put forward for adoption by United Utilities under a S104 of 
the Water Industry Act 1991. United Utilities confirm that they raise no objection to 
the drainage proposals. Any pipes (SUDS), sewers and land drains which lie within 
areas of public open space will be responsibility of a management company 
appointed by the applicant. The applicant has provided a maintenance schedule 
which identifies that catchpits will be inspected every 3 months, surface culverts will 
be inspected annually and any ditches will be inspected every month. The LLFA, as 
a statutory consultee are content that sufficient and acceptable information has been 
submitted and therefore it is recommended that this condition be agreed.     

7.15 Condition 10 states:

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until such time as a scheme 
to manage the risk of flooding from overland flow of surface water and the drainage 
of existing flows onto the site, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently 
maintained, in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within 

Page 65



the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority.

7.16      The submitted details identify five sources of overland flows and the drainage 
of existing flows onto the site. They are: 

1. Springs (both off and on site) 

On site spring are present behind plots 101-103. New land drains will be installed 
(and subject to separate consent by the LLFA).  However these will not enter the 
development drainage system and instead will connect into the existing ditch running 
through the site.  

2. Overland flows

A network of additional land drains around the boundary of the site and adjacent to 
all highway embankments will pick up off site overland flows. Again these land drains 
will not enter into the development drainage system and instead will connect to the 
existing ditches running through the site.

3. Groundwater Flows
 
The network of new land drains will collect ground water flows arising from within or 
outside the site. The finished floor level of the houses will be at 150mm above 
surrounding ground level and plots 1-3, 300mm above surrounding ground levels.  

4. Surface water run off from adjoining properties

The applicant acknowledges the presence of an uncharted drain to the rear 130 
Macclesfield Road. If necessary and following on site excavations to investigate the 
presence or otherwise of any unknown drains, the applicant has advised that they 
would seek to amend the drainage design that would deal with any other existing 
flows. 

5. Surface water outfall from adjacent housing estate (Linglongs Avenue) 

The surface water outfall from Linglongs Avenue is an adopted sewer, which has 
been diverted into a below ground pipe which extends the full length of the site and 
ultimately discharges to the watercourse to the east of the site. A CCTV survey had 
revealed that this pipe will need to be diverted as part of the drainage network 
through the site. 

7.17     As set out by the LLFA surface water resulting from rainfall onto the 
positively drained area of the site will be managed by the proposed drainage design. 
Rainfall which falls in permeable areas, such as public open space, verges, will 
infiltrate in a similar manner as existing. Although permeable area will be reduced as 
a result of the development overland flows will be reduced as the majority of rainfall 
will be captured, stored and released at a greenfield rate by the surface water 
drainage system. Any rainfall which does not infiltrate and reaches the surface water 
drainage system via overland flow will do so at a slower rate than the positively 

Page 66



drained impermeable area. Accordingly this will not impact on the performance of the 
system. 

7.18    In terms of the CCTV survey and dye testing provided, the LLFA consider that 
this has identified that the culverted watercourse continues through the site and any 
additional land drainage flows will be maintained. Throughflows and groundwater 
flows will reduce as the impermeable area will increase and so less rainfall will enter 
soils, this will reduce groundwater recharge. The installation of the drainage will take 
place in four phases, although the applicant states that it is likely to be consecutive 
and continuous. All drainage will be installed and operational prior to the first 
occupation of the plots in the relevant phase.  
 
7.19   The LLFA, as a statutory consultee, are content, that having carefully reviewed 
both the applicants drainage details and the objector’s submissions that risk of 
flooding from overland flow of surface water and the drainage of existing flows onto 
the site can be managed appropriately and without causing risk of flooding 
elsewhere.  

7.20 Condition 11 states:

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a scheme for surface 
water regulation, based on sustainable drainage principles, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 
details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after completion. 
Thereafter the development shall proceed in accordance with the approved details.

7.21 The submitted plans and details show that surface water drainage will be 
restricted by a series of flow controls and underground attenuation tanks in the form 
of oversized pipes. Other SUDS techniques, in the form of swales have not been 
employed due to the geology of the land. The surface water and foul network, 
including all pipes up to and including the outfall headwalls will be put forward for 
adoption by United Utilities under a S104 of the Water Industry Act 1991. United 
Utilities confirm that they raise no objection to the drainage proposals. Any pipes 
(SUDS), sewers and land drains which lie within areas of public open space will be 
responsibility of a management company appointed by the applicant. The applicant 
has provided a maintenance schedule which identifies that catchpits will be 
inspected every 3 months, surface culverts will be inspected annually and any 
ditched will be inspected every month.  

7.22 The LLFA, as a statutory consultee, having carefully reviewed both the 
applicants drainage details and the submissions by the third parties, conclude that 
the sustainable drainage scheme proposed, its adoption by Unties Utilities and the 
management of land drains elsewhere on the site is acceptable. It is therefore 
recommended that this condition be agreed.    

7.23 Condition 12 states: 

No development shall take place until a scheme for the foul drainage of the site has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details

Page 67



7.24 The foul drainage on the above site is to discharge to existing foul sewers 
which run through the site. Part of the site drains via gravity sewer to the existing 
sewer running through the site. The remaining (lower) part of the site drains via a 
proposed new pump station and rising main, which also discharges to the existing 
sewer running through the site. The proposed new sewers will be put forward for 
adoption by united utilities under a section 104 agreement. United Utilities, raise no 
objection to the proposals, it is therefore recommended that this condition be agreed. 

7.25 Condition 13 states:

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until such time as a scheme 
to manage the drainage of existing inflows onto the site, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development 
shall proceed in accordance with the approved details.

7.26     The surface water outfall from Linglongs Avenue is an adopted sewer, which 
has been diverted into a below ground pipe which extends the full length of the site 
and ultimately discharges to the watercourse to the east of the site. A CCTV survey 
had revealed that this pipe will need to be diverted as part of the drainage network 
through the site. 

7.27     As set out by the LLFA surface water resulting from rainfall onto the 
positively drained area of the site will be managed by the proposed drainage design. 
Rainfall which falls on permeable areas, such as public open space, verges, will 
infiltrate in a similar manner as existing. Although permeable area will be reduced as 
a result of the development overland flows will be reduced as the majority of rainfall 
will be captured, store and released at a Greenfield rate by the surface water 
drainage system. Any rainfall which does not infiltrate and reaches the surface water 
drainage system via overland flow will do so at a slower rate that the positively 
drained impermeable area. Accordingly this will not impact on the performance of the 
system. 

7.28   In terms of the CCTV survey and dye testing provided, the LLFA consider that 
this has identified that the culverted watercourse continues through the site and any 
additional land drainage flows will be maintained. Throughflows and groundwater 
flows will recue as the impermeable area will increase and so les rainfall will enter 
soils, this will reduce groundwater recharge.  
 
7.29     The LLFA, as a statutory consultee, are content that having carefully 
reviewed both the applicant’s drainage details and the objector’s submissions that 
risk of flooding from the drainage of existing inflows onto the site can be managed 
appropriately and without causing risk of flooding elsewhere.  

7.30 Condition 14 states:

No part of the development hereby permitted shall commence on site unless and 
until:

Page 68



a)      a site investigation has been designed for the site using the information 
obtained from the desk top investigation previously submitted (5644/R1, Lees 
Roxburgh, Feb 2014) in respect of contamination. This shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
investigation being carried out on the site; and

b)      the site investigation and associated risk assessment have been undertaken 
in accordance
with the detail submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority; and

c)       a method statement and remediation strategy, based on the information 
obtained from b) above, including a programme of works have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation strategy.

d)      a verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works in the remediation strategy set out in c) are 
complete and identifying any requirements for longer term monitoring of 
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.

The approved details shall be implemented as approved, and any long term 
monitoring and management plan shall be implemented as approved.

7.31 The following reports have been submitted to address this condition; Phase 1 
Geo Environmental Assessment by Lees Roxburgh Dated Feb 2014 Ref 5644/R1, 
Phase 2 Consolidated Geo Environmental Report by Opus Dated 11th December 
2014 Ref J-D1747.00_R1_NLC , Trial Pitt Logs by Opus, Coal Extract Report by 
Opus Dated 11th December 2014 Ref J-D1747.00_R1_NLC, Gas Risk Assessment 
by Opus Dated 20th January 2015 Ref J-D1747.00_L3_NLC, Appraisal Report by 
Soil Technics R-STP3981NM-AR01, Specification and Classification for Reuse 
Report by Soil Technics R-STP3981NM-ES01 and Earthworks Strategy Report by 
Soil Technics R-STP3981NM-ES02

7.32 The Council Environmental Health Officer following a careful review of the 
above reports notes that gas protection measures are not required and that the soil 
on site does not present a risk to human health and is suitable for use without 
remediation. Accordingly, it is considered that the site can be developed without 
undue harm to future occupiers of the site. It is noted however that condition 15 
requires the submission of remediation strategy in the event that any unexpected 
contamination is found at the site. It is therefore recommended that this condition be 
agreed.    
 

7.33 Condition 16 states: 

No development or other operations including site clearance shall take place until a 
Biodiversity Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The Biodiversity Management Plan shall be based on the 
submitted Outline Biodiversity Management Plan by FPCR (June 2014) and shall 
include provision for ecological retention, enhancement, implementation timetable 
and future maintenance and management. 

Page 69



The approved Biodiversity Management Plan shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved timetable and subsequently maintained in accordance with the 
approved details.

7.34 The submitted report provides details on biodiversity retention, enhancement, 
a time table for implementation and future management responsibilities. In summary 
the report identifies that existing trees (not shown for removal) hedgerows and 
shrubs will be retained, a wetland area to the north eastern part of the site will be 
created, species rich grassland along the south western boundary and throughout 
the middle of the site will be provided. Additional native trees, hedgerow and shrub 
planting and the provision of bird and bat boxes will be provided. The timetable for 
implementation would be in the first season after construction of the dwellings 
(November to March) and any replacement planting to take place in years 1 to 5. 
The management of the areas of biodiversity enhancement will be carried out by a 
company appointed by the applicant, to be carried out in accordance with the 
Management Plan. It is noted that Derbyshire Wildlife Trust have carefully reviewed 
the management plan and consider the document to be acceptable. It is therefore 
recommended that this condition be agreed.    

7.35 Condition 17 states:

Before development commences detailed proposals for the incorporation of features 
into the scheme suitable for use by breeding birds (including swifts and house 
sparrows) and roosting bats, including a timetable for implementation, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The proposals 
shall be installed in accordance with the approved details and timetable and retained 
thereafter.

7.36 The submitted plan shows that a total of 8 bat boxes, 2 swift boxes, 6 sparrow 
terrace and 5 nest boxes will be provided either within some of the existing trees to 
be retained at the site or within individual dwellings. The plan has been reviewed by 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust, and they confirm that they are content with the location of 
the various boxes. Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.  

7.37 Condition 18 states:

Before any development or other operations commence, including site clearance an 
assessment of the trees on the site for bat roosts shall be undertaken by a licensed 
bat ecologist and a report setting out any necessary mitigation plan has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Any approved mitigation 
measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plan and retained 
thereafter.

7.38     The applicant has submitted a Bat mitigation strategy which provides an 
assessment of the trees on site and a migration strategy relating to the protection of 
bats and their roosting habitats. The strategy identifies that further aerial inspections 
will be necessary for certain trees, and if required a Natural England licence sought. 
Derbyshire Wildlife trust have reviewed the submitted strategy, concluding that they 
are satisfied with the measured outlined. It is noted that DWT advise that the bat box 

Page 70



plan should be updated to match with the plan submitted for condition 17. This has 
duly been submitted and DWT confirm that this is acceptable. It is therefore 
recommended that this condition be agreed. 
   

7.39 Condition 19 states: 

Before any development or other operations commence, an assessment of the 
badger setts on and adjacent to the site shall be undertaken and a report setting out 
any necessary mitigation plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Any approved mitigation measures shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter.
Reason:- To provide adequate safeguards for the protection of any protected 
species existing on the site, in accordance with Policy EQ5 of the High Peak Local 
Plan 2016 and paragraph 17 and Section 11 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

7.40     The submitted assessment identifies that a further badger survey was carried 
out in May 2019. A licence from Natural England will be required to carry out the 
closure of a single hole and works close to two known setts. The mitigation strategy 
includes the creation of a protective corridor, which will fenced off to discourage 
public access and densely planted with wild flowers, shrubs, trees, hawthorn and 
blackthorn to encourage badgers to forage and commute within the woodland area. 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust has carefully reviewed the strategy and considers that it is 
acceptable. Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.

7.41 Condition 21 states:

Prior to the commencement of development a strategy for the control and eradication 
of Japanese Knotweed shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The method statement shall include proposed measures that will 
be used to prevent the spread of Japanese Knotweed during any operations e.g. 
mowing, strimming or soil movement. It shall also contain measures to ensure that 
any soils brought to the site are free of the seeds / root/ stem of any invasive plant 
covered under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended. Development 
shall proceed in accordance with the approved method statement.

7.42     A survey and recommendations report has been submitted which identifies 
that Japanese Knotweed is present towards the southern and eastern boundary of 
the site. An eradication strategy is proposed, which has been carefully reviewed by 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust, who consider that the strategy is acceptable. Accordingly it 
is recommended that this condition be agreed.

7.43 Condition 22 states:

Prior to the commencement of development detailed designs for pedestrian/cycle 
access and in accordance with the general arrangements shown on plan ref 
466/P/DF/01 Rev C including the junction arrangements at Macclesfield Road and 
throughout the site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Page 71



Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved details shall be laid out, designed, laid 
out and implemented prior the first occupation of the development in any phase 
hereby approved.

7.44     The submitted details show the existing Midshires Way to provide for 
pedestrian and cycle provision with a 3m wide route into the site from Macclesfield 
Road. A staggered barrier would be provided towards the Macclesfield Road 
entrance. Within the site, footways will be provided with a tarmac surface and the 
details show a pedestrian / cycle network linking to Linglongs Road and the Public 
Right of Way running through the site. The submitted details are considered to be 
acceptable in respect of pedestrian and cycleway movement and it is noted that the 
Highway Authority, as a statutory consultee, having carefully considered the plans 
raise no objection. Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.

7.45 Condition 23 states: 

No dwelling in the development hereby approved shall be occupied until a travel plan 
based on the Framework Travel Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall include the objectives, targets, 
mechanisms and measures to achieve the targets, implementation timescales, 
provision for monitoring, and arrangements for a Travel Plan co-ordinator, who shall 
be in place until 5 years after the completion of the final phase of development. The 
approved plan shall be audited and updated and submitted for the approval of the 
local planning authority at intervals no longer than 18 months. The measures 
contained within the approved plan and any approved modifications shall be carried 
out in full.
Reason:- In the interests of highway safety and reducing vehicular traffic to the 
development, in accordance with Policy CF6 of the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework’.

7.46 A travel plan has been submitted which identifies a number of targets to 
encourage a reduction in single car occupancy, the promotion of walking and cycling, 
use of public transport and car sharing.  Measures to promote sustainable transport 
methods will include, amongst a number, confirmation of the travel plan and a 
Residents Travel Pack for future residents and information in respect of public 
transport and bus stops, maps showing cycle and walking routes to local services 
and facilities and train destinations. The plan provides contact details for the Travel 
Plan co-ordinator who will review the plan, its targets and undertake annual 
monitoring for a period of 5 years. The highway authority has commented on the 
content of the report and the applicant is currently updating the Travel Plan. On 
receipt of the revised travel plan the Highway Authority will be reconsulted and 
further comments will be provided on the update sheet.     

7.47 Condition 24 states: 

Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme to provide dedicated car 
parking provision to serve residents along Macclesfield Road shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 

Page 72



the location, number of parking spaces and the finished surface details. Thereafter 
the approved details shall be made available for use prior to the occupation of the 
development in any phase hereby approved and retained solely for the parking of 
vehicles.

7.48     The submitted details show a total of 11 car parking spaces to be provided to 
the rear of numbers 74-84 Macclesfield Road. The parking spaces will be tarmacked 
and the maintenance of this area will be the responsibility of the management 
company who are also responsible for the public open spaces at the site. In 
response to the Highway Authority comments concerning phasing and occupation, 
the spaces would be installed early in build programme, in Phase 2 (condition 4)The 
details provides meet the requirements of the condition and are therefore considered 
to be acceptable. Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.
  
7.50 Condition 26 states:

No operations shall commence on site in connection with the development hereby 
approved (including demolition works, tree works, fires, soil moving, temporary 
access construction and / or widening or any operations involving the use of 
motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until a detailed Arboricultural Method 
Statement (AMS) in accordance with BS5837:2012 has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the protective fencing is 
erected as required by the AMS. 

The AMS shall include full details of the following:
a)      Timing and phasing of Arboricultural works in relation to the approved 

development.
b)      Detailed tree felling and pruning specification in accordance with 

BS3998:2010 Recommendations for Tree Works.
c)       Details of a tree protection scheme in accordance with BS5837:2012 which 

provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing 
on or adjacent to the site which are shown to be retained on the approved 
plan and trees which are the subject of any Tree Preservation Order.

d)      Details of any construction works, including changes in ground level, required 
within the root protection area as defined by BS5837:2012 or otherwise 
protected in the approved Tree Protection Scheme.

e)      Details of the arrangements for the implementation, supervision and 
monitoring of works required to comply with the Arboricultural Method 
Statement.

The development shall proceed in accordance with the approved details.

7.51 The submitted Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) sets out that tree 
protection measures will be installed prior to the commencement of works, which 
includes the creation of compound areas, access by vehicles or any plant and 
materials, which is confirmed by the details submitted for condition 4. The statement 
provides a tree felling and pruning specification, details of the fencing to be used 
(Heras), root pruning to certain trees on the site and conformation that all works to 
any trees will be under the supervision of an Arboricultural Consultant, who will make 
a photographic record and verifying root pruning works for inspection by the Local 

Page 73



Planning Authority.  The Councils Tree Officer has reviewed the AMS and confirms 
that the statement is sufficient to agree this condition. Accordingly it is recommended 
that this condition be agreed.

7.52 Condition 27 states:

Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for site investigation works 
examining former coal mining activity on the application site shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 
details of existing ground conditions and any remediation works demonstrating how 
the safety and stability of the site will be carried out. The development shall proceed 
strictly in accordance with the approved scheme.

7.53 The submitted details set out that the site is not within a zone of likely physical 
influence on the surface from past underground working. It is acknowledged that 
there may be coal deposit close to the surface which may have been subject to 
unrecorded workings. The coal seam is recorded as outcropping to the west of the 
site and dips to the south east beneath the site. The cover to the seam below the site 
is unknown but it is not expected to be significant given the dip in seam follows the 
topography. The report sets out that the site is not within the zone of influence of any 
present or planned future underground coal workings although reserves of coal do 
exist in the local area. The Coal Authority, as a statutory consultee, has carefully 
reviewed the submitted details and raises no objection. The details are therefore 
considered acceptable and it is recommended that this condition be agreed.

7.54 Condition 28 states: 

No works shall take place on any phase of development until a measured survey of 
the site has been undertaken and a plan prepared to a scale of not less than 1: 500 
showing details of the existing and intended final ground levels from a specified 
benchmark and have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The works shall be completed in accordance with the approved 
details.

7.55 The details submitted include a topographical survey, which shows existing 
ground levels, including those on Linglongs Road and proposed finished floor levels, 
garden levels, the location of retaining walls and a “heat” map which shows the 
areas of the site where levels will either be lowered or increased. Broadly, increases 
in ground level will be most apparent in the north east and north west segments of 
the site, in some small areas up to 4- 5m in height  and land will be lowered (or cut) 
to create the new road from Linglongs Road and in the south east segment of the 
site.  These level changes were considered during the reserved matters application 
HPK/2017/0247, whereby it was found to be acceptable. The submitted information 
meets the requirements of this condition and is therefore found to be acceptable. 
Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.

8. Conclusion & Planning Balance 

Page 74



8.1 This application does not represent an opportunity to revisit the principle of 
development, the principle having been agreed under outline consent 
HPK/2017/0694 and the reserved matters agreed under HPK/2017/0247. The 
agreement of the above conditions will ensure that the site is development in a 
manner which does not harm residential amenity, highway safety, ecological 
interests, existing landscape features, including protected trees. Moreover the above 
details will ensure that existing invasive species, such as Japanese knotweed will be 
removed from the site, to the benefit of the environment.  

8.2 There has been significant concern raised over the drainage proposals and 
their effect on flooding elsewhere in the locality. Following additional submission by 
third parties, including two responses (one including a video) by Whaley Bridge 
Matters on the 21st July 2019, the Lead Flood Authority have reviewed these 
responses and commented on the 29th August 2019, as detailed above. 

8.3 It is acknowledged that there are areas of land within the site, which are at 
risk of flooding (1/30 and1/110yr). The developer is altering the drainage 
characteristics of the greenfield site, but are considered to be taking all reasonable 
measures to ensure that the surface water run-off and other flows which run-through 
the site are appropriately managed to ensure that the proposed properties are safe 
from flooding, but to also ensure that flood risk is not increased downstream. 

8.4 From Environment Agency Flood Risk Maps (pluvial and fluvial) there is a 
current downstream risk of flooding from the River Goyt and rainfall events. The 
applicant is not proposing development in the areas at risk and therefore the 
proposed development will not be at an increased risk and the risk of flooding will 
remain the same downstream. The developer is altering the drainage characteristics 
of the greenfield site by the nature of their proposals (increasing impermeable 
surfaces) but they are taking all reasonable measures to ensure that the appropriate 
management of surface water and other flows through the site.

8.5 The installation of land drains will need to be the subject to Land Drainage 
Consent, a matter for Derbyshire County Council, as Lead Local Flood Authority to 
address. Land Drainage Consent is required under section 23 of the Land Drainage 
Act 1991 and is required for the diversion of the culverted watercourse. Moreover, 
the adoption of sewers will be undertaken in accordance with section 104 of the 
Water Industry Act 1991. It is noted that conditions which require compliance with 
other regulatory regimes will not meet the test of necessity and may not be relevant 
to planning. Therefore in respect of land drains and sewers, it would not be 
appropriate or reasonable, to address these matters under the terms of this 
application. 

8.6 Taking into account all comments from statutory consultees, other consultees 
and third party comments, it is considered that the information submitted for the 
above conditions is acceptable and therefore should be agreed.  

RECOMMENDATION

A. That, the above relevant conditions imposed on HPK/2017/0694 be agreed. 

Page 75



B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision.

Informatives

During the course of the application, the Local Planning Authority has sought further 
clarification on the conditions, accordingly paragraph 38 of the NPPF has been 
adhered to. 

Site Plan

The Site

50 100

metres
0

Page 76



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 7th October 2019

Application 
No:

DOC/2018/0110

Location Land off Linglongs Road, Whaley Bridge 
Proposal Discharge of conditions 5, 6, 7, 9, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 21, 

29, 32 and 33 in relation to HPK/2017/0247
Applicant Mrs Aleksandra Drinkwater, Barratt Homes
Agent N/A
Parish/ward Whaley Bridge Date registered 29/10/2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane Colley -
Email jane.colley@highpeak.gov.uk; Tel: 01298 28400 Ext: 4981

REFERRAL

This application has been brought before the Development Control Committee as it 
is a locally contentious issue

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The site lies to the south west of Whaley Bridge on land which slopes in an 
easterly direction. The highest point on the land is along the western 
boundary and adjacent to Linglongs Road. To the east are a number of 
mature trees which screen the site from the industrial estate known as Botany 
Business Park.  The land is currently used for grazing and covers 6.3 
hectares in area. To the north are residential properties along Macclesfield 
Road.  

2.2 A large number of trees, protected by a tree preservation order (TPO 262) 
dissect the site, and form an important landscaping screen, behind which 
properties and their rear gardens along Macclesfield Road form the backdrop 
to the site when viewed from the south. 

2.3  The Goyt Way - Midshires Way long distance recreational trail, footpath 
HP23/57/2, runs through the site in a north south direction, providing access 
from Taxal (Linglongs Road) to Macclesfield Road to the north and beyond 
onto Reddish Lane.  

Page 77

Agenda Item 8

mailto:jane.colley@highpeak.gov.uk


3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1 Reserved matters was granted for layout, access, scale, appearance and 
landscaping by the Committee at the 24th September 2018 and the decision 
issued on the 3rd October 2018.  This application seeks to agree a number of 
planning conditions imposed on the reserved matters consent.    

3.2 Since this time and following the statutory consultation responses below, a 
number of revisions have been submitted and are discussed under the 
relevant conditions below. 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

DOC/2017/0071 - Discharge of conditions relating to HPK/2017/0694 4, 5, 6, 
7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 24, 26, 27 and 28 - Pending

HPK/2017/0694 – Variation of conditions 5, 24 and 31 of HPK/2014/0119 – 
Approved 3.10.18

HPK/2017/0247 – Reserved matters for 107 dwellings and associated works – 
Approved 3.10.19 

HPK/2014/0119 – Proposed outline planning application for up to 107 
dwellings including landscaping and public open space – Approved 7.5.17

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

Adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S3 Strategic Housing Development
S6 Central Sub Area Strategy 
EQ1 Climate Change
EQ2 Landscape Character
EQ5 Biodiversity
EQ6 Design and Place Making
EQ9 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
EQ10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land
EQ11 Flood Risk Management
CF6 Accessibility and Transport

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
Paragraphs 54 and 55 

Page 78



National Planning Practice Guidance 

6. CONSULTATIONS

Site notice Expiry date for comments: N/A
Press notice Expiry date for comments: N/A
Neighbours Expiry date for comments: N/A

Neighbours/Local Interest Groups

6.1 Comments have been received raising the following concerns: 

1. Whaley Bridge Matters (WBM) have made previous submissions on the 5th 
November 2017, 5th February 2018, 25th February 2018, 6th July 2018, 27th August 
2018. Conditions 9, 10, 11 and 13 under HPK/2017/0694 correspondence with 
conditions 11, 12, 13 and 15 under HPK/2014/0119.

2. As well as considering surface water run-off from developed parts of the site, the 
conditions incorporate but are necessarily limited to) the following aspects: 

 Condition 10 and 13 must include consideration of the applicant proposed 
discharge of the other output of water to the site, namely springs and overland 
flows and surface water run-off from adjoining properties;

 Condition 10 must additionally consider the Linglongs Road estate outfall;
 Condition 13 must additionally consider groundwater flows;
 Conditions 9, 10 and 13 must consider rainfall onto non-developed parts of 

the site. 

Conditions such as these require outflows to be managed in accordance with local 
and national policy i.e. to ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. If the 
submitted scheme does not do that then the Council should not approve it. 

3. Photos have been submitted of an Orche Spring in the south west field 
discharging into the south east field, at the tree line edge between fields, a broken 
pipe between the north west and north east fields.

4. In response to Barratt Homes email of the 13th November 2017, the comment that 
“existing springs to the SE of the site is evident on the survey as a trough” fails to 
mention that the resultant overland flow from this spring runs into the development 
south east field. This overland flow is only evident during seasonal heavier rainfall. 
The redirection of the spring directly to a drain into the east ditch will therefore 
increase run-off rates. The comment that “we do not believe the depression to be 
draining anything other than some surface water run-off ignores the evidence from 
the geo- physical survey showing  2 land drains running directly from the southern 
side of the south west field. The geo-physical report is incomplete with the 
downstream of the Linglongs Roads outfall not surveyed. The applicant has not 
surveyed the 1885 map which clearly shows a stream running from Taxal Edge into 
the NW field. The 2 drains from the southern boundary of the NW field are to be 

Page 79



bypassed by a new drain from the Linglongs Road outfall or intercepted by a new 
land drain adjacent to Road 1. The email gives no assurance regarding flooding 
downstream.  Neither HPBC or the LLFA seem willing to challenge the applicant as 
to their beliefs or require a new geo-physical survey. The requirement to comply with 
the NPPF or to mimic the existing situation has been ignored.  

5. Most of flood calculations on the outflow from the development are based on 2 
catchments and 2 vortex limiters and are incorrect and invalid.  The trench land 
drainage system will reduce the water table to make it suitable for the development 
at the expense of the increased flood risk for communities downstream. 

6. The building of a pumping station to pump sewage uphill only for it to come back 
straight down the Macclesfield road should be questioned on sustainability and 
functionality.  

7. Documents by Soiltechnics have not been posted on the Council web site. The 
Ochre springs which are to be redirected to land drains contain Ferric Oxide, this will 
block to the trench liner and fill fabric and aggregate in the land drain trench, 
blocking these drains. This will result in flooding to the development. 

Consultees

Consultee Comment Officer 
response 

DCC 
Highways

24.09.2019:

Condition 13
Drawing number 466-ED-58 shows the highway 
arrangements where the Midshires Way crosses the 
new estate street. The proposals are considered 
acceptable in principle and are sufficient to discharge 
the planning condition.

Condition16
The Highway Management Proposals document is 
considered acceptable to satisfy the condition and it 
should also be noted that the developer is at an advance 
stage with the Highway Authority in securing an 
adoption Agreement for the streets to become publicly 
maintainable highway at some future point.

Condition 18
The updated Construction Method Statement now 
incorporates traffic management details, which is 
considered acceptable in principle from a highways 
perspective.

Condition 21
The construction approval process is still on-going 
between the developer and Highway Authority – 

c)

Page 80



following the e-mail evidence that has been submitted 
by the developer there have been further requests for 
information (by DCC), before the project can be formally 
approved. Hopefully this should be concluded in the 
near future, however, as previously advised; until 
construction approval has been issued discharging this 
condition may be premature.

Condition 29
It is noted, from drawing number 466/P/PL/01 Rev A1, 
that sheds / cycle storage are now shown to all plots, 
which addresses the previous highway comments. On 
this basis the condition may now be discharged.

24.01.2019: 

Condition 13: 

Drawing number 466/P/HLL01 Rev E has been 
submitted to support the discharge of this condition , 
which identifies hard landscaping proposals throughout 
the development. However, this does specifically or 
adequately address the requirements of the condition in 
terms of the detail requires where the new estate street 
bisecrs the Midshires Way.

It is presumed the Midshires Way is depicted by the red 
dashed line on the plan although this not identified in the 
legend. I would expect an enlarged detail to be provided 
for the specific area showing as a minimum a tactile 
paving crossing point, additional section of surfaced 
path leading up to the crossing point and potentially a 
contrasting coloured panel of surfacing/surface 
treatment, across the carriageway, to highlight the 
crossing point. 

In its currently submitted format the information is not 
considered acceptable to discharge the conditions. 

Condition 16
Drawing number 466/ED/38 Rev B has been 
submitted to support the discharge of this condition, 
which shows the areas the developer will be offering 
for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, at 
some future point.

The developer has recently submitted construction 
details to the Highway Authority for approval, with a 
view to progressing an adoption Agreement under 
Section 38 of the Highways Act (1980). However, this 

Page 81



process is in its early stages and is likely to take a 
number of weeks / months before any Agreement 
may be in place. No specific information has been 
provided regarding the management or maintenance 
of the streets prior to the Agreement being entered 
into, as required by the condition. Therefore, in 
order to adequately discharge this condition additional 
information would be required to be submitted.

It is however noted that this is not a pre-
commencement condition and the condition only 
requires information to be submitted and approved prior 
to the first occupation of the first dwelling. Given the 
envisaged development program it is likely to be a 
considerable period of time until this takes place, by 
which point it is likely that the Section 38 adoption 
Agreement will be in place. The developer may 
therefore find it prudent to withdraw this condition for 
consideration at this point and re-submit when the 
adoption Agreement is entered into.

Condition 18
A construction method statement has been submitted to 
support the discharge of this condition and whilst the 
document includes additional information, to that 
required by the condition, it is informative. With respect 
to the specific highway related elements I would 
comment as follows:

a) Parking for site operatives and visitors is 
shown on drawing number 466/ED/CMS2 Rev 
C and is considered acceptable in principle.

b) Routes for construction traffic is shown via 
Linglongs Road – temporary access 
arrangements are shown on drawing number 
466/ED/CMS1 Rev C, which will be used whist 
the permanent access is constructed, after this 
point it is expected the permanent access will 
be used to serve the site. This is considered 
acceptable in principle.

c) Pedestrian / cyclist protection is covered in 
section g (iii) of the construction method 
statement document, which identifies that 
Midshires Way will need to be temporarily 
closed whilst some construction activities take 
place – this will need a formal process to be 
followed with the County Council’s Public Rights 
of Way section in advance of any works taking 
place that affect the route. At other times 
fencing will be erected to ensure  segregation 

Page 82



between the  route and  the development site 
areas. On this basis the proposals are 
acceptable in principle, however, as highlighted 
above a temporary closure will need to be 
applied for.

d) No information is provided at this stage as to 
what may be required in terms of temporary 
traffic management, especially for the 
proposed access works of Linglongs Road 
(which will need to be covered by a section 
278 Agreement). Further information will 
therefore be required to clarify this part of the 
condition.

e) The site compound area is located a 
considerable distance into the site and it is 
envisaged the road network provided to 
access it will ensure vehicles have sufficient 
opportunity to turn within the site. There are 
therefore no objections in principle associated 
with this part of the condition.

f) Sections g (i) & (ii) of the construction method 
statement identifies that ‘heras’ type fencing 
will be erected to secure the site. This is 
considered acceptable in principle, however, 
the developer will need to ensure that any 
rubber feet (or other fixing method) do not 
encroach or protrude into the public highway i.e. 
all fittings, fixtures etc. will need to be located 
wholly within the development site. Construction access arrangements are identified on drawing number 466/ED/CMS1 Rev C, which, as highlighted above, is considered acceptable in principle, until the permanent access is created.

g) The site compound, comprising 
accommodation, parking and storage is 
identified on drawing number 466/ED/CMS2 
Rev C, which is considered acceptable in 
principle from a highways perspective.

Condition 21
As highlighted above information has been submitted to 
the County Council in order to commence the 
construction approval process; a pre-requisite of this 
Authority entering into any Agreement to adopt the 
estate streets in the future. However, this process has 
only recently commenced and it could be some time 
before the information / drawings are approved – the 
developer is normally advised to allow at least 12 – 16 
weeks in any program to obtain approval.

The Highway Authority’s consultation response for the 
reserved matters application contained an advisory 
note, which was subsequently included on the decision 
notice (note g), advising that the applicant should 

Page 83



obtain approval for all the estate streets from the 
Highway Authority prior to any submission to discharge 
the relevant condition. However, this appears to have 
been disregarded.

Given the current position regarding the construction 
approval, the submission of construction details at 
this stage is somewhat premature. In addition, and as 
far as I can ascertain from the drawings, no specific 
street lighting design or details accompany the 
submission.

At this stage the condition should not be discharged 
until construction approval has been issued (to also 
include street lighting designs / details).

Condition 29
It is noted that sheds / cycle stores are identified on 
some plots, as shown on drawing number 466/P/PL/01 
Rev R. However, these are only provided on plots 
that do not have garage accommodation; it is 
assumed cycle storage for dwellings with garages will 
be within the garage itself.

However, your Authority will be aware of the Highway 
Authority’s guidance relating to this and that garages 
should achieve minimum internal dimensions, if it is to 
be used for parking and storage purposes. The Highway 
Authority’s guidance recommends that internal garage 
dimensions should be 3m wide x 6m long for a single 
garage and 6m x 6m for a double garage. No 
information appears to have been submitted to support 
the condition discharge to confirm this is the case.

Further information should therefore be provided 
before this condition can be discharged.

Condition 32
Note 12 on drawing number 466/ED/38 Rev B states 
that run off from private areas shall not discharge 
across the highway with gullies and channels being 
provided, as appropriate, to capture the surface water 
run-off. This will be acceptable in principle and the 
Highway Authority will, as part of its inspections 
undertaken in connection with the adoption process, 
ensure these are installed. On this basis the condition 
may be discharged.

Tree Officer 24.09.2019: 7.50-7.51

Page 84



Condition 9 – I am happy with the revised details.

11.12.2018:

Condition 9:  Landscape Phasing – I would rather see 
phases linked to actual dates which until they have a 
start date can’t be drawn up. 

Tree/ shrub planting and turfing is best undertaken 
between November – March this will improve the 
success of the establishment of the plants and therefore 
actually is more economical for the developer. So the 
phasing of landscaping should include dates such as 
phase 1 and 2 between November 2019 and March 
2020 

Condition 12: I have had a look at the arboricultural 
method statement and it does specifically talk about 
consultant supervision so I happy we are covered on 
that one. 

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND PLANNING BALANCE

7.1 The purpose of the imposition of planning conditions is to ensure that 
development can proceed where it would otherwise have been necessary to refuse 
planning permission, by mitigating the adverse effects. The objectives of planning 
are best served when the power to attach conditions to a planning permission is 
exercised in a way that is clearly seen to be fair, reasonable and practicable. 

7.2 The applicant has sought to agree the conditions listed below by providing the 
requirements for each condition. The information has been reviewed by various 
statutory consultees and their comments are reported above. Revised/additional 
details have been provided for a number of the conditions, and are indicated where 
relevant. 

7.3  Condition 5 states: 

Prior to the occupation of plots 99 - 102 a plan showing the boundary treatment 
serving these units, including the location, height, design and use of materials shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter 
the approved boundary treatment shall be installed prior to the first occupation of the 
dwelling the approved boundary treatment serves.

Reason:- To ensure that the residential amenities that occupiers can reasonably 
expect to enjoy are adequately protected in accordance with Policies EQ2 and EQ6 
Of the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

7.4 The initial submission proposed a closed boarded fence along the rear garden 
boundaries to plots 199-102, which are positioned close to the Midshires Way. This 
was considered unacceptable in this location, as it would create a hard boundary to 

Page 85



the public right of way. Revised details have been submitted which show a 1.8m high 
“green screen” which comprises a metal grid, to be covered in plants. This will create 
a softened approach to the boundary treatment in this particular location, to the 
visual benefit of pedestrians and the wider landscape. Moreover, the screen will 
ensure that the residential amen ties of future occupiers is protected.  Accordingly it 
is recommended that this condition be agreed.     

7.5 Condition 6 states: 

Prior to the installation of any front or garage door, the colours of doors shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the 
doors shall be installed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason:- In the interests of visual amenity, in accordance with Policy EQ6 of the 
High Peak Saved Local Plan 2016.

7.6 The submitted plans show that all garage and doors will be black. This is 
considered to be acceptable and would provide a consistent and visually acceptable 
detail to all properties. Accordingly, with a simple approach which will not harm visual 
amenity, it is recommended that this condition be agreed.   

7.7 Condition 7 states:

Prior to the installation of any hard surfacing (excluding all access roads) details of 
the materials to be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall proceed strictly in accordance 
with the approved details.

Reason:- In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the 
area in accordance with Policy EQ6 of the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

7.8 A plan has been submitted which confirms that the access roads and 
footways will be constructed with tarmac. Where a private road serves a small 
number of units (e.g. plots 1-3) it is proposed to use  burnt ochre block paving, with 
pedestrian routes into individual dwellings constructed with buff coloured block 
paving. The simple palette of materials will ensure that the visual appearance of the 
hard surfacing is robust and reflective of the wider area. Accordingly it is 
recommended that this condition be approved.  

7.9 Condition 9 states:

Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling, a scheme of phasing of landscaping shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
landscaping shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme of 
phasing. Any trees or plants which within a period of five years, die, are removed, or 
become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 86



Reason:- In the interest of visual amenity, in accordance with Policies S1 and EQ6 of 
the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

7.10 Following the initial comments by the Tree Officer, the applicant has provided 
further details on the proposed timing for the landscaping and identified a phased 
approach to it. Landscaping would be provided on the following basis: 

Plots 1-12, 14-23 and 500 - Within 1 year from the commencement of development, 
Plots 24-48 - Within 2 years of the commencement of development
Plots 49-70 – Within 30 months of the commencement of development
Plots 71-107 Within 3 years of the commencement of development

7.11 The phased approach to the landscaping will ensure that the landscaping is 
installed in line with the build programme for the whole of the site, to the benefit of 
the visual amenity of the wider landscape. The Councils Tree officer raises no 
objection to this condition, and therefore on this basis, it is recommended that this 
condition be agreed.  

7.12 Condition 12 states: 
 
Prior to the removal of trees 37 and 38 as shown on plan ref D6270.002 (as shown 
in the Arboricultural Method Statement), a scheme for the supervision of any tree 
works in relation to trees 37 and 38 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter all works shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved scheme.

Reason:- To protect the health and amenity of the trees in accordance with Policies 
EQ2 and EQ9 of the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and paragraph 118 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

7.13 Trees 37 and 38 are located towards the eastern boundary of the site and 
have been identified as potentially vulnerable to removal due to the presence of the 
new drainage system. The purpose of this condition is to ensure that an 
arboricultrual specialist is present on site, to determine whether these trees can be 
retained or not. The submitted arboricultural method statement confirms that an 
arboriculturalist will be present to supervise any works around these trees, which the 
Tree Officer is satisfied with. Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be 
agreed.  

7.14 Condition 13 states:

Prior to the installation of the surface treatment of the Midshires Way where it 
crosses the approved estate road, details of the surface treatment shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved 
surface treatment shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
prior to first occupation of the final dwelling on the site.

Reason:- In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CF6 of the 
High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 87



7.15     The initial submission provided inadequate details to confirm the use of hard 
surfacing materials where the Midshires Way crosses the new access road. The 
applicant has now provided a plan which shows a dropped kerb either side of the 
road and a contrasting colour across the new access road to denote the route of the 
Midshires Way. This will ensure that the public right of way is visible and permeable 
to all pedestrian users to the benefit of highway safety for all users. Accordingly it is 
recommended that this condition be agreed.    

7.16 Condition 14 states:

Within 6 months of the commencement of works, a scheme for the signage, 
management arrangements and timetable for installation of the car parking spaces to 
the north eastern boundary (to the rear of 74-84 Macclesfield Road) as shown on 
plan ref 466/P/PL/01 Rev Q shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the car parking spaces shall be installed in 
accordance with the approved timetable and managed in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason:- To safeguard the privacy of the occupants of adjacent properties, in 
accordance with Policy EQ6 of the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

7.17 A total of 11 car spaces will be provided to the rear of numbers 74 – 84 
Macclesfield Road for the residents in Macclesfield Road. The management and 
maintenance for these spaces would be undertaken by a management company 
appointed by the applicant. Signage will be erected stating “Parking for Macclesfield 
Residents only – maximum length of stay 24 hours”. The timetable for installation will 
be in phase 2 of the road and sewer programme, weeks 35-48 from commencement 
of development. The details submitted are considered to be acceptable and will 
ensure that privacy of the occupants of properties in Macclesfield Road is 
maintained. Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.     

7.18 Condition 15 states: 

Prior to the first occupation of the first dwelling, details for the management and 
maintenance regime for the sustainable drainage scheme, if not to be adopted by 
United Utilities shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter the sustainable drainage scheme shall be managed and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details.

Reason:- To ensure that agreed sustainable drainage systems are constructed and 
maintained appropriately to secure effective operation for the lifetime of the 
development.

7.19 It is the applicant’s intention to offer the proposed sustainable drainage 
scheme for adoption by Untied Utilities under section 104 of the Water Industry Act 
1991. The applicant has submitted a copy of their application, along with details of 
where the process is currently up to. At this stage formal approval has not been 
agreed with United Utilities, and therefore until this matter is resolved, it is 
recommended that this condition is not agreed. However as the applicant is actively 

Page 88



involved in ongoing discussions with Untitled Utilities, it is recommended that this 
matter be delegated to the Chair of the Committee and the Head of Development 
Services to agree, once confirmation has been received from Untied Utilities and 
applicant that the proposed sustainable drainage system will be adopted.  

7.20   Condition 16 states:

Prior to the first occupation of the first dwelling, details of the proposed arrangements 
for future management and maintenance of the proposed streets within the 
development have been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 
The streets shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved 
management and maintenance details until such time as an agreement has been 
entered into under section 38 of the Highways Act 1980.

Reason:- In the interests of highway safety and future residents , in accordance with 
Policy CF6 of the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

7.21 The applicant is currently progressing with a section 38 agreement with 
Derbyshire County Council. A section 38 agreement is a section of the Highway Act 
1980 which can be used by a developer to construct a new access road and offer the 
road for adoption to the Local Highway Authority. Once approved the majority of the 
new estate roads will be adopted by Derbyshire County Council.  There are a 
number of small shared access roads which typically serve 3-4 properties. In this 
case, the shared access roads will be conveyed to individual homeowners, who will 
be responsible for the future maintenance and management of the shared access. 
The Highway Authority confirms that the details submitted are acceptable and that 
the applicant is at an advanced stage of the adoption process. The adoption of the 
roads will maintain highway safety for the benefit of future residents and accordingly 
it is recommended that this condition be agreed.  

7.22    Condition 18 states:

No development shall take place including any works of demolition until a 
construction management plan or construction method statement has been 
submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved plan/statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The 
statement shall provide for:
a. parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
b. routes for construction traffic
c. pedestrian and cyclist protection, including those using the Midshires Way
d. proposed temporary traffic restrictions
e. arrangements for turning vehicles
f. roadside hoarding and construction access arrangements
g. the storage of plant and materials, site accommodation, loading and unloading 
and manoeuvring of good vehicles

Reason:- In the interests of highway safety and the amenity of neighbouring 
properties, in accordance with Policies EQ6 and CF6 of the High Peak Local Plan 
2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 89



7.23   Following the initial comments by the Highway Authority, the applicant has 
submitted revised details.  Taking each of the criteria in turn, the following is 
proposed:

a. Parking for site operatives would be placed towards the northern boundary of the 
site in a designated area.
b. Routes for construction traffic will be via Linglongs Road, it is proposed to  create  
a temporary access which will be used until the permanent access is created.
c. The CMP identifes that the Midshires Way will need to be temporarily closed whilst 
some of the construction works take place. This will need to be agreed with the 
County Council Public Rights of Way team. Thereafter, once these works have been 
completed, fencing will be erected to ensure that pedestrian/cyclists are segreagated 
from the construction works. 
d. Temporary traffic management will take the form of temporary traffic lights along 
Linglongs Road, 2 or 3 way temporary traffic controls, or stop and go boards. It is not 
anticipated that any temporary traffic management will be required along 
Macclesfield Road, other than to faciltitate the installation of temporary diversion of 
footways.  All works within the public highway (e.g. road widening works to Linglongs 
Road, construction of new kerbs and footways) will be the subject of a section 278 
agreement under the Highway Act, which will be a matter for the Local Highway 
Authority to approve.  
e. The site compound area will be positioned adjacent to the proposed site 
operatives parking area towards the northern boundary, where vehicles will be able 
to access and turn. 
f. Heras fencing will be placed along the external boundaries of the site to secure the 
site. Construction access will be taken from a temporary access point along 
Linglongs Road, until the permanent access is constructed. 
g. The storage of plant and materials, site accommodation, loading and unloading 
and manoeuvring of good vehicles will all take place in an area located towards the 
northern boundary. Within the compound area, welfare facilities, including 
portacabins, WC’s and storage areas will be provided.  

The above details have been reviewed by the Highway Authority and found to be 
acceptable. On this basis, it is considered that the details are acceptable and will 
ensure that matters relating to highway safety and residential amenity are 
addressed. Accordingly it is recommedned that this condition be agreed.         

    
7.24  Condition 21 states:

With the exception of the works referred to in condition 20, no development shall 
take place until the layout and construction details of the residential estate roads and
footways (including layout, levels, gradients, surfacing / construction materials, 
means of surface water drainage and street lighting) have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

 Reason:- In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CF6 of the 
High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

7.25      At the present time, the applicant is in the process of having the road design 

Page 90



approved by Derbyshrie County Council, with a view to the adoption of the roads by 
a section 38 agreement. As set out in the repsonse by the Highway Authority, this 
process is still ongoing, and therefore it is recommended that the detail of this 
condition be delegated to the Chair of the Committee and the Head of Development 
Services to agree, following confirmation by Derbyshire County Council that the 
submitted details are approved.       

7.26  Condition 29 states:

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of secure cycle 
parking facilities for the occupants of, and visitors to, the development hereby 
approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These facilities shall be fully implemented and made available for use prior 
to the occupation of the development hereby permitted and shall thereafter be 
retained for use at all times.

Reason:- In pursuit of sustainable transport objectives, in the interests of highway 
safety, in accordance with Policy CF6 of the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

7.27  Revised details have been submitted following the intial comment by the 
Highway Authority. The revised details show the provision of sheds for the purpose 
of cycle storage to all plots throughout the site. The Highway Officer has reviewed 
the details and raises no objection. Accordingly, the provision of sheds will provide 
cycle storage to make provision for alternative sustainable transport options for 
future residents, and therefore it is recommended that this condition be agreed. 

7.28 Condition 32 states:

With the exception of the works required by condition 20, prior to the commencement 
of the development details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority showing the means to prevent the discharge of water from the 
development onto the adjoining highway and its disposal. The approved scheme 
shall be undertaken and completed prior to the first use of the access and retained 
as such thereafter.

Reason:- In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CF6 of the
High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

7.29 The submitted details show that the run off water from the development will 
not discharge across the highway, with gullies and channels will be provided to 
capture surface water run off. The Highway Officer confirms that this is acceptable, 
commenting that the Highway Authority as part of their inspections for the adoption 
of the road will ensure that these are installed. On the basis that the highway 
authority raises no objection to the details provided, the means of preventing the 
discharge of water onto the adjoining highway is acceptable and it is recommended 
that this condition detail is agreed. 

7.30 Condition 33 states: 

Page 91



Prior to the construction of the new retaining wall/structure along Linglongs Road, 
details of the external materials to be used in its construction and the timetable for its 
construction shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Any wall shall be constructed, where possible, using reclaimed stone from 
the existing wall along Linglongs Road. The retaining wall/structure shall be 
constructed in accordance with the approved details and timetable.

Reason:- In the interest of visual amenity, in accordance with Policies S1 and EQ6 of 
the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework

7.31 The details submitted show that a new wall will be positioned behind the new 
footway to be provided along the eastern side of Linglongs Road. The wall will be 
1.2m in height and constructed with reclaimed natural stone. The wall will be 
completed once the site access and section 278 works (an agreement under the 
Highways Act 1980 which allows a developer to make alterations to a public 
highway) have been completed. The use of natural reclaimed materials will ensure 
that the character of the area is maintained to the benefit of the visual amenity of the  
area. Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.   

Other Matters 

7.32 It is noted that a number of objections have been received in respect of this 
application, but refer to conditions imposed on the grant of outline consent, 
HPK/2017/0694. Therefore these objections will be considered under 
DOC/2017/0071 and the specific conditions they relate to. 

8. Conclusion & Planning Balance 

8.1 This application does not represent an opportunity to revisit the principle of 
development, the principle having been agreed under outline consent 
HPK/2017/0694 and the reserved matters agreed under HPK/2017/0247. The 
agreement of the above conditions will ensure that the site is developed in a manner 
which does not harm residential amenity, highway safety, existing landscape 
features, including protected trees. 

8.2 Taking into account all comments from statutory consultees and third party 
comments, it is considered that the information submitted for the above conditions is 
acceptable and therefore should be agreed with the exception of conditions 15 and 
21 which should be delegated to the Chairman and Head of Development Services 
to agree following receipt of DCC comments.  

RECOMMENDATION

A. That, Delegated Authority be given to the Chairman of Committee in 
consultation with the Head of Development Services to agree to conditions 15 
and 21 and all other the conditions listed above imposed on HPK/2017/0247 be 
agreed. 

Page 92



B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision.

Informatives

During the course of the application, the Local Planning Authority has sought further 
clarification on the conditions, accordingly paragraph 38 of the NPPF has been 
adhered to. 

Site Plan

The Site

50 100

metres
0

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



1

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 7th October 2019

Application 
No:

HPK/2018/0551 

Location Howard Town Brewery, Hawkshead Mill, Hope Street, 
Glossop. 

Proposal Proposed change of use of the existing B2 use class (general 
industrial) to a Sui Generis (Brew shop with ancillary tasting 
room and provision of bar snacks).

Applicant Howard Town Brewery 
Agent
Parish/ward Old Glossop Ward Date registered 3rd December 

2018. 
If you have a question about this report please contact: Faye Plant, 
Faye.plant@highpeak.gov.uk 01538 395400 ext. 4995 

1. REFERRAL 

1.1  Members will recall the above application was deferred at the meeting of 
20th May 2019, whereby Members requested additional information regarding 
the operations at the Brewery, and clarification on ownership and highway 
boundaries. 

1.2  The applicant has submitted the required information which seeks to 
confirm previously unclear matters and is detailed below;

 Updated location plan detailing Howard Town Brewery ownership and 
rented accommodation,

 Amended parking layout demonstrating 9 customer parking spaces and 
4 staff parking spaces.

 Extract from Howard Town Brewery Business Plan explaining the 
operation of Tap House and shop and Brewery Tours. It is noted that the 
hours of use described in the expansion plan have altered slightly and 
are now 10am until 7pm, not 6pm as previously proposed. 

1.4 This report deals only with the updated plans and information and should 
be read in conjunction with the previous report (appended) which deals with all 
other planning considerations.

1.3  The application details, including the updated information, representations 
and responses from consultees, can be found on the Council’s website at:-
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID
=228691 

2. CONSULATION RESPONSES 

Page 95

Agenda Item 9

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=228691
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=228691


2

Highway Authority – Comments on amended details – As previously stated, in 
order to reduce the likelihood of the proposed development having a 
detrimental impact on future operation of the local highway network (e.g. 
obstruction of carriageways/footways/visibility envelopes etc) an adequate level 
of off-street parking should be demonstrated and maintained. 

The proposed layout would not doubt make optimum use of an area proposed 
for parking although this would involve the use of parking spaces of deficient 
dimension [4.8m in length x 3m in width] to current recommendations and sub-
standard exit visibility. However, the area is currently open for use for this 
purpose therefore formalising parking spaces and identifying an area to be 
maintained clear to maximise exit visibility (i.e Keep Clear within the proposed 
hatched area would further encourage parking close to the building) would be 
considered an improvement on the existing situation.  

Whilst the Highway Authority cannot condone use of sub-standard parking 
spaces, if you are satisfied that the proposed level of off-street parking 
provision identified is adequate to serve the development proposals and 
bearing in mind the current situation, it is suggested that an objection of 
highway grounds to the proposed parking layout would likely prove 
unsustainable at any appeal. 

Therefore, if minded to approve the proposals it is recommended that the 
following condition is included within the consent:-  

1. Prior to the development, the subject of the application, being taken 
into use, space shall be provided within the application site in accordance with 
the approved application drawings for the parking/loading and 
unloading/manoeuvring of visitors/staff/customers/service and delivery 
vehicles, laid out, surfaced, marked out using suitable materials as agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority free from any impediment to its 
designated use.    

Environmental Health – No objections to hours of operation of 10am until 7pm. 

3. OFFICER COMMENT 

3.1 The updated location plan showing ownership, the revised parking plan and 
supplementary business operation information seek to respond to the 
information requested by Members following the Development Control 
Committee held in May. 

3.2 The amended location plan confirms the site area, and owned and rented 
land. The proposed parking area is located to the front of the brewery owned 
land and seeks to formalise the existing parking to the front of the building. 

3.3  The updated location plan business plan clarifies operations at the site and 
details the planned gradual increase in opening hours to include Thursday 
opening from 2020 and an increase in hours to 7pm from the originally 
proposed 6pm. The business plan states that weekday visits to the shop are no 

Page 96



3

more than 2/3 per day with a majority of visitors on Brewery open days arriving 
on foot. It is noted that this survey is undertaken by the Brewery and does not 
include regular weekends (i.e without special event) however it demonstrates 
that parking is not in significant demand during weekdays or Brewery open 
days.    

3.4 Modern day standards require parking bays of 5.5m in length and a 2m 
visibility splay. On residential estates, this would normally be achieved by the 
footway / verge / service strip between the property frontage and the 
carriageway. In this case the parking space finishes at the carriageway edge.  

3.5 However, the former standards, which were used for many years, were 
4.8m long parking bays (they have been lengthened to 5.5 because cars 
generally larger now). These can be found still operating successfully in 
practice in many locations, and thus it would be hard to sustain a refusal of the 
parking bay size if 4.8m could be achieved.   

3.6 When measured on site the frontage is approximately 6m wide. If a 4.8m 
bay was provided at 90 degrees to the road this would leave a visibility splay of 
c. 1.2m before the edge of the carriageway. Again this is substandard but does 
at least provide some betterment over the current situation.    

3.7 It has therefore been suggested that the applicant provides 4.8m bays 
marked out right up to the building wall and between the carriageway edge and 
the bays provide a demarcated  “hatched” area to encourage visitors to leave 
the visibility splay clear and to park right up to the building. It is also suggested 
that any obstacles (such as the pipes we looked at) weeds etc are cleared from 
alongside the building to encourage drivers to pull as far on as possible. 

3.8  The options of parallel and echelon parking have also been discussed but 
it was felt that these would not make best use of the space. The echelon 
arrangement also does not benefit visibility to any great extent and would 
increase traffic past the spaces as a result of people driving up the road and 
turning to come back. 

3.9 In summary, plans have been amended to reflect the above, and whilst 
this does not meet modern standards, it does represent the optimum layout and 
officers are of the view that it would be difficult for us to sustain a refusal on 
highway grounds. Furthermore, whilst the proposed parking layout is  
substandard in its parking space dimensions, this will formalise and improve an 
existing situation by demarcating spaces thus encouraging a better use of the 
parking spaces and keeping a visibility splay clear with a designated hatched 
area.  

3.10  The business plan concludes a low level of journeys are undertaken by 
car and a planned maximum 3 part time staff with Tap staff working 
complementary hours to Brewhouse staff (i.e brew staff work early morning 
until afternoon, Tap staff afternoon to evening). 

Page 97



4

3.11 On balance, the proposals are considered to provide an adequate level of 
parking for the proposed brewery tap and shop, in addition to the existing 
brewery. Whilst there may be intensification in vehicular activity and a greater 
demand for parking spaces, the formalisation and laying out of the parking area 
to distinguish this from the traffic lane as shown in the amended plans is 
considered to be an improvement from the current position. The parking spaces 
leave ample traffic lane width on Hawkshead Road for future planned 
development. The specification of the parking area can be confirmed via 
condition. As such the proposals are considered to comply with the 
requirements paragraph 108 of NPPF and policy CF6 of the High Peak Local 
Plan 2016. 

3.12 Environmental health raise no objection to the amendment in opening 
hours. The proposed use is considered in the context of the extant B2 use 
which could generate noise and activity commensurate with industrial use; and 
the distances from existing residential properties. The opening hours are 
therefore considered acceptable and in accordance with the provisions of Local 
plan policy EQ6 and paragraphs 127 and 180 of the NPPF in this regard.  

4. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSIONS

4.1 In respect of the three dimensions to sustainable development contained 
within the Framework, it is considered that the diversification of the brewery to 
introduce ancillary experiences such as a tasting room with snacks and shop 
will contribute to economic growth. The proposed development would also 
provide wider economic and social benefits arising from visitors to the brewery 
and will supplement the drinking establishments on offer in the locality. 
Improvements to the existing parking area and supplementary information has 
demonstrated that the proposal will have a satisfactory impact on the 
surrounding highway and will not harm the safety of highway users. As such, 
the proposed development accords with Local Plan policies S1 and S1a 
(sustainability) and all other relevant Local Plan policies. Therefore the 
application should be approved without delay, in accordance with para 11 of 
the NPPF.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. APPROVE, subject to the following conditions: 

Condition ref 
number

Brief Description Comment

TL01 3 Year Time Limit.
AP01 Approved / Amended 

plans
DE03 Matching materials [for 

doorway and brickwork]
NONSTD Submission of parking 

space detail prior to laying 
out parking spaces

Page 98



5

HR02 Hours of use 10am until 
10pm Monday to 
Saturday, 10am until 7pm 
on Sundays. 

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/ 
informatives/planning obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services has 
delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Planning Applications Committee, provided that the changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. During the course of the consideration of the application the Council 
sought amendments to the proposals to ensure that it was clear that highway 
safety would not be affected. After a consideration of the issues it is considered 
reasonable to limit the duration of this permission to allow for the full impact of 
the development on the surrounding highway network to be assessed. It is 
therefore considered that the requirements of paragraph 38 the NPPF have 
been met. 

Site Plan
   

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



1

APPENDIX 1: Original committee report for HPK/2018/0551

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 20th May 2019

Application 
No:

HPK/2018/0551 

Location Howard Town Brewery, Hawkshead Mill, Hope Street, 
Glossop. 

Proposal Proposed change of use of the existing B2 use class (general 
industrial) to a Sui Generis (Brew shop with ancillary tasting 
room and provision of bar snacks).

Applicant Howard Town Brewery 
Agent Miss Hannah Lucitt
Parish/ward Old Glossop Ward Date registered 3rd December 

2018. 
If you have a question about this report please contact: Faye Plant, 
Faye.plant@highpeak.gov.uk 01538 395400 ext. 4995 

REFERRAL

The application is referred to the committee due to the level of local interest.  

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE FOR A TEMPORARY PERIOD OF 3 YEARS subject to 
conditions;

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site is located within an existing industrial unit on Hope 
Street, Glossop. The site is currently part of the industrial unit where part of the 
brewing process for Howard Town Brewery takes place. 

2.2 To the north is the site of the now demolished Hawkshead Mill, with 
residential properties to the north east, south and west. The former Hawkshead 
mill site is an allocated housing site in the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and has 
a resolution of approval from the Planning committee, ref HPK/2014/0573 for 
outline consent for 31 dwellings (subject to a Section 106 and updated 
ecological surveys). 

2.3 The site to which the application relates is accessed at the south 
western end of the building via brick steps to a personnel entrance door. 
Parking is informally laid out along the western frontage of the building with 
most vehicles parking at 90 degrees to the building. 

Page 101



2

2.4 For the purposes of the High Peak Local Plan, the site is within the built 
up area boundary of Old Glossop with the boundary of the Conservation area 
to the south west of the site, at the junction of Hope Street and Hawkshead 
Road. 

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 This application seeks consent for change of use of part of the existing 
unit from its current B2 (general industrial) use to a Sui Generis use for a 
brewery shop with ancillary tasting room and provision of bar snacks. It is 
proposed to modify the internal layout to provide for a bar with seating area and 
shop and a separate kitchen area and washroom facilities. It is proposed to 
increase the level of staff from 5 to 7 with the addition of 2 part time members 
of staff. 

3.2 The planning statement outlines that Brewery tours are to be offered 
with on and off sales of beer and merchandise. Proposed opening hours of the 
brewery tap would be Thursday – Saturday 12pm until 10pm and Sunday 12pm 
to 5pm whilst the shop would be accessible 10-6pm each day. However as the 
tap and shop occupy the same space the building would effectively be open 
until 10pm as it utilises the same access.  

3.2 External works proposed include the alteration of a personnel door to a 
window, removal of brick and concrete step and provision of a balustrade 
around the new entrance point. The application form states that there are 6 
existing parking spaces off Hawkshead Road with an additional 4 provided. 
Following comments from the highway authority, a revised plan was submitted 
during the course of the application to show parking for 15 vehicles at 90 
degrees to the existing factory building. 

3.3 The application, the details attached to it, including the plans, comments 
made by residents and the responses of the consultees can be found on the 
Council’s website at:

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID
=228691 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 The following is a summary of the relevant planning applications relating 
to and neighbouring the site.

HPK/0001/4658 – Demolition of existing works and erection of new factory – 
Approved
HPK/0001/4659 – Redevelopment of Existing Premises – Approved 

Neighbouring Site at Hawshead Mill

Page 102

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=228691
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=228691


3

HPK/2014/0573 – Outline planning permission for proposed demolition of all 
remaining buildings and redevelopment of site to provide up to 31 dwellings – 
Resolution to approve subject to S106 and submission of reptile and great 
crested newt survey – Planning committee 11TH July 2016. 

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID
=177364 

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan Submission 2016

S1 – Sustainable Development Principles
S1a – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 – Settlement Hierarchy
S3 – Strategic Housing Development
S4 – Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic Base
S5 – Glossopdale Sub-Area Strategy
EQ6 – Design and Place Making
EQ10 – Pollution Control and Unstable Land
E1 - New Employment Development
E6 – Promoting Peak District Tourism and Culture
CF6 – Accessibility and Transport

Supplementary Planning Guidance

High Peak Design Guide 2018
Sustainable Development

National Planning Policy Framework

Paragraph 11 The presumption in favour of sustainable development
Section 4 – Decision making 
Section 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy
Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport
Section 12 – Achieving well designed places

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 07/01/2019
Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 27/12/2018
Press notice Expiry date for comments: N/A

Public comments

Page 103

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=177364
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=177364


4

2 Letters of objection have been received and summarised below; 
 The area around Hope Street, Hawkshead road and Hawkshead Fold is 

already very congested due to residents cars.
 Cars have been damaged during a brewery delivery,
 Increase in noise from the proposed use,
 Old Glossop already has 3 pubs,
 The building is very close to existing residential properties and is noisy, 

particularly at night,
 Parking is a big problem in the locality and this will make matters worse.

3 Letters of support have been received as summarised below;
 An additional outlet will make Old Glossop a destination for ‘real ale’.
 The change of use is beneficial to the immediate locality,
 Use is a benefit to the community when balanced with what could be 

allowed under its existing B2 use,
 Tasting bars are readily associated with local benefits from increased 

commerce, employment and visitors.
 The use will be a tourist attraction,
 A tasting bar is different to a pub and should be considered 

synonymous or mutually exclusive,
 Any increase in traffic from this proposal will not be significant in relation 

to the proposed housing estate,
 At a time when small brewers and pubs are closing across the country 

we should be supporting this venture wholeheartedly.

Ruth George MP comments as follows;

I was asked by the applicant to visit the site and view the parking and highways 
arrangements for the business. The opening of the Tap Room is integral to the 
business’s expansion plans, into which considerable personal investment has 
been made.

The business needs to grow in order to create additional employment to 
maximise their markets. As such, the opening of the Tap House would create 
additional employment over and above the jobs to serve customers, and would 
enable this expanded local business to be sustainable.

In order to make the required additional investment to open the Tap House as 
proposed, the business would require the certainty of a permanent decision.
It would not be viable for any business to invest if they may only be able to be 
open for a few years. Having looked at the existing and proposed parking 
arrangements and the comments from Highways, it appears that Howard Town 
Brewery’s plans are being impacted by the possible development of 
Hawkshead Mill for up to 31 houses.

The original Transport Plan for the Hawkshead Mill development appears 
unrealistic – it proposes 2m wide footways on each side of a 6m highway along 
Hawkshead Road, which would use the land owned by Howard Town Brewery 
for parking space.  The suggestion from Highways of a 1.2m footway with 

Page 104



5

2.5mm kerb and a 5.3m highway, both to join up to Hope Street, could again 
encroach onto Howard Town Brewery land, but would also take away the 10 or 
so parking spaces off Hawkshead Road, next to the junction with Hope Street, 
that are used by local residents, exacerbating the parking issues in the area.

As Hope Street itself is only 4.6m wide in places, and is used along its length 
for on-street parking by residents, it appears that this access is unlikely to be 
viable for the volume of traffic that will be generated by development of the 
Hawkshead Mill site, especially construction traffic. Proposed government 
legislation on pavement parking would make access along Hope Street even 
more narrow as many cars currently park on the pavement, making it too 
narrow for a pushchair or wheelchair. Realistically, a different access to the 
Hawkshead Mill site will be necessary for the development to proceed. Access 
to the residential development site has not yet been considered and, as such, 
should not prejudice the development subject of this application.

As this development has stalled for several years now, it appears unjust to 
disadvantage a local business by making it impossible for them to use their 
very long-standing parking arrangements in order to take into account an 
access route that does not appear to be viable to a possible development.

I am afraid that such an argument as a reason for refusal of the application 
would compound views in Glossop that the Borough Council favours the 
interests of housing developers over those of existing local residents and 
businesses. 

Whilst I understand the need for additional housing, it is important that the 
highways infrastructure is capable of accommodating the additional traffic, and 
nowhere more so than in Glossop. As such, if the effect of the possible 
Hawkshead Mill development is to be taken into account in the response to the 
brewery’s application, I would echo the views of Cllr Greenhalgh that this is 
very much a decision that should be taken by elected councillors rather than by 
officers in order to best ensure transparency and accountability.”

High Peak Borough Councillor Damien Greenhalgh comments as follows;

I write in support of the application made by Howard Town Brewery.
Howard Town Brewery is valued by my constituents and the wider community 
and is a clear asset to the commercial and economic life of our town.

High Peak Borough Council wants to see thriving independent businesses with 
the local employment and revenue they bring. In Howard Town Brewery we 
have a considerate, community-minded and highly regarded local business. I 
understand that this application is integral to the business survival and would 
therefore recommend weight be given to the economic developments 
considerations in coming to a decision on this application.

Page 105



6

Consultee Comment Officer 
response

Highway 
Authority

Revised comments (May 2019);

Due to the existing use of Hawkshead 
Road, I would suggest that the proposals 
would be unlikely to have a major adverse 
impact on safe operation of the highway at 
the current time. Therefore, a temporary 
Consent will enable an assessment of
demand for parking space associated with 
the brewery site activities, once they have 
been brought into use, to be made and 
determine whether or not this would be 
suitable in the future for as and when 
development of the Hawkshead Mill site is 
carried out. 

It is noted that the revised plan does not 
include the accurate highway boundaries in 
order to demonstrate that the parking 
spaces can be accommodated clear of the 
public highway. 

Original comments (December 2018) – The 
submitted details propose the Change of 
Use of an existing industrial unit to a 
brewery shop with ancillary tasting room 
and provision of bar snacks served by 
10no off street parking spaces although 
only 8no are demonstrated on the site 
location plan. 

Direct vehicular access to the site is 
available from Hawkshead Road, a non-
classified public highway serving 
Hawkshead fold, other industrial units a 
farm as well as the Hawkshead Mill site. 
Although the development is proposed as 
‘ancillary’ it is open to the public any time 
during the proposed opening hours without 
appointment. I trust that your authority is 
satisfied that the level of off-street parking 
is adequate to meet your own authority’s 
standards with each space being 2.4m x 
5.5m, 2m clear of the nearside carriageway 
channel in order to protect exit visibility 
sightlines from each space. As you are 
aware, the proposals to development the 

7.11 – 
7.19

Page 106



7

former Hawkshead Mill Site as a residential 
estate include mitigation improvements to 
Hawkshead Road [this includes the 
provision of pedestrian facilities on 
Hawkshead Road] that may impact on 
areas within the red/blue line boundaries 
and possibly the current off street parking 
proposals for this development. As the 
development proposals will be likely to 
generate a significant increase in vehicular 
activity associated with the site its 
recommended that the applicant is 
requested to submit further details clearly 
demonstrating adequate off street parking 
clear of the highway with appropriate exit 
visibility sightlines to each space. 

Supplementary comments (March 2018) 
It’s appreciated that the Brewery currently 
uses the area between the building and 
highway for its parking needs and we are 
not aware of any complications arising from 
this. However, the future level and nature 
of vehicular and pedestrian use of 
Hawkshead Road is likely to change as a 
result of the Hawkshead Mill site being 
redeveloped and this in itself may lead
to a change in how the area would be 
utilised to serve the existing brewery 
operations e.g. reduced likelihood of 
vehicles being parked at 90° overhanging 
the carriageway channel.

Therefore, unless the applicant is able to 
submit accurate details to satisfactorily
demonstrate that the aforementioned likely 
increase in vehicular activity can be safely
accessed and accommodated, it’s 
considered that the development proposals 
would be likely to prejudice safe operation 
of the public highway in the future.

Environmental 
Health Officer

No objection subject to conditions relating 
to proposed hours as per the proposal, i.e. 
10am until 10pm 

7.9

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND PLANNING 
BALANCE 

Page 107



8

Planning policies / Principle of development

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to 
be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are 
material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) provides that 
in determining applications the local planning authority "shall have regard to the 
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application and to 
any other material considerations." The Development Plan currently consists of 
the adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016. 

7.3  The site is within an existing industrial premises within the development 
boundary of Glossopdale. Policy S4 of the local plan supports the appropriate 
improvement, enhancement and expansion of existing businesses whilst Policy 
S5 seeks to encourage the growth of local employment opportunities and 
supporting the diversification and growth of local business. As such the general 
principle of the development is acceptable subject to other material 
considerations as discussed below. 

Design, Layout and Character of the Area

7.4 Section 12 of the NPPF highlights that good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, it creates better places in which to live and work and 
helps make development acceptable to communities. Local Plan Policies S1 
and EQ6 seek to secure high quality design in all developments; developments 
are required to respond positively to the environment and contribute to local 
distinctiveness and sense of place by taking account of the distinct character, 
townscape and setting of the area. 

7.5 The external works required to facilitate the change of use are 
considered to be relatively minor, consisting of a new entrance door and 
balustrade, blocking up an existing doorway and amending an existing set of 
steps. The proposals are not considered to harm the industrial character or 
appearance of this building nor will they detract from the wider character of the 
area. The proposals are therefore considered to comply with the requirements 
of local plan policy EQ6 and section 12 of the NPPF in this regard.

Amenity

7.6 Paragraph 127 f) of the NPPF seeks to secure a high standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants. Local Plan Policy EQ6 requires 
that new development achieves a satisfactory relationship to adjacent 
development and does not cause unacceptable effects by reason of visual 
intrusion, overlooking, shadowing, overbearing effect, noise, light pollution or 
other adverse impacts on local character and amenity. Local plan policy EQ10 

Page 108



9

seeks to protect people and the environment from unsafe, unhealthy and 
polluted environments. 

7.7 The external works to the building to create an amended visitor entrance 
point will not harm residential amenity as a result of overlooking, loss of privacy 
or loss of light/shadowing as works are relatively minor and will not alter the 
access point to the premises. 
   
7.8 With regards to the proposed change of use, the planning application 
states that opening hours are to be different for the brewery tap/bar snacks and 
the shop. However, the uses are within the same premises and serviced by a 
single access point and are not therefore mutually exclusive. As such the 
maximum opening hours would be 10am-10pm Monday to Saturday and 10am 
until 5pm on Sundays. 

7.9 Residents have raised concerns about the increase in noise from 
patrons visiting the premises. However, the nearest residential properties are 
25m to the south, with others some 35m to the west, located at a lower level 
and behind established hedges. Whilst some noise from patrons may be 
appreciable, public highway surrounds the building and will generate some 
background noise in its own right. The change of use is also considered in the 
context of the extant B2 use which could generate noise and activity 
commensurate with an industrial use at this site. The Environmental Health 
Officer is satisfied that the maximum opening hours are acceptable in this 
location and should be the subject of an appropriate condition. Matters 
regarding the behaviour and noise of patrons could be controlled via other 
legislating bodies through Licencing and Environmental Health teams. 

7.10 Overall it is considered that the proposed development will not cause 
undue harm to the amenity of neighbouring properties and is therefore in 
accordance with Local Plan policy EQ6 in this regard.

Access and Highway safety

7.11 Paragraph 102 of the NPPF states that patterns of movement, streets, 
parking and other transport considerations are integral to the design of 
schemes and contribute to making high quality places. When assessing 
proposals it should be clear that appropriate opportunities to promote 
sustainable transport modes can be or have been taken up, safe and suitable 
access to the site can be achieved for all and significant impacts from 
development on the transport network in terms of capacity and congestion or 
on highway safety, can be mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

7.12 Paragraph 109 is clear that development should only be prevented or 
refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe.  Policy CF6 seeks to provide safe and sustainable access and 
ensure that development does not lead to an increase in on street parking. Car 
parking should be commensurate with Appendix 1 of the adopted Local Plan.

Page 109



10

7.13 Although the site benefits from extant use as an industrial premises, the 
Highway Authority consider that the introduction of a drinking establishment 
and shop would result in an intensification in vehicular activity particularly along 
Hawkshead road (to the front of the premises) through visits to the shop, and 
the brewery tap experience. The current parking associated with the unit is not 
formally laid out or designated. This parking would be placed in higher demand 
as a result of the proposals.

7.14 In addition, there is a resolution to develop the adjacent site which takes 
access from Hawkshead Road and therefore future highway safety has to be 
given due consideration as a part of these proposals. As part of the conditions 
for the residential application at the neighbouring site, the highway authority 
have recommended a 1.2m footway on the opposite side of Hawkshead Road 
with a low kerb installed on the brewery side in order to define the width of the 
highway available. Although this site has not received formal consent, there is a 
resolution for approval and the site is allocated for residential development in 
the adopted Local Plan. 

7.15 In cases where developments will lead to an increase in traffic or include 
parking provision, Local plan policy CF6 requires applicants to submit parking 
details based on an assessment of the parking needs of the development and 
the impact on the surrounding network. Whilst the revised plan submitted 
showed an increase in parking spaces, the plan is deficient as it does not show 
the highway boundary or an accurate parking layout. Following lengthy 
discussions with the agent it has not been possible to satisfy the requirement 
for parking for existing staff, proposed additional staff members and the 
anticipated visitor numbers.

7.16 In the absence of an accurate parking layout plan, an assessment of the 
parking needs of the proposal and increased use of informal potentially sub-
standard parking spaces, the applicant is not able to demonstrate compliance 
with paragraph 109 of the NPPF; that the proposal would not have an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety. 

7.17 It is accepted that the use may not create a significant increase in 
vehicular movements and sufficient safe parking may be achievable within the 
site in alternative arrangements or locations within the red line. However, 
without this information it is considered appropriate to recommend a ‘trail run’ in 
the form of a temporary 3 year consent to enable to applicant to monitor and 
assess visitor numbers. During this time, it is also possible that both outline and 
reserved matters consents will be secured for the neighbouring Hawkshead Mill 
site which will further inform the proposals in terms of the proposed highway 
improvements to Hawkshead Road in front of the site and in terms of actual 
operation of the highway network should developments be underway or 
occupied. 

7.18 The benefit of a temporary consent will ensure that if the adjacent housing 
site does commence, the means of access, including those for pedestrians will 
not be prejudiced. Although the 2014 outline application for the Mill site did not 
agree means of access, Hawkshead Road is the only means of access into the 

Page 110



11

site and therefore it is reasonable and necessary to ensure that any future 
housing development on the site is not prejudiced. 

7.19 At the expiry of the temporary 3 year period, a further application to 
continue the use will be necessary and the Local Planning Authority, in 
consultation with the Highway Authority, will be able to assess the merits of the 
use in light of any impact during the period.

7.20 In light of the above, and with the use of a temporary period to assess 
the operation of the highway and parking requirements, the proposal is 
considered to comply with paragraph 54 of the NPPF, and section 9 of the 
NPPF and Local plan CF6 in this regard. 

8. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSIONS

8.1 In respect of the three dimensions to sustainable development contained 
within the Framework, it is considered that the diversification of the brewery to 
introduce ancillary experiences such as a tasting room with snacks and shop 
will contribute to economic growth. The proposed development would also 
provide wider economic and social benefits arising from visitors to the brewery 
and will supplement the drinking establishments on offer in the locality. These 
factors weigh in favour of the development.  However, there is potential 
environmental harm as a result of the impacts on the safety of highway users 
and the potential to harm to the safe operation of the surrounding highway 
network. Without adequate information to demonstrate compliance with the 
Local and National planning policy in this regard, it is considered appropriate to 
allow for the use to operate for a limited time. 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. APPROVE, subject to the following conditions: 

Condition ref 
number

Brief Description Comment

TL08 3 Year Temporary Time 
Limit unless a further 
permission has been 
sought and granted.

AP01 Approved / Amended 
plans

DE03 Matching materials [for 
doorway and brickwork]

Page 111



12

HR02 Hours of use 10am until 
10pm Monday to 
Saturday, 10am until 6pm 
on Sundays. 

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/ 
informatives/planning obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to 
the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services has 
delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Planning Applications Committee, provided that the changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. During the course of the consideration of the application the Council 
sought amendments to the proposals to ensure that it was clear that highway 
safety would not be affected. After a consideration of the issues it is considered 
reasonable to limit the duration of this permission to allow for the full impact of 
the development on the surrounding highway network to be assessed. It is 
therefore considered that the requirements of paragraph 38 the NPPF have 
been met. 

Site Plan

Page 112



13

   

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

7th October 2019

Application No: HPK/2018/0143

Location Land at Forge Road, Chinley
Proposal Residential development comprising 12 dwellings (open 

market and affordable), public open space and associated 
infrastructure together with a new car park for 1st Chinley 
Scout Group.

Applicant Wain Homes (North West) Ltd
Agent Hourigan Connolly
Parish/ward Chinley Date registered 15th May 2018
If you have a question about this report please contact: Rachael Simpkin  
rachael.simpkin@highpeak.gov.uk  01538 395400 ext. 4122

1. REFERRAL

1.1 This planning application has been referred to DC Committee as it is categorised as a 
major development.

2. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE, subject to conditions and the completion of s106 planning obligation 
securing matters of onsite affordable housing provision and education 
contributions by the 7th October 2019 (the determination date in the event of an 
otherwise suitable and agreed time extension with the Council).

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

3.1 The scheme relates to a 1.12 hectare greenfield site, which fronts onto Forge Road.  It 
is designated as open countryside within the landscape character type of the Settled 
Valley Pastures.  The Chinley and Whitehough Conservation Area lies immediately to the 
site’s west boundary.  This boundary adjoins the residential curtilage to Spring Meadow as 
well as the Scout Hut / Community Hall, which also falls on land designated as open 
countryside.  The southern boundary adjoins the Peak Forest Tramway Trail beyond which 
is Green Belt land.  Directly to the east is the former Dorma Works, a large scale 
residential / mixed use scheme covering a total site area of 12.44 ha, which si currently 
under construction.  

3.2 The wider development site lies in a dip to the south of the village of Chinley and north 
of the hamlet of Whitehough being nestled between Black Brook to the north and the Peak 
Forest Tramway to the south.  The Black Brook watercourse lies adjacent on the northern 

Page 115

Agenda Item 10



side of Forge Road beyond which is Foresters Close within the Whitehough Built up Area 
Boundary and Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan Area.  To the north of the defined 
village settlement boundary is the Peak District National Park.

3.3 Aligning the eastern boundary of the site is PROW (Public Right of Way) 124, which 
links Forge Road to the Tramway.  The open ditch / stream broadly follow the course of 
the footpath between Forge Road and the Tramway.  Beyond the footpath is the 
completed and occupied children’s crèche building with car parking area.  There are some 
habitats of local value within the site, as well as mature tree cover to the site boundaries.  
The application site is located within flood zones 1, 2 and 3a.

3.4 The unadopted access into the site from Forge Road, currently serves the scout hut, 
crèche and a row of residential properties known as ‘Forge Terrace’, which are located 
further along this road.  It also forms the residential access into the wider application site 
referred to as Forge Manner.  This comprises of 159 homes (some of which are now 
occupied), functional nursery with outline planning permission for an employment building.  
Forge Road is intended to be adopted following upgrading works and will be maintained by 
the Local Highways Authority in the future.

3.5 The villages of Chinley and Whitehough benefit from a range of local shops, post 
office, public houses and a local primary school  Chinley Railway Station is 700 metres 
away and provides mainline services to Manchester and Sheffield.  Bus services from 
Chinley also provide links to the local towns of Chapel-en-le-Frith and Glossop.

4. THE APPLICATION PROPOSAL

4.1 The “revised” full application submission seeks approval for residential development 
comprising of 12 dwellings (open market and affordable), public open space and 
associated infrastructure together with a new car park for 1st Chinley Scout Group.  The 
amended submission represents a scheme reduction from 17 to 12 dwellings.  The 
negotiated amendments are intended to address design, heritage and tree impact issues 
as raised by Officers during the determination of the scheme as will be discussed in further 
detail below.

4.2 The car parking element of the scheme would provide for 20 spaces in association with 
1st Chinley Scout Group as well as the general community use of the hall.  It would be 
positioned to the site frontage facing Forge Road behind a proposed planted buffer and to 
the western side of the proposed access road serving the residential aspect of the site.  
Sole vehicular access to the car park would be directly off Forge Road.  To the east of the 
car park, a separate access off Forge Road would lead into a cul-de-sac type arrangement 
serving the 12 properties.  

4.3 A proposed planting buffer would separate the rear gardens of plots 1 to 7 from the 
eastern boundary which lies adjacent to the conservation area boundary and extended 
garden to the neighbouring dwelling Sycamore Meadow.  Similarly, but to a lesser degree, 
further planting is proposed to the site’s southern boundary adjoining the Tramway in 
relation to plots 8 to 11.  An ecological landscaped area would be nestled between the 
proposed internal access road and site’s eastern boundary, which abuts the PROW with 
the crèche beyond and would culminate at Plot 12.  A footpath link is proposed to PROW 

Page 116



124, which would traverse across the ecological area, with proposed bridge over the open 
ditch watercourse.

4.4 The revised dwelling types as proposed in this scheme are as follows:

 2-bed Britten x 2 (affordable provision) @ 2b4p 79.5sqm GIA (semi-detached)
 2-bed Brancaster SA x 2 @ 2b3p plus study 83.61sqm GIA (semi-detached)
 4-bed Priestly x 3 @ 4b6p 142.4sqm GIA (detached)
 4-bed Shakespeare x 2 @ 125.4sqm 4b6p (detached with integral garage)
 5-bed Richmond x 2 @ 5b9p 200.5sqm GIA (detached)
 5-bed Raleigh x 1 @ 5b10p 254.6sqm GIA (detached)

4.5 These house types would be presented as a combination of semi-detached (4) and 
detached (8) properties of a two and two-half storey scale.  Each dwelling would benefit 
from off-street parking provision and a rear garden.  Plots 9, 10, 11 and 12 would further 
benefit from detached garages.

4.6 Facing materials proposed to the walls would be the ‘Darlestone Buff Black Pitched 
Artstone’ beneath a Marley Edgemere grey roof tile.  Chimneys are proposed to all house 
types.  Detailed landscaping proposals, including an aboricultural report accompany the 
revised planning application submission.

4.7  The application and details attached to it, including the plans, supporting documents, 
representations made by residents and the responses from consultees - can be found on 
the Council’s website at:-

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=222968

5. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

HPK/2016/0313 Reserved Matters application with details of the appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale for Phase  2 of the residential 
development comprising of 62 dwellings and associated works pursuant 
to planning appeal reference APP/H1033/A/13/21898819 
(HPK/2012/0312).  Approved November 2017.

HPK/2014/0582 Erection of a building to accommodate a D1 day nursery with ancillary 
worker accommodation and construction of a bin store – Approved 
February 2015. 

HPK/2013/0577 Application for Approval of Reserved Matters following Outline Approval 
For Phase  1 - Construction Of 91 No. Dwellings, 1no. B1 Office Unit 
And 1no.D1 Creche Unit Including Access From Green Lane / 
Whitehough Head Lane and Associated Works (Reserved Matters - 
Large-Scale Major) – Approved January 2014.

HPK/2012/0323 Demolition of remaining structures & redevelopment for up to 182 
dwellings, up to 1,672 sqm business floorspace (use class B1), up to 
279sqm of non residential institution floorspace (use class D1), 

Page 117

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=222968


community facilities & associated infrastructure – Allowed at appeal 
May 2013.

HPK/2011/0683 Outline application for the redevelopment of the site – Withdrawn 
February 2012.

6. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

Adopted High Peak Adopted Local Plan 2016

Policy S1 Sustainable Development Principles
Policy S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy S2 Settlement Hierarchy
Policy S3 Strategic Housing Development
Policy S6 Central Sub-area Strategy
Policy EQ1 Climate Change
Policy EQ5 Biodiversity
Policy EQ6 Design and Place Making
Policy EQ7 Built and Historic Environment
Policy EQ8 Green Infrastructure
Policy EQ9 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
Policy EQ10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land
Policy EQ11 Flood Risk Management
Policy H1 Location of Housing Development
Policy H3 New Housing Development
Policy H4 Affordable Housing
Policy CF3 Local Infrastructure Provision
Policy CF5 Provision and Retention of Local Community Services and Facilities
Policy CF6 Accessibility and Transport
Policy CF7 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy

Supplementary Planning Guidance

 Residential Design (2018)
 Landscape Character Supplementary Planning Document (2006)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

7. CONSULTATIONS

Site notice Expired
Press notice Expired
Neighbours Expired

Third party representations are summarised as follows:

Page 118



Objections (16):

 The Parish of CELF has exceeded its Neigbourhood Plan targets in respect of 
housing numbers;

 It is further queried if there is a need for further housing in Whitehough, given the 
substantial number of houses approved for building on the adjacent site which have 
not yet been completed,  particularly as Whitehough is a small hamlet;

 The applicant has an outstanding planning permission in relation to Phase 2 to build 
an additional 30 homes on the adjoining site;

 The applicant has already had their previous application agreed and have 
constructed enough homes on brown field land. This is a new application on 
greenfield land;

 The applicant has further purchased land along the valley towards the sewage 
works for future building and therefore does not support the claim that houses are 
necessary for this scheme;

 Prior to the change in local greenspace rules, the site was designated as open 
countryside;

 The field is demonstrably special to the local community and holds local 
significance;

 The field used to be grazing land for cattle and sheep as well as providing an 
unofficial footpath;

 It provides a natural green barrier between the current development on the 
brownfield side and the conservation area boundary;

 The field is subject to flooding during winter months and this is also an issue for the 
tramway;

 Raising of the land could cause local dwelling flooding problems elsewhere;
 Surface water flooding has occurred onto the new  development from the Tramway;
 The site is not undeveloped scrub rather a wetland meadow and wildlife haven;
 It is a natural habitat for insects birds and mammals with thick vegetation and trees, 

including blackberries which provide food, cover and nesting sites;
 Although there is a plan to create a 'green space' area it will be impossible to re-

create this wildlife friendly habitat which will be gone forever;
 The scheme contrevenes the Local Plan which includes many references to 

ecological protection;
 A small stream runs through the site which adds to this valuable habitat which 

would also create drainage difficulties and the potential for flooding;
 The original application should not have been approved without a condition that an 

additional access was created;
 With the housing target already met there is no reason to approve the application 

and safeguard the junction from being subject to increased traffic;
 The relevant appeal decision conditions required structural highway improvements, 

particularly along Green Lane/Whitehough Head Lane in order to improve the safety 
of pedestrians using the unpaved thoroughfare;

 Forge Manor is still in progress and several dwellings are occupied and there has 
already been a considerable increase in the volume of vehicular traffic, including 
heavy goods, not only generated to and from Forge Manor, but also from Octavia 
Gardens and other areas of Chapel, where drivers are seeking a short cut to the 
A624 or to Chinley Station;  

Page 119



 Yet 5 years on, only one recently introduced, ineffective speed-bump has been 
installed along Green Lane;

 As a consequence, not just pedestrians, but all road users are at greater risk of 
death or injury, than ever before;

 Those conditions, particularly pedestrian safety measures should be met in full as a 
matter of urgency;

 As well, consultation should be undertaken with the Highways Authority to introduce 
and enforce a lower speed limit throughout Green Lane, Whitehough Head Lane, 
and a section of Crossings Road;

 Additionally, the white line road markings along Crossings Road, which have been 
removed should be restored, particularly between Manchester Road and Eccles 
Road;

 Insufficient infrastructure to support existing residential developments;
 It is acknowledged that a car park for 1st Chinley Scouts is required, however one 

had already been built and could have been offered to the scouts had it not been 
damaged by the builders and appears to be an opportunity to cram more houses in;

 The application site in its current state would offer a good opportunity for the scouts 
to enhance their environmental studies;

 Several mature trees at the site’s eastern boundary with Spring Meadow are subject 
to a TPO, however, the two sycamore trees within the SE corner have not been 
identified as such and the canopies and roots of the trees will take up 50% of plots 
6 and 7 garden area;

 A tree shown to be retained within the visibility of the application site and subject to 
a TPO has been removed which has been reported to the Council;

 It further raises concern regarding the safekeeping of other trees within along the 
boundary with Spring Meadow;

 Item 17 of the landscape and visual briefing note refers to the site falling gently in 
the direction of Blackbrook is disagreed with whereby the SW corner of the field 
approaching the tramway rises approximately 4/5 metres within c.12 metres;

 Any removal of this soil would undermine the side of the tram and disturb the 
protected trees;

 Spring Meadow would be the only existing property substantially affected by the 
proposed scheme with 7 houses abutting its eastern boundary as well as the 
conservation area and would require a substantial privacy fence should the scheme 
go ahead;

 The application site is at a lower level than Spring Meadow requiring a 3.5 to 4.0m 
screen to provide for adequate privacy levels;

 The Phase 3 plan to Sycamore Meadow is incorrect and may be misleading to other 
interested parties;

 The incorrect Conservation Area boundary has been put right in principle by the 
Council’s solicitor in a confirmed letter (as hand delivered to the Council);

 Building on the application site would block any remaining views currently enjoyed 
by visitors and residents to the tramway; and,

 Construction noise complaints in respect of the operation of the existing site.

Friends of the Peak District

Friends of the Peak District wishes to object to the above application.

Page 120



The site is not allocated for development, but has the potential to perform well against the 
criteria in the Local Plan policy H1 for developments outside the built-up area boundary. 
The question then is whether the proposals would constitute sustainable development, 
which H1 should enable, or whether other considerations go against the development on 
balance.  

In our view there are three strong reasons for refusal of this application:

1. The site provides a buffer of openness between the Forge Manor development, the 
Whitehough Conservation Area and the Peak Forest Tramway Trail, without which 
Whitehough would experience a loss of distinctiveness, running contrary to policy 
EQ7;

2. The boundary treatments of the recent adjacent development against the Tramway 
Trail are insensitive to this important heritage asset, having a suburbanising effect, 
and it appears that this application would extend and amplify that effect, putting the 
scheme at odds with policy EQ6;

3. The three affordable homes account to just 17% of the total provision, while eight of 
the homes are market homes of 4 or more bedrooms and will not be appropriate to 
addressing housing need in the area - and the proposal is therefore inconsistent 
with Policies H3 and H4.

In our view these problems mean that the proposal would not amount to sustainable 
development, and does not therefore trigger Policy H1. On the basis we ask that you 
refuse the application.

Support (1):

 The proposal will develop 17 badly needed new homes, including a number of 
affordable homes, on an area of scrubland which is currently un-managed and a 
wasted resource;

 The development of the old Forge Works is progressing well and the houses are 
clearly in demand judging by the level of occupancy already;

 Development of the application site for houses and a car park for the 1st Chinley 
Scouts will see the area 'rounded off', rather than left as un-managed, vacant and 
overgrown wasteland;

 The proposal will develop 12 new homes - including a number of affordable homes 
on an unmanaged scrubby site;

 This development of houses and a cap park for the Chinley Scouts is a natural final 
stage to the development in the area;

 The car park for Chinley Scouts is an important aspect of the application and one 
which must be given considerable weight in the decision on the application;

 As a parent of two boys who are in the Scout Group, I regularly drop off and pick up 
my boys at the Scout hut by car;

 As a father of 2, the car park for Chinley Scouts is a very important consideration. I 
regularly drop off and collect my daughter who is a Beaver Scout and the current 
parking arrangements are inconvenient and also a safety risk. 

 The parking in front of the hut is not just convenient for both parents and leaders, 
but essential. However it will soon be lost when Forge Road is upgraded and made 
ready for adoption in the near future;

Page 121



 The provision of a 20 space car park for the Scout Group as part of this application 
is therefore essential to prevent parking problems leading to highway safety issues.

1st Chinley Scout Group

The application has recently been revised and now proposes 12 dwellings (open market 
and affordable), public open space, associated infrastructure together with parking for the 
Scout Group.

Specifically, the Scout Group are strongly in support of the proposed car park, which is 
intended for all users of Victory Hall.  The Scout Group is a very active community 
organisation operating two Beaver Colonies, two Cub Packs, a Scout Troop and an 
explorer Group, with over 80 children in total.  In addition, Chinley Guide Group use our 
facilities, and the Hall is also regularly let out for private parties and events.  It is a well-
used facility but has not off road parking.

Until recently cars were able to park on Forge Road in the vicinity of Victory Hall, but with 
the road upgrade works which include installation of footways on either side, parking is no 
longer possible.  This causes issues for people visiting Victory Hall, such as Section 
Leaders and people attending events, not to mention parents dropping children off and 
picking up their children for the weekly Scouting sessions.

The Scout Group own the land that is proposed for the 20-space car park.  It is 
immediately adjoining the Victory Hall outdoor area and is a logical place for a car park for 
users of the Hall.  It will remove the existing issues at drop off and pick up times and will 
ensure that cars are not obstructing Forge Road.  The land is not used for any other 
purpose and with the design now proposed by Wain Homes, which includes extensive 
landscaping and a drystone wall, the proposed car park is fully supported by 1st Chinley 
Scout Group.

CONSULTATIONS:

Consultee Officer response 

Chapel-en-le-Frith 
Parish Council

Noted and discussed within 
the main body of the report.

01.05.19: Councillor Harris declared an interest.  No objection to the revised layout, 
however, the committee endorse the comments made by DCC Flood Risk Management 
Team. 

01.06.18: Strongly object.  Cllr Harrison declared an interest.  The proposed addition to 
the current site by way of an additional 17 houses is contrary to the Neighbourhood Plan 
and the HPBC Local Plan.  The proposed site was originally omitted from development as 
it created a green buffer between the village at Whitehough and the new development.  
The proposed will corrupt that green barrier and exacerbate the road safety issues.

Chinley Buxworth & 
Brownside Parish 

Noted and discussed within 
the main body of the report.

Page 122



Council

30.04.19: Chinley, Buxworth & Brownside Parish Council wish to confirm that their 
previous comments that were submitted on 2 July 2018 relating to this application still 
stand in relation to the revisions. We would however request that due consideration be 
given to local concerns regarding the risk of flooding at this site.

02.07.18: Comments: Although the proposed development site lies within Chapel-en-le-
Frith parish it adjoins Chinley and the impact of any development would be almost entirely 
on Chinley.

 
On balance, the Parish Council considers the proposed development is acceptable, 
subject to a S.106 agreement to mitigate its impact, for the following reasons:

 It would improve the appearance of the area, which otherwise would remain an 
untidy and unsatisfactory approach to the Forge Manor housing estate and the 
nursery 

 It would limit any disruption to the current building period rather than introducing a 
further period of disruption if and when developed in the future 

 The proposed car park for 1st Chinley Scouts is welcomed and considered 
essential for the safety of all users of Victory Hall 

 It seems to meet the tests of Policy H1 of the High Peak Local Plan 

 Whilst the Parish Council remains extremely concerned about the impact of the 
Forge Manor development on highway and pedestrian safety, the total number of 
dwellings (170) now proposed would be less than originally allowed by the Appeal 
Inspector (182)

If the Borough Council is minded to approve the application we request that any S.106 
agreement includes further monies for indoor and outdoor sport and recreation at the 
Lower Lane site in Chinley and additional works to improve highway and pedestrian 
safety. To this end discussions are already taking place with Derbyshire County Council.

N.B. Wainhomes have shown a willingness to engage with the Parish Council and to 
mitigate the impact of the Forge Manor development on Chinley. They have offered a 
£40,000 contribution to the project to refurbish Chinley Community Centre, on top of any 
S.106 monies required by HPBC. There is some concern locally that this may influence 
the Parish Council’s view. However, it was made clear to councillors that this offer stands 
regardless of whether or not the Parish Council supports this application.

DCC Local Highway 
Authority 

Conditional Response Refer to Highways Section

24.06.19: Recommend conditions: The proposed scouts car park shall not be taken into 
use until a new vehicular access has been formed to Forge Road in accordance with the 

Page 123



application drawing No 1566WHD/FRC-Ph301 revision J and provided with visibility 
sightlines extending from a point 2.4m from the carriageway edge, measured along the 
centreline of the access, for a distance of 33m in each direction measured along the 
nearside carriageway edge The land in advance of the visibility sightlines shall be 
retained throughout the life of the development free of any object greater than 1m in 
height (0.6m in the case of vegetation) relative to adjoining nearside carriageway channel 
level.

24.06.19: I have looked at the revised layout and submitted swept path analysis drawing 
and can confirm that revised details are now acceptable from highway viewpoint. I have 
therefore attached my formal response including revised recommended conditions and 
notes.

1. No development shall be commenced until a temporary access for construction 
purposes has been provided in accordance with a detailed design first submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The access shall be 
retained in accordance with the approved scheme throughout the construction 
period, or such other period of time as may be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, free from any impediment to its designated use.

2. Before any other operations are commenced, excluding construction of the 
temporary access referred to in Condition 1 above, space shall be provided within 
the site for storage of plant and materials, site accommodation, loading, unloading 
and manoeuvring of goods vehicles, parking and manoeuvring of employees and 
visitors vehicles, laid out and constructed in accordance with detailed designs first 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Once 
implemented the facilities shall be retained free from any impediment to their 
designated use throughout the construction period.

3. Throughout the period of development vehicle wheel cleaning facilities shall be 
provided and retained within the site. All construction vehicles shall have their 
wheels cleaned before leaving the site in order to prevent the deposition of mud 
and other extraneous material on the public highway.

4. No development shall take place including any works of demolition until a 
construction management plan or construction method statement has been 
submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved plan/statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. 
The statement shall provide for: 

 Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
 Routes for construction traffic, including abnormal loads/cranes etc. 
 Hours of operation
 Method of prevention of debris being carried onto highway 
 Pedestrian and cyclist protection 
 Proposed temporary traffic restrictions 
 Arrangements for turning vehicles 

5. No development shall take place until construction details of the residential estate 
road and footway (including layout, levels, gradients, surfacing and means of 

Page 124



surface water drainage) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

6. The carriageway of the proposed estate road shall be constructed in accordance 
with Condition 5 above up to and including at least road base level, laid out at least 
5m wide, prior to the commencement of the erection of any dwelling intended to 
take access from that road. The carriageway and footway shall be constructed up 
to and including base course surfacing to ensure that each dwelling prior to 
occupation has a properly consolidated and surfaced carriageway and footway, 
between the dwelling and the existing highway. Until final surfacing is completed, 
the footway base course shall be provided in a manner to avoid any upstands to 
gullies, covers, kerbs or other such obstructions within or abutting the footway. The 
carriageway and footway in front of each dwelling shall be completed with final 
surface course within twelve months (or three months in the case of a shared 
surface road) from the occupation of such dwelling, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

7. No part of the development shall be occupied until a new estate street junction has 
been formed to Forge Road in accordance with the application drawing No 
1566WHD/FRC-Ph301 revision J, and provided with visibility sightlines extending 
from a point 2.4m from the carriageway edge, measured along the centreline of the 
estate street junction, for a distance of 33m in each direction measured along the 
nearside carriageway edge. The area of land in advance of the sightlines being 
levelled, forming part of the new street, constructed as footway and not forming 
part of any plot or other sub-division of the site.

8. No part of the development shall be occupied until a new access to the scouts car 
park has been formed to Forge Road in accordance with the application drawing 
No 1566WHD/FRC-Ph301 revision J and provided with visibility sightlines 
extending from a point 2.4m from the carriageway edge, measured along the 
centreline of the access, for a distance of 33m in each direction measured along 
the nearside carriageway edge The land in advance of the visibility sightlines shall 
be retained throughout the life of the development free of any object greater than 
1m in height (0.6m in the case of vegetation) relative to adjoining nearside 
carriageway channel level.

9. No dwelling shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the site in 
accordance with drawing No1566WHD/FRC-Ph301 revision J for the parking of 
residents and visitors vehicles.

10.The garages / car parking spaces to be provided, shall be kept available for the 
parking of motor vehicles at all times. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order 
revoking and/or re-enacting that Order) the garages / car parking spaces hereby 
permitted shall be retained as such and shall not be used for any purpose other 
than the garaging of private motor vehicles associated with the residential 
occupation of the property without the grant of further specific planning permission 
from the Local Planning Authority.

11.The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until details of secure 

Page 125



cycle parking facilities for the occupants of, and visitors to, the development 
hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  These facilities shall be fully implemented and made available 
for use prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted and shall 
thereafter be retained for use at all times.

12.The proposed access driveways to the new estate street shall be no steeper than 
1in 14 for the first 5m from the nearside adoptable highway boundary and 1 in 10 
thereafter.

13.No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until surface water drainage works 
have been implemented in accordance with details that have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Before these details are 
submitted an assessment shall be carried out of the potential for disposing of 
surface water by means of a sustainable drainage system in accordance with the 
principles set out in Annex F of PPS25 (or any subsequent version), and the 
results of the assessment provided to the Local Planning Authority.  Where a 
sustainable drainage scheme is to be provided, the submitted details shall:

a. provide information about the design storm period and intensity, the method 
employed to delay and control the surface water discharged from the site 
and the measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater 
and/or surface waters; 

b. include a timetable for its implementation; and 
c. provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the 

development which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any 
public authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to 
secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime. 

14.Any gates shall open inwards only.

12.06.18: Conditional Response.

Environment Agency Refer to Technical Matters 
Section.

Revised comments awaited following reconsultation.

15.04.19: None of the uploaded documents relate to our previous comments regarding 
flood risk, therefore we wish for our previous comments issued 19th November 2018 to 
be carried forward and be consulted on any future changes with the application.

With reference to the revised FRA submitted with the application (B2086 version 04) 
dated 16/6/18 we can remove our objection to the proposal. However we wish to make 
the following comments on this proposal.
 
The revised FRA now includes reference to the potential flooding of Forge Road and 
identifies a pedestrian route to higher ground at the tramway footpath. Although an 
assessment of flood levels from Black Brook with the latest climate change allowance has 
not been provided, the FRA confirms that all proposed dwellings are sited above and 
outside the 0.1% AEP extreme flood level. This follows a sequential approach within the 

Page 126



development of directing more vulnerable dwellings to the lower risk parts of the site.
 
The revised FRA now also includes and assessment of the tributary watercourse and 
identifies a proposal to divert this to the edge of the eastern boundary in a new channel. 
This will require the approval of your LLFA engineers and they may request a planning 
condition relating to the design of this if considered acceptable in principle.
 
The FRA proposes a surface water attenuation pond within flood zone 2 which is not best 
practice. In the construction of this, ground levels should not be raised e.g. to form 
containment banks, and any storage requirements should be achieved by ground 
lowering. Your LLFA engineers should provide comment on the suitability of the surface 
water drainage arrangements.

Condition
If you are minded to approve the application the proposed development must proceed in 
strict accordance with the FRA (B2086 version 04) and the mitigation measures identified 
as it will form part of any subsequent planning approval. Any proposed changes to the 
approved FRA and / or the mitigation measures identified will require the submission of a 
revised FRA as part of an amended planning application.

Severn Trent Water Refer to Technical Matters 
Section.

Awaiting comments.

DCC Lead Local Flood 
Authority

Refer to Technical Matters 
Section.

No objection subject to conditions.

23.09.19 Thank you for the corresponding landscape drawings that correspond with the 
latest drainage strategy. The LLFA can confirm that these match.

Regarding the 16th August LLFA response, the Site Layout and Landscape drawing 
1566WHD/FRC-Ph301 from the applicant supplied on 13th August appears to show two 
attenuation areas which would therefore suggest that there could have been a different 
drainage strategy for that element, in relation to the pipe network beneath. 

However, the more recent LLFA response is on the basis that the newly supplied 
information suggests that the pipe network below has not actually been changed and will 
be in accordance to the 18th July response that the LLFA were able to provide a full 
response to.

18.07.19: The drainage strategy for the proposed 1.2 Ha development, according to 
separate technical notes and updates subsequent to the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), 
version 4, June 2018, is to dispose of surface water utilising a cellular storage tank via a 
Hydrobrake chamber through a tidal flap valve into a culverted section of an ordinary 
watercourse. This, then having crossed under Forge Road, outfalls into a main river, the 
Black Brook.

Page 127



Discharge will be restricted to 8.3 l/s for all events up to the 1% plus suitable climate 
change event with a 10% allowance for urban creep. The detailed drainage drawings 
show surface water storage volume of 160m3 however this needs to be according to the 
supplied MicroDrainage file showing 175 m3, or greater, to ensure that the network does 
not flood from this point beneath Flood zone 3 land.  Supporting modelling information 
relating to both the Black Brook and the eastern ordinary watercourse has been analysed 
to understand any potential combined events further.  

The connecting highway for the development, according to EA modelling of the Black 
Brook in the FRA, can shallow flood from a 1 in 10 fluvial storm event or higher. The 
residents, in these conditions it is proposed should be able to walk uphill to the tramway 
footpath at a higher elevation to the south of the development boundary. A suitable Flood 
Evacuation Plan will need to be understood by all future residents and be able to be 
adhered to.

The LLFA are expecting to see separate to this planning application, Land Drainage 
Consent Applications for works affecting ordinary watercourses, for the upsizing of the 
culverted section of the ordinary watercourse and the diversion of the ordinary 
watercourse.

To ensure adherence to National Planning Policy Framework, DEFRAs Non-statutory 
technical standards for sustainable drainage systems and local guidance, these 
recommended conditions should not be altered without consulting the County Council 
Flood Risk Management team.

Conditions:

1. No development shall take place until a detailed design and associated management 
and maintenance plan of the surface water drainage for the site, in accordance with the 
principles outlined within:
a. Former Forge Mill site Chinley-phase 3 Flood Risk Assessment for proposed housing, 
Version 4 (by Michael Lambert Associates, June 2018) and including any subsequent 
amendments or updates to those documents as approved by the Flood Risk Management 
Team,
b. And DEFRA’s Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems 
(March 2015),
c. Any other information which has been received and approved by the Flood Risk
Management Team
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved drainage system shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
detailed design, prior to the use of the building commencing.”
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not increase flood risk and that 
the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal, and sufficient 
detail of the construction, operation and maintenance/management of the sustainable 
drainage systems are provided to the Local Planning Authority, in advance of full planning 
consent being granted.

2. No development shall take place until a detailed assessment has been provided to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to demonstrate that the proposed 
destination for surface water accords with the drainage hierarchy as set out in paragraph 

Page 128



80 reference ID: 7-080- 20150323 of the planning practice guidance.
Reason: To ensure that surface water from the development is directed towards the most 
appropriate waterbody in terms of flood risk and practicality by utilising the highest 
possible priority destination on the hierarchy of drainage options. The assessment should 
demonstrate with appropriate evidence that surface water runoff is discharged as high up 
as reasonably practicable in the following hierarchy:
I. into the ground (infiltration);
II. to a surface water body;
III. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system;
IV. to a combined sewer.

3. Prior to commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit for approval to 
the LPA, details indicating how additional surface water run-off from the site will be 
avoided during the construction phase. The applicant may be required to provide 
collection, balancing and/or settlement systems for these flows. The approved system 
shall be operating to the satisfaction of the LPA, before the commencement of any works, 
which would lead to increased surface water run-off from site during the construction 
phase.
Reason: To ensure surface water is managed appropriately during the construction phase 
of the development, so as not to increase the flood risk to adjacent land/properties or 
occupied properties within the development.

4. No development shall take place until the proposed watercourse diversion to the east 
of the site has received Land Drainage Consent.
Reason: This is a regulatory requirement under the Land Drainage Act 1991.

Advisory/Informative Notes (It should be noted, that the information detailed below (where 
applicable), will be required as an absolute minimum in order to discharge any of the 
drainage conditions set by the LPA) as detailed in the consultation response.

11.06.19 & 21.06.19 (in bold text): The LLFA have reviewed the further information as 
supplied in conjunction with the LLFA’s previous request as below and wish for further 
information where highlighted in bold against the LLFA request.

The LLFA need to see the following further information:

1.    As the surface water attenuation is now proposed to be provided by cellular 
storage please can the applicant supply Hydraulic calculations for this up to the 1% 
annual probability rainfall event plus 30% climate change, plus an allowance for 
urban creep (10%). – Please can the applicant supply the Hydraulic 
Calculations as requested.

2.    The drainage strategy, drawing no 17134/01/01 Rev A shows greenfield run-off 
rate to be 5 l/s, but the Forge Mill site Chinley-phase 3 FRA, version 4 it states 
greenfield run-off to be 8.3 l/s. Please can the intended run-off rate be clarified. – 
Ok.

3.    According to the FRA version 04   the existing culvert that outfalls to the main 
river Black Brook of 300 mm diameter is to be replaced with a 600 mm diameter 
culvert. In the drainage strategy, drawing 17134/01/01/ Rev A, it shows that the 
300 mm diameter culvert will be supplemented with additional pipes. Please clarify 

Page 129



whether additional pipes or enlarging is to be proposed. – Ok.
4.    The LLFA need to see the hydraulic calculations of the Ordinary Watercourse. – 

Ok.
5.    In the FRA version 04 it is stated that the Ordinary Watercourse running through 

the site will be diverted, the LLFA will need to see the following regarding this:
i. Full hydraulic assessment of Ordinary Watercourse to ensure the existing flood 

risk is not increased to existing or proposed properties. – Additional time is 
requested in order to review the hydraulic assessment, to ensure it is fit 
for purpose.

ii. Hydraulic assessment to also show that any flows through this watercourse 
upto 1% annual storm probability will not impact on surface water drainage 
system for this development (eg flows from the watercourse surcharging the 
sw drainage outfall)  – Additional time is requested in order to review the 
hydraulic assessment, to ensure it is fit for purpose.

iii. Hydraulic assessment to also include the proposals whether for additional 
pipes or upsizing of existing 300 mm diameter culvert under Forge Road. This 
would be to ensure that these proposals will not increase flood risk to existing 
properties or infrastructure (highway). – The 1 in 100 HEC RAS model for 
Footpath 124 Black Brook used a level of 179.375 m which is the 
baseflow level on the Black Brook and a discharge of 0.29 m3/s. Please 
can the applicant inform the LLFA the culvert size that this relates to, as 
we believe the proposed 3 x 400 mm diameter culverts give a discharge 
of around 0.771 m3/s.  

6.    The LLFA would need to see that the full range of return periods and storm 
durations have been considered to ensure that the flood risk will not be increased. 
- Additional time is requested in order to review the hydraulic assessment, to 
ensure it is fit for purpose.

7.    The LLFA need to be shown the impact of the culverted section being blocked / 
surcharged on the watercourse, and the potential levels that this could flood 
through the development and how this will be mitigated. – Need to see the 
evidence that supports this in the form of an hydraulic analysis of the 
proposed culvert incorporating blockage scenarios to ensure that this does 
not increase the flood risk to existing properties or infrastructure.

8.    From the supplied EA detailed map from November 2011, at model node 9 at the 
10% annual event probability the water level is 180.25m. From the Drainage 
Strategy drawing No. 17134/01/1 Rev A it shows the existing culvert invert level as 
179.466, and therefore the culvert would be surcharged. The LLFA have concerns 
that this will impact on the free discharge of both the ordinary watercourse (running 
through the development site) and the sw drainage system for the development. 
Please clarify how this can be mitigated. – The response suggests that 5 – 10% 
of the year it will surcharge. The LLFA still need assurances for these 
periods that the surface water network for the development will not be 
compromised.

9.    The LLFA need to see that the cellular storage attenuation is sized accordingly to 
accommodate the additional volumes needed for the periods of time when the flap 
valve will be forced shut by the ordinary watercourse and / or the Black Brook as 
well as for the required surface water drainage requirements above in point 1. – 
Please supply the LLFA with evidence for the longer storm duration events, 
to evidence that there is sufficient capacity so as to not compromise the 
surface water network in accordance with DEFRA’s non statutory technical 

Page 130



standards guidance notes on Design Criteria for capacity 4.35, 4.38 and 4.39. 
This also needs to show the ability for the Surface Water storage 
(underground attenuation) after a 6 hour storm event, and having factored in 
the discharge rate of 8.3 l/s, may not be achievable in all events, if the culvert 
is surcharged. Please provide further evidence that the spare 66m3  in the 
underground storage would be sufficient to accommodate this. 

Please note that the LLFA wish to request an additional week to further review the 
responses given regarding points 5.i),ii) and 6.

07.05.19: From reviewing the submitted information the LLFA wish to see further 
information regarding how the site will drain during a 1% probability annual fluvial flood 
event so that it does not result in ingress to the surface water system, as the modelled 
Black Brook levels appear higher than the highway drainage which appears to be higher 
than the site outfall into the Black Brook tributary that the developer is also proposing to 
divert.  Please supply cross sections for the LLFA to be able to understand the detail 
more easily.

18.04.19: We are unable to provide an informed comment until the applicant has provided 
further information:

 The revised layout of the drainage scheme shows an offline cellular storage to be 
placed within flood zone 3, with a hedgerow and new trees to be planted above it. 
Please can the applicant explain how this would not result in roots to propagate 
into the cellular system in years to come.

 Please can the applicant detail how the site will drain during a 1% probability 
annual fluvial flood event so that it does not result in ingress to the surface water 
system.

16.11.18: As per the response below.

21.05.18: We are recommending an objection on the proposed development as it is not 
possible to provide an informed comment until such a time that the applicant has 
submitted further information The Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) version 4, June 2018, 
does not make clear how surface water within the proposed site will be attenuated. If this 
attenuation is to be planned as a wetland, then the LLFA need to understand if this is to 
be as a form of infiltration or just storage. The Geo-environmental Investigation Report 
17134/GEIR from August 2017 states from the executive summary that Groundwater is 
expected to represent a very significant issue at this site, and that the site is not capable 
of adopting a soakaway system of surface water disposal.

The present Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) makes reference to the potential for 
attenuating in flood zone 2 as a wetland. The proposed wetland area also appears to be 
probably less than 5 metres from the modelled flood zone 3 extent. As such, could this be 
considered in respect of whether this will affect the operation of the flood storage area, 
being so close to Flood Zone 3.

Please can the applicant provide the intended route to outfall for the surface water 
drainage into the Black Brook watercourse, as suggested in the FRA.

Page 131



The LLFA are pleased to see from version 4 of the FRA that the LLFA will be approached 
further, regarding a separate consent application for the ordinary watercourse diversion 
through the East of the proposed site and also the upsizing of the culvert under the road. 
However, the LLFA will wish to see ideally 1 in 3 slopes to the watercourse diversion.  
The proposed watercourse diversion, will need to be hydraulically assessed to ensure 
that the flood risk does not increase to either proposed or existing housing.  Additionally 
the LLFA request that 40% climate change with an allowance for 10% urban creep is 
used for any on-site surface water management.

DCC Education Financial contributions 
requested.

Refer to Planning 
Obligations Section

18.06.19: The analysis indicates that there would be a need to mitigate the impact of the 
development on school places to make the development acceptable in planning terms.  

The normal area primary and secondary school would not have sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the additional pupils generated by the proposed development.  The County 
Council therefore requests financial contributions as follows:

£33,624.48 for the provision of 2 primary school places at Chinley Primary School 
towards Project A.  A costed feasibility is in place to provide an additional 2 teaching 
spaces at the school.  The contribution would be pooled with other s106 income and used 
towards that project. £50,665.78 is also required for the provision of 2 secondary places 
at Chapel-en-le-Frith High School.  This would be utilised towards Project C: 
Enhancement of support facilities.

23.10.18: The analysis indicates that there would be a need to mitigate the impact of the 
development on school places to make the development acceptable in planning terms.  

The normal area primary and secondary school would not have sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the additional pupils generated by the proposed development.  The County 
Council therefore requests financial contributions as follows:

£48,562.92 for the provision of 3 primary school places at Chinley Primary School 
towards Project A.  A costed feasibility is in place to provide an additional 3 teaching 
spaces at the school.  The contribution would be pooled with other s106 income and used 
towards that project, Project A: Additional teaching accommodation.
£73,175.19 is also required for the provision of 3 secondary places at Chapel-en-le-Frith 
High School.  This would be utilised towards Project C: Enhancement of support facilities.

HPBC Environmental 
Health

Condition Response Refer to Technical Matters 
Section.

Contamination: The combined Phase 1 & 2 contaminated land assessment (REFA, ref: 
17134-GEIR FINAL; dated 24th August 2017) submitted in support of the application may 
be accepted. Condition 1 is recommended to protect future residents in the event that 
contamination is identified during the development.

Construction: The construction/demolition stage of the development could lead to an 

Page 132



increase of noise and dust experienced at sensitive premises and subsequent loss of 
amenity, for this reason conditions 2 to 8 are suggested.

1. CL05 CONTAMINATED LAND – IF FOUND DURING DEVELOPMENT
If during development any contamination or evidence of likely contamination is identified 
that has not previously been identified or considered, then the applicant shall submit a 
written scheme to identify and control that contamination. This shall include a phased risk 
assessment carried out in accordance with the procedural guidance of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 Part IIA, and appropriate remediation proposals, and shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority without delay. The approved remediation 
scheme shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

2. CDD01 - CONSTRUCTION AND  DEMOLITION – DUST
There shall be no visible dust emissions beyond the site boundary associated with 
construction/demolition works undertaken at the site. In controlling dust on site, the 
contractor shall have due regard to the Building Research Establishment Document 
‘Control of Dust from Construction and Demolition Activities’ (BR456)

3. CDD02 - CONSTRUCTION & DEMOLITION: WASTE DISPOSAL
Any waste material associated with the demolition or construction shall not be burnt on 
site but shall be kept securely for removal to prevent escape into the environment.

4. CDD06 - FIRES
There shall be no fires lit on the site for purpose of disposing of demolition materials. Any 
open fires that arise shall be extinguished without delay.

5.  PILING
If piling is necessary a written method statement shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority. This method statement shall detail include noise mitigation measures 
consistent with best practical means. No piling shall take place until the method statement 
has been approved in writing by the LPA.

6. CDD04 – PILING: NOISE CONDITION
No piling shall take place outside the hours 0900 hours to 1600 hours Mondays to Fridays

7. NS02A - CONSTRUCTION & DEMOLITION WORKS: TIME OF 
OPERATIONS

Unless prior permission has been obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority, 
all noise-generating activities shall be restricted to the following times of operations.

 07:30 - 18:00 hours (Monday to Friday);
 08:30 - 14:00 hours (Saturday)
 No working is permitted on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

Page 133



In this condition, a noise-generating activity is defined as any activity (for instance, but not 
restricted to, building construction/demolition operations, refurbishing and landscaping) 
which generates noise that is audible at the site boundary.

8. CDD14 - ON SITE RADIO
During construction/demoplition phases amplified music and/or radios shall not be audible 
beyond the site boundary.

HPBC Waste No objection. Refer to Technical Matters 
Section.

-

HPBC Conservation 
Officer

Refer to Design and Layout 
Section

10.05.19: These are useful points raised by Steve Baker (DCC Archaeology) & they need 
to be acted upon to tighten up the intent of the wall management plan. 

The revised scheme is much improved with a more organic feel to the development and a 
greener, open frontage and generous gardens.

 Whilst there is no potential to have residential development on the road frontage 
they have at least bolstered up the planting on the road frontage to the car park 
and angled its alignment to create a softer front edge. It will integrate more readily 
with the open space alongside.

 Planting to the tramway frontage is also improved but there is not much of a buffer 
to the rear gardens of Plots 10 & 11. Care needs to be taken with the fencing 
along this boundary.

 There is now a good buffer between the development site and the Conservation 
Area and the less than substantial harm to the setting of the Conservation Area is 
now relatively minor harm which you will need to balance against the public 
benefits of the scheme. 

13.12.19: The site adjoins the Chinley and Whithough Conservation Area.

It is important that the site is viewed in its condition prior to the development which has 
occurred on surrounding land as this has had a knock on effect on this site (removal of 
boundary wall, fencing and formation of car park). Streetview gives a more accurate 
image of its appearance and its relationship with the Conservation Area, road frontage 
and tramway.

Whilst the Conservation Area at this point has a strong boundary (trees and mature 
hedge) which limits outward views from the Conservation Area, the open field contributes 
to inward views from along Forge Road and The Tramway, providing a transition between 
the urban housing on the Forge Works site and the historic village, and this is part of the 
Conservation Area’s setting. The open field also reinforces the rural setting to the historic 
tramway.

Page 134



Whilst the site may have some development potential, the site constraints restrict the 
developable area and this severely limits the ability to respond to local character and 
distinctiveness. Without the constraints I would be suggesting that the development is 
moved away from the Conservation Area boundary to allow a substantial green buffer, 
and a further green buffer adjoining the tramway. I would also suggest a less-dense, 
more organic scheme to mark the transition towards the more open and looser historic 
settlement. 

The road frontage is problematic as a car park will not present an attractive road frontage 
and will create a visually weak site boundary. Ideally the development should be moved 
to address the road frontage to present an attractive site entrance. I would suggest a 
frontage development based the traditional terraced cottages set behind a low stone wall 
further along Forge Road (see attached photo).

As the scheme currently stands the site layout, density and building form do not address 
the challenges presented by this site and would constitute less than substantial harm to 
the setting of the Conservation Area and Tramway.

DCC Archaeology Refer to Design and Layout 
Section

15.05.19: Further to the revised management plan below, I suggest that this is now 
secured by condition, with some requirement for the developer to provide evidence when 
different parts of the management plan are in place.

09.05.19: Thanks for forwarding on the proposed management plan. Overall I think this is 
great – it is a really positive way forward for securing the future of the tramway retaining 
wall and making the most of it within the development. 

What I’d like to suggest is that the planning consent is conditioned to secure the ongoing 
management of the wall as per the plan. To that end I recommend that the wording in the 
document is tightened up a little to make it specific and enforceable. It needs to state 
exactly what is being proposed and how this will be implemented and monitored (with 
evidence being provided to the local planning authority).

In particular, at section 1.4 ‘it is envisaged that no part of the wall will be within private 
curtilage’ – this sort of thing needs tightening up. Please state what is proposed. 
Throughout, there needs to be some detail on who is responsible at each stage for 
ensuring that the management plan is being adhered to, and how this will be 
communicated to the local planning authority.

01.05.19: I note comments from my colleague Sarah Whiteley dated 12th November 
2018, as follows:

My colleague Steve Baker commented on this scheme in June this year.  At this time he 
recommended that more detail was required relating to the treatment of the Peak Forest 
Tramway retaining wall as part of the development.  In response to this the Heritage 
statement for the scheme was amended and some additional information provided on this 
issue. A relatively brief statement covers the proposed mitigation measures (section 1.3 
of the revised Heritage Statement), and says only that the boundary will be retained and 

Page 135



repaired.  There is no clear detail of how this will be undertaken, nor how the line of the 
tramway will be protected from encroachment by domestic curtilages.  

On the basis of the assessment of the condition of the retaining wall included in the 
revised Heritage Statement I would recommend that the developer is asked to produce a 
brief management plan for the retaining wall, supported by a clear drawn plan which 
depicts these measures.  Please re-consult us when this information is available.

The revised plans do not seem to include the brief management plan discussed above, 
and I recommend that the applicant is asked to provide this information, to demonstrate 
how the significance of the regionally important heritage asset (the Peak Forest 
Tramway) will be conserved/enhanced through the development proposals.

12.11.18: My colleague Steve Baker commented on this scheme in June this year.  At 
this time he recommended that more detail was required relating to the treatment of the 
Peak Forest Tramway retaining wall as part of the development.  In response to this the 
Heritage statement for the scheme was amended and some additional information 
provided on this issue. A relatively brief statement covers the proposed mitigation 
measures (section 1.3 of the revised Heritage Statement), and says only that the 
boundary will be retained and repaired.  There is no clear detail of how this will be 
undertaken, nor how the line of the tramway will be protected from encroachment by 
domestic curtilages.  

On the basis of the assessment of the condition of the retaining wall included in the 
revised Heritage Statement I would recommend that the developer is asked to produce a 
brief management plan for the retaining wall, supported by a clear drawn plan which 
depicts these measures.  Please re-consult us when this information is available. 

08.06.18: The proposal site is adjacent to the Chinley and Whitehough Conservation Area 
and the local planning authority should be advised by its conservation officer in relation to 
this locally designated asset.

The site is also adjacent at its southern edge to the course of the Peak Forest Tramway 
(Derbyshire HER 99011), an important early industrial railway dating from 1796 and 
running from Dove Holes to the Peak Forest Canal basin at Buxworth. The Tramway is a 
heritage asset of regional importance and as it does not form part of the development 
proposal it is assumed that the Tramway and its associated assets will be retained in situ.

Of relevance to the current application is the retaining wall (HER 3597) retaining the Peak 
Forest Tramway to its northern side, which forms the southern boundary of the proposed 
development. Although a heritage statement has been provided with the application, no 
discussion is given to the retaining wall and its proposed treatment within the 
development, nor is the treatment of this boundary detailed within the other application 
documents. I also note concerns among the public comments on the application, relating 
to potential for undermining of the Tramway (and potentially this retaining wall) at the 
south-western corner of the development, and in relation to erosion of public views to and 
appreciation of the Tramway. Other problems could arise through incorporation of the 
retaining wall into domestic curtilages with associated PD rights.

In the absence of information allowing us to understand how the Peak Forest Tramway 

Page 136



and its retaining wall will be impacted at the southern edge of the development, the 
application is deficient in terms the heritage information requirements of NPPF para 128. 
To address this omission the applicant should provide an amended heritage statement 
including a walkover of the site with identification of Tramway features including the 
retaining wall, and a clear statement of the proposed treatment along this boundary. Once 
this information has been provided I should be reconsulted on the application.

Derbyshire Wildlife 
Trust

Refer to Nature 
Conservation Section.

Awaiting revised comments following submission of amended landscaping plans.

19.07.19 (including conditions): We have reviewed the application and the accompanying 
ecological survey report. We are not aware of the presence of any protected species or 
habitats at this site. Equally the site does not have any nature conservation designations 
in place and has not been flagged as having potential value as a Local Wildlife Site. The 
ecological report has undertaken a desktop review and a Phase I habitat assessment and 
walkover. The timing of the survey is sub-optimal as the visit was undertaken in February. 
However, from the information available including photographs and aerial mapping as 
well as information provided in the report it seems a reasonable assessment to conclude 
that the site is of low ecological value. 

The report outlines a range of measures designed to mitigate and avoid potential impacts 
on species resulting from the development, but the loss of the semi-natural habitats will 
have a negative impact on biodiversity and represents an overall net loss in biodiversity at 
a local scale. This is not fully addressed in the application and ideally further measures 
should be secured. There is the potential to create and manage habitats of biodiversity 
value within the open space areas included in the layout.   

It is recommended that all or part of the open space areas are used for biodiversity 
enhancements and that retained habitats are managed to ensure they are in good 
condition. If these additional measures are adopted as well as the measures outlined in 
the ecology report the impact on biodiversity should be minimised. 

It is recommended that gardens within the development are accessible for hedgehogs to 
ensure movement of this species is not impeded by the development.  

If the Council are minded to approve the application we recommend that the following 
conditions are attached:-

1. No stripping, demolition works or vegetation clearance shall take place between 1st 
March and 31st August inclusive, unless preceded by a nesting bird survey undertaken 
by a competent ecologist.  If nesting birds are present, an appropriate exclusion zone 
will be implemented and monitored until the chicks have fledged.  No works shall be 
undertaken within exclusion zones whilst nesting birds are present.

 
2. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation 
clearance) until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP 
(Biodiversity) shall include the following.

Page 137



a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to 

avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of 
reasonable avoidance method statements to cover amphibians, reptiles, 
hedgehogs and birds).

d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on 

site to oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 

similarly competent person (as required).
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction 
period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority.

3. D.4.5 Landscape and ecological enhancement and management plans (LEMPs) – 
Condition.  (Also referred to as a Habitat or Biodiversity Management Plan)

A landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and be 
approved in writing by, the LPA prior to the commencement of the development. The 
LEMP should combine both ecology and landscape and address biodiversity 
enhancements and their subsequent management. It should include the following:

a) Description of features to be enhanced and/or created and managed.
b) Methods to be used to establish habitats of biodiversity value
c) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
d) Aims and objectives of management.
e) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
f) Prescriptions for management actions.
g) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being 

rolled forward over a five-year period).
h) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan
i) Ongoing monitoring visits, targets and remedial measures when conservation aims 

and objectives of the LEMP are not being met. 
j) Locations of bat boxes, bird boxes, hedgehog holes and habitat piles (include 

specifications/installation guidance/numbers)
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the 
long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the 
management body(ies) responsible for its delivery.  The approved plan will be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.

4. Badger
It is now more than 6 months since the last survey and as recommended in the ecological 
report we advise that a condition should be attached as follows:- A pre-commencement 
walkover survey should be undertaken to check that badgers have not started to use the 
site and/or established a sett within the site since the last survey was undertaken. 

17.07.19: We have reviewed the application and accompanying ecological survey report.  

Page 138



We are not aware of the presence of any protected species or habitats at this site.  
Equally the site does not have any nature conservation designations in place and has not 
been flagged as having potential value as a Local Wildlife Site.  The ecological report has 
undertaken a desktop review and a Phase 1 habitat assessment and walkover.  The 
timing of the survey is sub-optimal as the visit was undertaken in February.  However, 
from the information available including photographs and aerial mapping as well as 
information provided in the report it seems a reasonable assessment to conclude that the 
site is of low ecological value.

The report outlines a range of measures designed to mitigate and avoid potential impacts 
on species resulting from the development, but the loss of the semi-natural habitats will 
have a negative impact on biodiversity and represents an overall net loss in biodiversity at 
a local scale.  This is not fully address in the application and ideally further measures 
should be secured.  There is the potential to create and manage habitats of biodiversity 
value within the open space areas including in the layout.

It is recommended that all or parts of the open space areas are used for biodiversity 
enhancements and that retained habitats are managed to ensure that they are in good 
condition.  If these additional measures are adopted as well as the measures outlined in 
the ecology report the impact on biodiversity should be minimised.

HPBC Aboricultural 
Officer

Refer to Layout and Design 
Section.

23.09.19: I am OK with the revisions.

The arboricultural report should be approved as part of the scheme.

The landscaping is ok but we need a LEMP, which clearly defines what is POS and how 
this will be managed. 

Residents purchasing houses should be made aware of their obligation  to retain  
approved landscaping and replace any that  dies or is removed.

30.07.19: No objections to the revised plans.

19.06.19: I revisited the site yesterday and the existing vegetation (at this time of year at 
least) to the west of the boundary offers a good natural screen. However to the east it is 
more open and the proposed planting is essential.  Form the details provided it is not 
clear whether this will be in private ownership within the plots and therefore vulnerable to 
removal by future residents.  Could some of the planting be undertaken on the ‘tramway’ 
side of the boundary? I think this area is managed by DCC and I accept that for formal 
agreement to landscaping would complicate matters but and informal agreement to plant 
some hedgerow trees might offer a more sustainable solution to the landscaping of this 
boundary. 

18.06.19: With regards to the revised layout this is an improvement and the juxtaposition 
of the protected trees and the proposed dwellings is more acceptable.  I have reviewed 
the landscaping which has also been improved.  It is important that the boundary along 
the tramway is a substantive natural hedgerow.

Page 139



07.02.19:
Car park 

 This needs a strong frontage with Forge Road. We discussed taking a line from the 
frontage through the open space to landscaping at the front of the nursery to 
create a coherent landscaping statement 

 This needs to be defined by a stonewall using the stone from the walls taken down 
to accommodate the new footway. 

 Behind the traditional stone wall  adjacent to the car park there will need to be a 
native hedge ( Hawthorn, hazel,  blackthorn holly) to  give a little bit more 
screening to the car park area. 

 Standard trees between the parking bays will need to be in some sort of 
engineered tree pit, this could be designed to contribute to the SUDS requirements 
for the site.  Species – wise  I consider that  more upright varieties might work best 
is suggest  cultivars of species such as Field Maple, rowan  would be suitable in 
this situation 

 We also discussed possibly some planting in the scouts land to the west of the car 
park to soften the edge. Eg continuing the native hedgerow around this edge with 
some small variety standard trees.  

Open space
 The planting of the open space should reach a happy balance between formal  and 

natural possibly a village green feel as the properties face on to it. Some structured 
tree planting towards the edge and occasional  groups of trees to break up the 
centre 

 Species wise this should reflect the landscape character (Settled valley Pastures) 
and the potential for this area to become wet.  The ecological survey noted some 
ephemeral ponds and I am not sure whether there is an ecological/suds 
justification for a dew pond/flood attention area as part of the open space. 

The landscape character defines the following species for wet areas. 

08.08.19: These suggest some minor amendments to the layout, bringing proposed 
dwellings further from the trees.  This is an improvement but I still have concerns about 
the juxtaposition of the mature trees and the proposed dwellings.  It appears that the 
layout is very restricted by the flood zones therefore forcing the location of the dwellings 
close to this boundary.

I note the comment about levels on the site.  But the ground – particularly in plots 7 and 8 
is very uneven and spot heights along don’t reflect this.  There will be some grading of the 
garden areas required within the RPA of these trees.  

Section 5.3.4 of BS5837:2012 sets out issues that may arise from the close proximity of 
trees to buildings and specifically notes that a ‘realistic assessment of the proposed 
impact of the development on trees and visa versa is made’ … ‘to maximise the 
probability of successful tree retention’.   I still consider that the relationship between plots 
1 and 2  and the protected third party trees  is such that there will be pressure for 
inappropriate pruning or tree removal. 

The consultant has not addressed the issue of the landscaping along the PROW so my 

Page 140



original comments with regards to this still stand. 

22.06.18: 
 The tree report only shows the approximate locations of third party trees and does 

not indicate all the trees in the garden to the west. This gives the impression that 
the site is more open to the west than it is. The trees to the west shade the 
gardens and rear aspects of plots 1-7 in the late afternoon and  early evening. 
Some plots will be more affected than others but I consider that the proposal layout 
is likely to lead to pressure to fell or inappropriately prune these trees.

 Plot one is most effected. The dwelling and garden will be dominant by the large 
protected tree in the third party property.  The proposals show the estimated RPA 
for this tree within a couple of meter of the proposed dwelling. I consider that it 
may be difficult to accommodate the required RPA for this tree and accommodate 
construction. Further details would be required via an Arboricultural method 
statement

 The levels on site will require significant changes in level to accommodate finished 
floor levels indicated in the case of plots 6 and 7. I consider that this will encroach 
within the rooting zone of third party protected trees.  

 Proposed landscaping scheme does not show all the trees in the neighbouring 
land – it gives the impression that the site is more open to the west than it is.  Also 
as the trees are not accurately shown and the landscape proposals show 
significant tree planting in the rear gardens that will be shade by these trees. The 
have included planting trees under the canopy of existing trees.  I am unclear 
about the boundary treatment along the tramway.  The treatment of this boundary 
needs to be sensitive to the rural nature of this PROW.

I consider that the proposed layout does not take full account of the impact on mature 
trees and although there is significant open space within the proposals the built element 
is too close to sensitive boundaries. 

Police Architectural 
Liaison Officer

Noted.

23.04.19: No comments or objections regarding the reduced number and amended detail 
of housing.

06.11.18: Amended plans for this application are noted.

My only comment previously related to securing the garden access route for plot 15.  In 
the latest site plan revision (E) the access route has changed to run at an angle around 
the back corner of plot 14, and is now L shaped and situated behind a screen hedge.  In 
my view this small amendment makes gating access at an early point more critical, 
bearing in mind that it is still directly adjacent to a public footpath.  I’ve marked up on the 
attached plan in yellow where the access gate for plot 15(circle) and a small section of 
additional fencing behind hedging should be located, just outside of the near root 
protection zone.

25.05.18: From a community safety perspective of designing out crime the proposal as a 
whole is well thought out and appropriate to the context.  One very minor point is that the 
secure garden gate for the central affordable plot 15 is located at the end of an open L 

Page 141



shaped access route, which is close to open land and footpath 172.  I would advise that 
the gate position is moved to a point just behind the gate for plot 14 to secure this strip of 
land for use by the occupants for plot 15 only.

HPBC Project Officer The scheme would not qualify 
for Public Open Space 
Contributions.

Noted.

13.02.19: There is no trigger threshold within the High Peak plan area, however the 
related planning guidance states that 15 and above would be a reasonable figure.

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

Planning Policy Context

7.1 The determination of a planning application should be made pursuant to section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to be read in conjunction 
with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the Local Planning Authority to determine planning applications 
in accordance with the development plan, unless there are material considerations which 
'indicate otherwise'.  Section 70(2) provides that in determining applications the Local 
planning Authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as 
material to the application and to any other material considerations.”  The Development 
Plan currently consists of the High Peak Local Plan 2016. The site also adjoins the 
Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan boundary, and therefore lies outside of the 
Neighbour Plan area.  

7.3 The NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework) as revised was issued in February 
2019.  The NPPF is considered to be a mandatory material consideration in decision 
making.  The applicable contents of the NPPF will be referenced within the relevant 
sections of the officer report as detailed below.

7.4 As before achieving sustainable development sits at the heart of the NPPF as referred 
to within paragraphs 10 and 11.  This requires the consideration of three overarching and 
mutually dependant objectives being: economic, social and environmental matters where 
they are to be applied to local circumstances of character, need and opportunity as 
follows:

a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; 
and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure; 

b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring 
that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of 
the present and future generations; and by fostering a well designed and safe built 

Page 142



environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and 
future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well being; and,

c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, 
built and historic environment; including making the effective use of land, helping to 
improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and 
pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low 
carbon economy.

7.5 LP (Local Plan) Policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development as contained within NPPF paragraph 11.  It requires decision makers to 
apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision makers this 
means that when considering development proposals which accord with the development 
plan they should be approved without delay or where the development plan is absent, 
silent or relevant policies are out of date, grant planning permission unless:-  

i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

7.6 The housing land supply position has recently been confirmed by the Planning 
Inspector at the Leek Road appeal whereby he concluded that the Council had just over 5 
years. The Council’s housing supply planning policies are therefore considered to be up-
to-date.  Accordingly, for decision makers this means that when considering development 
proposals which accord with the development plan they should be approved without delay 
within the context of NPPF paragraph 11.

Principle of development

7.7 As set out above, the application site lies outside the Built-up Area Boundary of 
Whitehough as defined on the Policies Map within the Adopted LP (Local Plan).  The site 
therefore lies within the countryside with a landscape character type of Settled Valley 
Pastures.  The Chinley & Whitehough Conservation Area lies immediately to the west of 
the application site on land also designated as open countryside.  The historic tramway 
and land to the south of the site is categorised as Green Belt.  The Built up Area Boundary 
of Whitehough forms the site’s eastern and north boundaries with established residential 
and community development beyond.  The Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood 
Development Plan area applies in respect of land to the north of Forge Road.

7.8 LP Policy S 2 ‘Settlement Hierarchy’ herein applies. It states that development will be 
directed towards the most sustainable locations in accordance with the following 
settlement hierarchy: Market Towns, Larger Villages and Smaller Villages.  Accordingly, 
Chinley is identified as one such larger village where a moderate scale of development 
may be acceptable.  This is to be consistent with meeting local rural needs and 
maintaining or enhancing their role, distinctive character or appearance whilst also 
maintaining existing facilities and services.  The scheme must also be tested against 
other LP policies, logically including those that seek to protect the local environment.  

Page 143



7.9 Policy S2 also refers to Other Rural Areas. It says that in all other areas outside the 
settlement boundary of settlements, including those villages, hamlets and isolated groups 
of buildings in the Green Belt and the countryside, which do not have a settlement 
boundary, development will be strictly controlled in accordance with policies EQ3 (Rural 
Development) and H5 (Rural Exception Sites). Policy EQ3 identifies those circumstances 
where new residential development will be permitted and includes development which 
would meet with Policy H1. 

7.10 LP Policy S3 ‘Strategic Housing Development’ sets out that provision will be made for 
at least 7,000 dwellings over the plan period (2011-2031) at an overall average annual 
development rate of 350 dwellings.  It goes on to say that sufficient land will be identified to 
accommodate up to 3,549 additional dwellings on new sites.  The policy makes it clear that 
this will be met from large sites allocated in policy H2 and from small sites which accord 
with policy H1.  Allocations account for 623-729 dwellings with the remainder (a total of 
400 dwellings) to be met on small sites at for the Central Area and the villages within the 
Central Area.  Accordingly, given the scale of development, and that this site is considered 
to be a small scale development in the context of the Forge Works wider site, the 
development is considered acceptable under Policy S3, subject to compliance with Policy 
H1. 

7.11 As the application site is outside any defined settlement boundary, LP policy H1 
‘Location of Housing Development’ is relevant to the proposal. It states that the Council will 
give consideration to approving sustainable sites outside the defined built up area 
boundaries, taking into account other LP policies, provided that four criteria are met, which 
are:  
(1) the development would adjoin the built up area boundary and would broadly be well 
related with the existing pattern of development and surrounding land uses and of an 
appropriate scale for the settlement; and 
(2) it would not lead to a prominent intrusion into the countryside or have a significant 
adverse impact on the character of the countryside; and 
(3) it would have reasonable access by foot, cycle or public transport to schools, medical 
services, shops and other community facilities and 
(4) the local and strategic infrastructure would be able to meet the additional requirements 
arising from the development of this scale.  

7.12 The site adjoins the built up area boundary to the north and east, therefore it is 
necessary to consider whether the site complies with the remaining three criteria. These 
aspects of the development scheme will be discussed in further detail within the relevant 
sections below.

Heritage

7.13 The Chinley and Whitehough Conservation Area boundary lies alongside the site’s 
west boundary accommodating Spring Meadow and Scout Hut / Community Hall.  
Between this lies the extended garden to Sycamore Garden and land in association with 
the scout hut.  The site’s southern boundary adjoins the Peak Forest Tramway Trail.

7.14 As a consequence, the scheme raises potential harm to designated heritage assets in 
relation to the setting of the Chinley and Whitehough Conservation Area and setting of the 
non designated historic Tramway requiring the applicant to describe the significance of any 

Page 144



heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting in accordance 
with NPPF para 189.  Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 also requires that special regard shall be had to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of the area. 

7.15 The Council’s Conservation Officer has been consulted in respect of heritage matters 
raised.  It is discussed that the Conservation Area at this point has a strong boundary 
consisting of trees and mature hedges, which seek to limit outward views from it.  
Conversely, the open field contributes to inward views along Forge Road and the historic 
tramway.  This in turn provides for a transition between the urban housing on the Forge 
Manor site, the historic village and this part of the Conservation Area’s setting.  As well, 
the open field aspect also reinforces the rural setting to the historic tramway.

7.16 In respect of the scheme’s layout, the Officer has also acknowledged those site 
constraints concerning local flood risk which restricts the site’s developable area and in 
turn limits the site’s ability to respond to local character and distinctiveness.  This would 
require the development area to be moved away from the Conservation Area boundary to 
allow for a substantial green buffer to the west and a further green buffer adjoining the 
tramway to the south.  It is further stated that the car park would not present an attractive 
road frontage thereby resulting in a visually weak site boundary.  In these circumstances, 
the built development should be moved to address the road frontage in the form of 
traditional terraced cottages set behind a low stone wall with built development within the 
eastern portion of the overall site area.

7.17 The applicant has attempted to address those heritage concerns raised via a less-
dense and more organic, greener scheme with an open frontage and generous gardens to 
establish the transition towards the more open and looser historic settlement.  The 
applicant has confirmed that there is no potential for residential development on the road 
frontage in view of the requirement to site the scout car park there.  Positively, the 
increase in buffer planting on the road frontage with its angled alignment has created a 
softer frontage edge to integrate more readily with the open space alongside.  The planting 
to the tramway frontage has also improved, however, careful consideration will need to 
given to any boundary fencing along this boundary.  Facing materials and hard surfaces 
should also seek to enhance the Conservation Area and Tramway setting and the 
applicant has been advised that a good quality artificial slate will be required as the roof 
material for the dwellings and garages not concrete tile.  DCC Archaeology has also 
confirmed the acceptability of the submitted management plan for the Tramway retaining 
wall and critically stand off distances from this.  These aspects of the scheme would be 
dealt with by means of a planning condition should Members be minded to approve the 
scheme.

7.18 In these circumstances, the Council’s Conservation Officer confirms that a good 
buffer has been achieved between the development site and the Conservation Area and 
the less than substantial harm to the setting of the Conservation Area now constitutes 
relatively minor harm within this context.

7.19 NPPF para 196 sets out that where a development proposal would lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the scheme. This matter will be considered below in 
the conclusion and balance section of this report.

Page 145



Landscape Impact

7.20 The Council should properly consider whether the proposal would conflict with the 
second criterion of LP Policy H1, which resists development which would lead to a 
prominent intrusion into the countryside or have a significant adverse impact on the 
character of the countryside. The proposed development of the agricultural field, would be 
appreciated from the historic tramway footpath, which is raised above the level of the site.

7.21 The first criterion of the third part of LP policy H1 requires development to adjoin the 
built-up area boundary.  The application site would be enclosed by more urban 
development to the east with reference to the creche building with modern housing 
beyond.  Development across to the west is low key in respect of the Scout Hut, ‘The Dell’ 
and ‘Spring Meadow’ which each occupy generous grounds.  In terms of land levels, the 
application site is set down from the historic tramway to its southern boundary, which is 
contained by the embankment and retaining wall.  In these circumstances, it is considered 
that the application site lies immediately next to the builtup area boundary to the east and 
at least part of the proposed built form would adjoin it.

7.22 The scheme seeks to retain peripheral hedging and established trees, which is to be 
further enhanced by buffer planting to filter and soften views from the higher historic 
tramway route and site edges.  An extensive ecological planting area would be provided to 
the east of the site and together with the lanscaped car parking area would serve to retain 
a sense of openness and ‘greenness’ within the wider site.  The narrow access road and 
landscaped frontages would limit the engineered impacts of the scheme.  Additional 
information provided by the applicant shows no proposed retaining wall provision within 
the site area.  Development form is mostly limited to two storeys other than the Raleigh 
house type, which proposes a mastersuite within the roof space.  The applicant’s standard 
house types create a sense of continuity from the existing estate to the east.  As before, 
high quality facing / hard surfacing as well as landscaping / boundary treatment are critical 
to the scheme’s success given its appreciation from the historic tramway and setting to the 
Conservation Area.  In addition, the removal of householder PD rights is considered to be 
appropriate to maintain a sense of spaciousness within the site.  These matters would be 
secured via appropriately worded planning conditions should Members be minded to 
approve the scheme.

7.23 The Council’s Aboricultural Officer confirms no objections to the scheme subject to 
the provision of a LEMP (Landscape Ecological Management Plan) to clearly define how 
the Public Open Space / Ecological Area and other buffer areas would be managed and 
maintained.  It is also highlighted that there is the requirement for the standard 
management and maintenance landscaping condition in respect of dwelling plots.

7.24 In these respects, the scheme would not result in a significant and harmful intrusion 
into a currently open, undeveloped area.  There would be no serious adverse effects for 
the wider landscape given the partial enclosure of the site and set down from the historic 
tramway.  As a consequence, the proposal would not be detrimental to the character of the 
local landscape or fail to protect its intrinsic character and distinctiveness thereby being in 
accordance with LP policies EQ2 ‘Landscape Character’ and EQ3 ‘Rural Development’.  
Further scheme compliance would arise with the advice and aims of the Council’s 
Landscape Character Supplementary Planning Document.  It would also accord with LP 

Page 146



policy S6 ‘Central Sub Area Strategy’, which amongst other things, seeks to ensure 
development protects and / or enhances landscape character and the setting of the NP.  
Lastly, the proposal would also accord with LP policy EQ6 ‘Design and Place Making’, 
which includes similar objectives.  It is concluded that the scheme would not conflict with 
LP policy H1, insofar as it would not lead to a prominent intrusion into the countryside nor 
have a significant adverse impact on the character of the countryside.  The scheme would 
further comply with those relevant sections of the NPPF.

Community Facilities

7.25 The car parking element of the scheme would provide for 20 spaces in association 
with 1st Chinley Scouts and the general community use of the hall.  It would be positioned 
to the site frontage facing Forge Road behind a proposed planted buffer and to the 
western side of the proposed access road into the residential aspect of the site and 
therefore in close proximity to the existing community building.  Vehicular access to the car 
park would be directly off Forge Road and separate to the proposed housing element.

7.26 LP policy CF5 ‘Provision and Retention of Local Community Services and Facilities’ 
sets out that the Council will seek to maintain and improve the provision of local 
community services and facilities.  In respect of new community facilities, the policy sets 
out that preference will be given to sites within a built up area boundary. In exceptional 
circumstances  facilities will be allowed where it can be demonstrated that this is on the 
only practical option and where a site is well related and connected to an existing 
settlement.  

7.27 The applicant advises that the approved changes to Forge Road has resulted in the 
loss of frontage parking to Victory Hall as a result of the road adoption scheme.  It is set 
out that the proposed car park is located on land owned by the First Chinley Scout Group 
and would be sited in the safest possible place to ensure that children (some of which are 
as young as 6 years old) have a safe access route from the car park to Victory Hall.  
Furthermore, it is stated that the car park cannot be located elsewhere because the First 
Chinley Scouting Group does not own any other land that would be suitable.  The 
applicant, at the request of officers, has further provided evidence from the adjoining 
nursery operator to conclude that dual usage would not be available for reasons of safety, 
security and public liability.

7.28 The visual aspects of the car parking scheme are discussed in the relevant section 
above.  In view of these combined factors, the car parking element of the scheme would 
accord with the requirements of LP Policy CF5 and the NPPF where it has been 
demonstrated that this location appears to be the only practical option and broadly would 
be well related and connected to the existing settlement.

Housing Mix / Size

7.29 LP policy H3 ‘New Housing Development’ requires all new residential development to 
provide for a range of market and affordable housing types and sizes that can reasonably 
meet the requirements and future needs of a wide range of household types including for 
the elderly and people with specialist housing needs, based on evidence from the SMHA 
(Strategic Housing Market Assessment).  As well as providing a mix of housing that 

Page 147



contributes positively to the promotion of a sustainable and inclusive community taking into 
account the characteristics of the existing housing stock in the surrounding locality.

7.30 Within the framework of NDSS (National Described Space Standards), the revised 
dwelling types as proposed in this scheme have been categorised by dwelling type, overall 
GIA (Gross Internal Area) and bedroom capacity as follows:

 2-bed Britten x 2 (affordable provision) @ 2b4p 79.5sqm GIA (semi-detached)
 2-bed Brancaster SA x 2 @ 2b3p plus study 83.61sqm GIA (semi-detached)
 4-bed Priestly x 3 @ 4b6p 142.4sqm GIA (detached)
 4-bed Shakespeare x 2 @ 4b6p 125.4sqm GIA (detached with integral garage)
 5-bed Richmond x 2 @ 5b9p 200.5sqm GIA (detached)
 5-bed Raleigh x 1 @ 5b10p 254.6sqm GIA (detached)

7.31 The proposed housing types are broadly in compliance with the NDSS. The 
exceptions to this include the Britten house type which includes a single bedroom which is 
0.5 sq m below standard, the Brancaster house type, which includes a study, which would 
be too small to be counted as a bedroom, and the Priestly and Richmond house types 
which have double bedrooms, but are only suitable as single bedrooms. Accordingly 
revised plans will be requested for the Priestly and Richmond house type to ensure that 
the bedrooms are correctly identified and a condition imposed ensure that the Brancaster 
house type is only marketed as a 2 bedroom unit.  

7.32 Despite the scheme’s lack of specialist housing accommodation, all units would meet 
NDSS (National Described Space Standards) and score well against accessibility 
standards as set out in the Optional Requirement M4 (2) of Part M of the Building 
Regulations.  The scheme is policy compliant in respect of the provision of two onsite 
affordable housing units in the form of the Britten house type and a s106 planning 
obligation would be required to secure these.

7.33 In respect of housing mix, it would be expected that there would be a higher 
proportion of 1 and 2-bedroom properties and a lower percentage of 4-bedroom properties 
than is proposed when comparing the existing stock as identified in the Ward Census data 
with the recommended levels from the SHMA.  The scheme proposes 33% 2-bedroom 
provision with the remaining 77% constituting 4 and 5 bedroom accommodation.  Of note 
the Richmond and Raleigh 5-bedroom units are of a size and scale, which are in stark 
contrast to the smaller Brancaster and Britten house types.

7.34 The SHMA, however, has recognised that a flexible approach is required to take 
account of viability issues and local provision.  The mismatch between need and aspiration 
in relation to the requirement for larger properties has also been acknowledged by the 
SMHA.  This is a point touched upon by the applicant who also suggests that prospective 
purchases of such larger properties may sell and therefore free up 2 and 3-bedroom 
properties for others.  Such upscaling, however, seems unlikely given the significant floor 
area of the 5-bedroom Richmond and Raleigh nine and ten person capacity dwellings at 
200.5sqm and 254.6sqm GIA, which are more likely to provide for a transition from a 4-
bedroom rather than 2 / 3 bedroom dwelling.  In these respects, the scheme does not 
present an inclusive and balanced housing mix.

Page 148



7.35 Despite the applicant’s fleeting references to scheme viability, no such evidence has 
been submitted to substantiate the proposed housing mix, which is heavy reliant on 4 plus 
bedroom provision.  The applicant, however, has had some regard to the characteristics of 
the existing housing stock with respect to the provision of the 4, two-bedroom units, the 
Conservation Area setting and NDSS minimum space standards.  This is a finely balanced 
judgment, particularly given the lack of viability evidence, however in taking into account all 
matters, it is considered that the scheme is considered to accord with LP policy H3 and the 
NPPF.

Highways

7.36 Matters of sustainable patterns of transport concerning site location and means of site 
access were established at the outline stage for the adjoining site to the east.  The detailed 
matters (other than the employment unit) have been approved in three separate phases 
for this major scheme, which is well underway and occupied in parts for a total of a 153 
dwellings and crèche.  Condition 10 of the outline consent requires the wider site layout to 
be designed to adoptable standards.

7.37 For this scheme, a Transport Statement dated June 2019 has been found to be 
acceptable by DCC Highways to support the scheme for a total of 12 dwellings.  The car 
parking element of the scheme would provide for 20 spaces in association with 1st Chinley 
Scouts and general community use of the hall.  Vehicular access to the car park would be 
taken directly off Forge Road.  To the east of the car park, a separate access off Forge 
Road would lead into a cul-de-sac type of arrangement serving the 12 properties.  The 
revised layout plan would provide a scheme, which would meet DCC highway standards, 
including parking provision.

7.38 Subject to those recommended conditions the site layout would provide a highway 
compliant scheme to accord with LP policy CF6 ‘Accessibility and Transport’ and the 
NPPF.

Other Technical Matters

7.39 Of relevance, LP policy EQ10 ‘Pollution Control and Unstable Land’ seeks to protect 
people and the environment from unsafe and polluted environments, requiring mitigation if 
necessary.  The Council’s Environment Health Officer confirms that the combined Phase 1 
& 2 Contaminated Land Assessment dated 24th August 2017 submitted in support of the 
application scheme can be accepted.  Conditions are recommended during the 
construction stage of the development to protect standards of amenity at nearby noise 
sensitive properties.  Accordingly, the scheme is considered to meet the terms of LP policy 
EQ10 subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions.

7.40 LP policy EQ11 ‘Flood Risk Management’ discusses that the Council will support 
development proposals that avoid areas of current or future flood risk and which do not 
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere, where this is viable and compatible with other 
policies aimed at achieving sustainable patterns of development.  The LLFA (Lead Local 
Flood Authority) confirms that the updated FRA (Flood Risk Assessment) proposes the 
disposal of surface water utilising a cellular storage tank via a Hydrobrake chamber / tidal 
flap valve into a culverted section of an ordinary watercourse.  This then having crossed 
under Forge Road would outfall into the Black Brook to constitute the drainage strategy for 

Page 149



the proposed development.  It is stated that the connecting highway, according to EA 
modelling of the Blackbrook in the FRA can shallow flood from a 1 in 10 fluvial storm 
events of higher and recommends that the residents in these conditions should be able to 
walk up the tramway footpath at a higher level to the south of the development boundary.  
The LLFA have stated that they are expecting to see separate to this planning application, 
Land Drainage Consent Applications for works affecting ordinary watercourses, for the 
upsizing of the culverted section of the ordinary watercourse and the diversion of the 
ordinary watercourse.

7.41 Accordingly, the LLFA no longer object in principle to the scheme subject to 
conditions securing a detailed design and associated management / maintenance plan of 
the surface water drainage of the site, which is to accord with the PPG drainage hierarchy 
and the control of surface water run-off during the construction phase.  A Grampian style 
condition has been recommended preventing development until the proposed watercourse 
diversion to the east of the site has received Land Drainage Consent.  In respect of 
consideration of LP Plan EQ11, the applicant has now retained the watercourse ‘ditch’ to 
the east of the site as per policy requirements and the recommendations of the Phase 1 
Ecology Report.  The scheme can be considered as complying with the terms of LP policy 
EQ11 and the NPPF.

Nature Conservation

7.42 LP policy EQ5 ‘Diversity’ seeks to ensure that biodiversity interests are conserved 
and where possible enhanced.  The Ecological Phase 1 Habitat Assessment, including site 
walkover has been reviewed by DWT (Derbyshire Wildlife Trust).  DWT confirm that they 
are not aware of the presence of any protected species or habitats at this site neither does 
the site appear to have any nature conservation designations in place or raised as having 
potential value as a Local Wildlife Site.  It is stated that the timing of the survey undertaken 
in February 2018 is considered to be sub-optimal.  Although from the information available 
including photographs and aerial mapping as well as information provided in the report, 
DWT confirm that it seems a reasonable assessment to conclude that the site is of low 
ecological value.

7.43 The applicant’s ecology report outlines a range of measures designed to mitigate and 
avoid potential impacts on species resulting from the development, however, DWT state 
that the loss of the semi-natural habitats would have a negative impact on biodiversity 
interests, which represents an overall net loss in biodiversity at a local scale.  In these 
circumstances, it is advised that all or part of the open space areas are used for 
biodiversity enhancements and retained habitats are managed to ensure they remain in 
good condition.  DWT conclude that if such additional measures are adopted as well as 
the measures outlined in the ecology report, the impact on biodiversity interests should be 
minimised.  Recommended planning conditions include: garden accessibility for 
hedgehogs; restriction of the works during the bird nesting season; CEMP (Construction 
Environment Management Plan); LEMP (Landscape and Ecological Enhancement and 
Management Plans) and a pre-commencement badger walkover survey.

7.44 Revised landscaping plans, including the retained watercourse are subject to the 
comments of DWT and Members will be informed on the Update Sheet.  Notwithstanding 
this, DWT has confirmed that they have no objection in principle to the scheme subject to 
suitable conditions to ensure adequate mitigation and protection for ecology onsite.  

Page 150



Accordingly, the scheme will provide for acceptable biodiversity enhancements subject to 
the inclusion of relevant conditions to accord with LP policy EQ5 and the NPPF.

Impact on residential Amenity 

7.45 Policy EQ6 seek to ensure that new development has a satisfactory relationship to 
surrounding properties, taking into account matters such as overlooking, loss of privacy, 
shadowing, noise and light pollution. The Councils adopted Residential Design Guide SPD 
2005, sets out that a minimum distance of 21m should be achieved between windows to 
protect privacy. 

7.46 The closest residential property, Spring Meadow, lies to the west of the site. The 
garden associated with this property adjoins the western boundary of the site, with the 
building itself positioned nearly 50m from plots 3-6. Even taking into account level 
changes, this distance is more than sufficient to ensure that the amenities of this 
neighbour is not unduly harmed. Accordingly the development meets the requirements of 
Policy EQ6 and the adopted SPD. 

Planning Obligations

7.47 The proposed obligation in respect of 20% affordable housing for the onsite provision 
of 2 x Britten house types is supported by LP policy H4 ‘Affordable Housing’.  The financial 
sum totalling £84,290.26 towards education provision, including for 2 primary school 
places at Chinley Primary School and 2 secondary places at Chapel-en-le-Frith High 
School is also supported by LP policy CF3 ‘Local Infrastructure Provision’ and LP CF7 
policy ‘Planning Obligations and ‘Community Infrastructure Levy’.  These obligations are 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, directly related to the 
development and fairly and reasonably related to it in scale and kind to meet the statutory 
tests as set out in planning guidance.  The applicant’s Planning Statement confirms that 
there are no known viability issues which would preclude a policy compliant scheme 
coming forward.  The scheme will require the satisfactory completion of a s106 agreement 
before permission is issued should Members be minded to approve the scheme.

8. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION

8.1 It has been concluded that the scheme would not unacceptably harm the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area. As such, it would accord with LP policy S3, H1, 
LP policy S6, which amongst other things, seeks to ensure that development protects 
landscape character, LP policy EQ2, which protects landscape character, LP policy EQ3, 
which controls new rural development for purposes including the protection of the 
landscape’s intrinsic character and distinctiveness, and LP policy EQ6, insofar as it 
similarly requires development to respect High Peak’s landscapes. Further scheme 
compliance would arise with the advice and aims of the Council’s Landscape Character 
Supplementary Planning Document.  The new planting would assist to mitigate against net 
biodiversity loss and so this factor is neutral in the planning balance.

8.2 The development would be in a sustainable location.  As noted above, the Council can 
demonstrate a five year housing land supply. The NPPF seeks to boost significantly the 
supply of housing and therefore the presence of a five year supply does not preclude the 

Page 151



grant of planning permission for additional housing, as long as there would be accord with 
the development plan.  Despite housing mix concerns, the scheme would increase the 
supply of housing in the area, including affordable provision, which is afforded moderate 
weight in view of the scale of development proposed. 

8.3 The contribution to the economic dimension of sustainable development would include 
the jobs created during construction and the addition revenue through Council Tax. In 
addition to maintenance costs, the new residents would be likely to spend money on 
goods and services in the area, supporting the local economy. They would also contribute 
to the social life of the area. These social and economic benefits weigh in favour of the 
scheme.

8.4 In respect of heritage matters, the less than substantial harm to the setting of the 
Conservation Area constitutes relatively minor harm in this context.  In accordance with 
NPPF para 196 such harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset has been 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposed housing scheme within a sustainable 
location and is found to outweigh any less than substantial harm.  

8.5 It is therefore concluded that the proposal would not conflict with the development plan 
as a whole and so the application should be approved.

9. RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE, subject to conditions and the completion of s106 planning obligation 
securing matters of onsite affordable housing provision and education 
contributions by the 7th October 2019 (the determination date in the event of an 
otherwise suitable and agreed time extension with the Council).

Code Condition
TL01 Time Limit – Full Planning Permission.

3 Years.

AP01 Approved Plans
To be listed.

DE01 Sample Materials – All External Surfaces.

DE13 Details of Means of Enclosure.

NSTD Removal of Householder / Boundary Permitted Development Rights, 
including outbuildings, extensions and hardsurfacing.

NSTD All external door (including garage doors) and windows shall be set 
back from the face of the building by a minimum of 70mm (new build).

NTSD Existing and Proposed Site Levels & Sections
COM15 Details of External Lighting
COM17 Details of Bin Storage
NSTD Submission of Window / Door Details, including Heads & Cills & 

Page 152



Rooflights
LA01 Hard and Soft Landscaping Details
NSTD Compliance with approved Tree Protection and Method Statement
LA14 Tree Protection during Construction
NC09 LEMP (Landscape & Ecological Management Plan)

NSTD CEMP (Construction Environmental Management Plan: Ecology)
NSTD Badger Survey
NSTD No Works during the Nesting Birds
CL06 Unexpected Contamination
MS12 Construction – Dust
MS13 Construction – Waste Disposal

Controlling.

NSTD Detailed Design, Associated Management & Maintenance Plan of site 
Surface Water Drainage.

NSTD Demonstration of the proposed destination for surface water would 
accord with the PPG para 80 hierarchy and to obtain a full 
understanding of the springs within the site and any associated 
mitigation requirements.

NSTD Control of Surface Water during the Construction Phase.

NSTD No development shall take place until the proposed watercourse 
diversion to the east of the site has received Land Drainage Consent.

NSTD Foul & Surface Water shall be Drained on Separate Systems.
NSTD DCC Highway Conditions.
NSTD CEMP (Construction Environmental Management Plan).
NSTD Historic Tramway Retaining Wall Management Plan.
NSTD Scout Car Park Ancillary to Main Use.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the 
Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation with 
the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

Informatives: 

1. The Council has sought (negotiated) a sustainable form of development which complies 
with the provisions of the Adopted Local Plan and NPPF. Accordingly paragraph 38 of the 
NPPF has been adhered to. 

Location Plan

Page 153



Page 154



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 7th October 2019

Application 
No:

HPK/2019/0097

Location Rockhead Spring Pump Building, Bakewell Road, Buxton
Proposal Installation of a pipe from Rockhead Spring Pump House to 

Waterswallows Lane along a route that includes Bakewwell 
Road, Redgap Lane, Daiseymere Lane and Waterswallows 
Lane.

Applicant Mr Craig Airey, Nestle Waters
Agent Mr Graham Trewhella, Cass Associates 
Parish/ward King Sterndale / Cote 

Heath 
Date registered 21st March 
2019

If you have a question about this report please contact: Ben Haywood 
email: Ben.haywood@highpeak.gov.uk Tel: 01538 395400 Ext: 4924

REFERRAL

The application has been referred to the Committee as it is a major development

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve, subject to conditions

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

2.1 Nestlé Waters UK bottles mineral and spring water at its bottling plant facility 
on Waterswallows Lane, Buxton. To supply growing customer demand, Nestlé 
Waters has acquired the Rockhead Spring along the A6 (Bakewell road) approx 2 
miles to the SE of Buxton Town centre. The source is approximately 4km from the 
bottling plant and a new pipeline is required between the source and the plant to 
transport the water between the two locations.

2.2 The works effectively consist of a single trench, 600m wide and 1.2m deep for 
the entire 4km. It is anticipated that trench-work will be via 4-man gang using 6-13T 
excavator or trenching machine.. Once excavated pipework will be placed within the 
trench, with site welds applied every 18m. The apparatus to be installed within, is 
summarized as follows;-

 2 Off DN65 316L stainless steel production pipes, wrapped spirally bin 
Densoclad.

Page 155

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Ben.haywood@highpeak.gov.uk


 2 Off 150mm Cable ducts.
 The apparatus will be laid at a cover of 900mm with a 100mm sand bed and 

surround.
 The backfill material above the sand and warning tape will vary dependent on 

whether the trench is within (a) highway or (b) farm land/verge.
 All trench re-instatement will be carried out in accordance with the 

Specification for the reinstatement of openings in highways (3rd Edition)

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

3.1 At present the Rockhead Source site comprises a small stone and slate 
building similar in size to a small detached garage, surrounded by a palisade fence 
which sits alongside the A6 road into Buxton. The site is well screened from the road 
by boundary trees and shrubs. 

3.2 Separate applications are also under consideration by the Council for monitoring 
boreholes at the site and a new pump building. 

3.3 The proposed pipeline would start from the Rockhead source and after leaving 
the Rockhead compound, the route will enter several different sections noted on the 
submitted plan with letters. In brief the sections involve;-

 A – B 400m section in the A6, under a Network Rail Viaduct, followed by a 
river crossing and a short run across a rough hardstanding area used by local 
plant yard and quarry wagons.

 B- C  125m section through a Site of Scientific Interest  (SSSI)
 C-D 900m section across farmland, farmyard and tracks ending in a crossing 

of Redgap Lane.
 D-E 900m section in wide verge parallel to Redgap Lane..
 E-F 750m section in the narrower verge of Daisymere Lane. 
 F-G Crossing of Waterswallows Lane adjacent junction. 
 G-H Section in Nestlé owned land.

3.4 The application and details attached to it - including the plans, supporting 
documents, representations and responses from consultees - can be found on the 
Council’s website at:-

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=2311
32

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 No relevant history.

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

Adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles

Page 156

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=231132
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=231132


S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S7 Buxton Sub-area Strategy
EQ1 Climate Change
EQ5 Biodiversity
EQ6 Design and Place Making
EQ9 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
EQ10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land
EQ11 Flood Risk Management
S4 Maintaining and Enhancing an Economic base
E1 New Employment Development

Supplementary Planning Documents

 High Peak Design Guide 2018
 Landscape Character

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)

National Planning Practice Guidance 

6. CONSULTATIONS

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 05/06/2018
Press notice Expiry date for comments: N/A
Neighbours Expiry date for comments: 09/05/2018

Neighbours

5 objections have been received making the following points:

 There are already domestic water pipes and business water pipes (at least 6) 
under the verge where the new pipe line is proposed.  What provision has 
been put in place if these pipes are hit when the digging commences. Where 
the pipes are being laid mainly under the verges along Red Gap Lane, it is a 
single track road where access can be difficult at the best of times with the 
number of businesses on the lane.  The work will put additional pressure on 
the traffic where access to private homes and businesses will be affected. 
Care must be taken to keep roads clear and accessible at all times as there is 
only one way in and out of Red Gap Lane.  The road surface is already 
extremely poor and additional vehicle movement will cause further 
deterioration and provision should be made to re-tarmac Red Gap Lane once 
work has been completed especially between Lock Iron and Daisymere Farm

 Concerned about access to domestic properties and businesses disruption. 
Safety with machinery operating so close to moving vehicles on the lane.  Our 
water pipes run where the trench is being dug for the new pipe line.  What 
provision has been put in place if these pipes are hit by the digger.  
Arrangements should be put in place to ensure no debris or dirt is left on the 
highway. The work needs to be carried out during the summer months. 

Page 157



 In the biggest beach cleaning programme in the UK it was found that, of all 
the pieces of litter that could be identified as belong to a brand, Nestle was a 
disgraceful number 5 on the list. To allow this wealthy multi-national company 
to expand their ability to pollute our planet without any meaningful attempt by 
them to collect and process the rubbish they and their consumers create will 
be to condone it. HPBC should refuse this application to increase their output 
of plastic bottled water until Nestle agree to take steps to clean up their mess.

 The results came from a series of 229 beach cleans organised by the anti-
pollution campaigning group Surfers Against Sewage in April, which found 
close to 50,000 pieces of waste. More than 45,000 volunteers took place in 
the Big Spring Beach Clean series of events in April that resulted in the 
biggest ever survey of beach litter in the UK, analysed by the consultancy 
Eunomia. The findings have been submitted to the government.

 Section 12 of the application admits that there a reasonable likelihood of 
Protected and priority species, Designated sites, important habitats or other 
biodiversity features, Features of geological conservation importance all being 
affected adversely within the application site, or on land adjacent to or near 
the application site.

 The Ecological Appraisal by Bowland Ecology commissioned by Nestle itself 
(and therefore not impartial) nevertheless points out that:

o The (proposed) pipe route runs through an area of woodland 
designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC).

o The portion of the Wye Valley SSSI through which the proposed pipe 
route passes is also designated a Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 

o The southern end of the proposed pipe route passes through Cow Dale 
LWS, designated for the presence of unimproved calcareous 
grassland; 

o A portion of the southern section of the proposed pipe route passes 
through Cunningdale (sic) South LWS, designated for the presence of 
unimproved calcareous grassland.

 The Ecological Appraisal also notes ‘Impacts to the designated sites and HPIs 
described above may include loss of notable plant species, introduction of 
non-native invasive species or indirect impacts such as noise and dust 
disturbance during excavation works. Considering a number of the habitats 
are in close proximity to the proposed pipe route, including types of woodland 
and calcareous grassland that are of country-level interest, damage to these 
would constitute a significant ecological impact.’

 It is the case that several species of invasive flora have been identified close 
to or within the development area, such as Japanese Knotweed, with a 
potential for the proposed works to further spread these flora and damage the 
designated sites.

 It should be noted that in respect of Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) states that it is an 
offence to carry out or permit to be carried out any potentially damaging 
operation. SSSIs are also given protection through policies in the Local 
Development Plan

 Also in relation to Japanese knotweed, hybrid knotweed, giant knotweed 
Giant hogweed Rhododendron Himalayan balsam, the Wildlife and 

Page 158



Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) S.14 states ‘It is illegal to plant these 
species or otherwise cause them to grow or spread in the wild’

 Furthermore, a key element of the National Planning Policy Framework is to 
minimise impacts to biodiversity and provide enhancements. Paragraph 170 
states that ‘Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on and providing net 
gains for biodiversity’. Paragraph 175 also states that when determining 
planning applications, local planning authorities should encourage 
opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in and around 
developments.

 It is therefore my contention that the proposed development threatens 
protected areas, and that granting approval would both break the law and 
breach planning guidelines. 

 I also believe that the report commissioned by Nestle is groundlessly 
optimistic about Nestle’s willingness and ability to mitigate damage to these 
protected sites, making the need for identification of an alternative route, 
which does not threaten designated sites, a necessity.

 I also have very strong concerns about the related plans for abstraction of 
waters from the Rockhead Spring and the impact that will be seen on the 
habitats of the Wye Valley downstream, both in the longer and short term, 
especially in view of climate change, changing rainfall patterns and 
sustainability, but recognise that this may not be a planning issue for this 
individual application

 There has been no public consultation regarding the abstraction of a huge 
quantity of water from this spring. Water flows from Rockhead Spring at "High 
Pressure Volume" throughout the year, even in times of severe drought. This 
Spring forms part of the catchment area of the River Wye. This flow is 
essential to the stability of the flow of the River Wye. Any reduction of flow 
from this spring will put the whole Ecosystem of the Wye & its waterside 
habitats at risk

 Nestle propose to excavate an ancient track /public Right of Way, from the 
side of the access road from the A6 to Ashwood Dale Quarry. This track 
adjoins Pictor Wood, which lies within the Peak District National Park; And 
Cunningdale which is a Site of Special Scientific Interest. There are Rare 
Flowers, Mosses, Lichens & Geological features, directly on & in close 
proximity to the proposed route. This ancient track is narrow & there is no 
room to carry out excavation work & associated removal of spoil followed by 
backfilling by machinery; without destroying the track, its borders & the 
beautiful moss covered wall.

 There are several alternative routes for the installation of a pipeline, but, in my 
opinion this proposal has been based entirely on "The Cheapest", with no 
attention being given to the destruction of the environment. This would appear 
to be an "Anathema", given that Nestle have associated themselves, & give a 
large annual donation to, Derbyshire Wildlife Trust.

 As Nestle now appear to be "In Cahoots" with Derbyshire Wildlife Trust; It 
would surely be unethical & a gross conflict of interest if any Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust employees in their capacity of "Biodiversity Planning Officers", 
should be involved in commenting upon this planning application.

 Plastic Waste; Finally the general public seem to have gained awareness of 
the negative impact on the whole planet of plastic waste. Nestle, in 

Page 159



profiteering from "Marketing" water in single use plastic bottles, when it is 
"Potable" from the taps in every household, is selling water as Pure, under 
false pretences.

 By using fuel to operate pumps, supply their factory (soon to be factories), 
transportation of empty, then full plastic bottles over huge "Distribution 
Networks", Nestle, rather than "Getting Together With Nature" in association 
with Derbyshire Wildlife Trust; are in fact contributing to the large scale 
destruction of nature.

 Previously, Nestle have delayed progress on the development of The 
Crescent & pressurised HPB Council to approve their application to build one 
then two factories on what was previously a Greenfield site designated as 
having a Special Landscape Value at Waterswallows.

 Who owns Buxton? Local residents, HPB Council, or Nestle! "Tell the Truth & 
Shame the Devil" Humans do not need bottled water, the River Wye & its 
Wildlife does! Please reject this application & any future plans Nestle put 
forward to abstract this natural resource that belongs to "Planet Earth" & not 
to their shareholders.

Buxton Civic Association

 BCA notes that there is a current licence in place for water abstraction from 
Rockhead Spring. The licence, which is valid until 2030, allows for up to 
175,000 m3 per year to be abstracted in accordance with the requirements of 
the abstraction license issued by the Environment Agency.

 Bowland Ecology Ltd has undertaken an arboriculture and ecological 
appraisal, along the line of the route from the spring to the plant. This has 
involved an evaluation and assessment of the route identifying potential areas 
of impact and mitigation measures to be adopted. At this stage it is not known 
whether the assessment meets the requirements of Natural England.

 The majority of the route follows existing paths/tracks, verges and semi-
improved grassland. However the pipeline route passes through 125m section 
of the Peak Dales SAC following the route of a footpath that may also be an 
old vehicular route with a field gate. The woodland, Pigtor Wood, is a 
designated SSSI and forms part of the SAC. It is noted that a section also 
passes through a small section of Cunning Dale South LWS and two HPIs.

 BCA has visited the site, reviewed the ecological report and geology of the 
proposed route (this summary report can be provided on request) and 
considered some potential aspects relating the pipeline. 

 BCA has the following comments to make:

1. None of the documents supporting the planning application state what 
alternative, less environmentally sensitive routes have been considered 
for the pipeline;

2. Natural England and Derbyshire Wildlife Trust are both consultees to 
the planning application. BCA will rely on the statutory consultees to 
comment on the ecological aspects of the proposed route and whether 
planning permission should be granted and any mitigation measures to 
be adopted;

Page 160



3. Method Statement - a detailed method statement for any ecologically 
sensitive areas and for protecting small mammals from becoming 
trapped in the trench should be prepared prior to any works 
commencing;

4. Japanese Knotweed/invasive species - to minimise any potential 
issues arising from the presence of such species it would be 
appropriate for the landowner or contractor to identify, treat and destroy 
prior to works commencing to minimise the potential for spread 
following construction works;

5. A qualified ecologist and wildlife expert (e.g. badgers) should be 
present on site during any works being undertaken in areas designated 
as being environmentally sensitive to oversee and ensure any 
ecological/wildlife impacts are minimised;

6. No excess excavation materials from trenching should be disposed of 
on site in any designated sensitive areas and in accordance with the 
requirements of Natural England;

7. Consideration should be given to establish the depth to bedrock and 
whether it will be possible to construct a trench along the line of the 
path in Pigtor Wood and other areas given the shallow soils with 
bedrock. Where the pipeline installation occurs in areas of no 
exposure, it would be helpful to sample the rock (including orientation 
data) at intervals to confirm the geological mapping of the area. 
Samples might be sent to the British Geological Survey;

8. At the top of Ashwood Dale, the line of the pipeline follows a path to the 
A6. On the east side of the path there are outcrops of the Woo Dale 
Limestone and at the lower part of the path the Woo Dale Dolomite. 
One outcrop shows a clear contact between massive bedded 
(dolomitic?) limestone and a finely bedded calcilutite, typical of the 
Woo Dale Limestone Formation. This contact and its structural 
information should be preserved. 

The Buxton Group

The Buxton Group would like to object to Nestle's plans for a pipeline joining the 
Rockhead spring at Cowdale to Nestle's bottled water factory at Waterswallows. We 
also have comments to make should the Council be minded to consider approval of 
the application. Reasons for our objection:

- Nestle's licence to abstract water from Rockhead spring was granted 
with conditions regarding the maintenance of a minimum flow of water  
at gauging stations in the River Wye at Ashford-in-the-Water, the River 
Derwent at Derby and on the River Trent at North Muskham. If the flow 
of these rivers falls below certain limits at any of the points mentioned 
then compensation water must be provided from the borehole owned 
by Nestle on Staden Lane industrial estate. The scheme in this 

Page 161



planning application only includes the pipeline to abstract water and not 
the legally required means to provide adequate compensatory water. 
The Buxton Group considers the application to be invalid because of 
the absence of detail regarding compensation water and the 
mechanisms that will trigger it. We wish to know how this water will be 
introduced to the River Wye at times of low flow without lowering 
oxygen levels or altering the chemistry of the river. The Environment 
Agency licences to abstract from Rockhead spring and to provide 
compensation water are 03.28.39.0026.1.R01 and 03.28.39.79.1.R01 
respectively. We note that the response from the Environment Agency 
makes no mention of the dependency between river flows and 
abstraction which must be an oversight by  them

- No other route for the pipeline has been offered, only the one in the 
planning application. The Buxton Group consider this to be an attempt 
at a fait accompli even though the scheme has obvious risks regarding 
the ecology of Cow Dale local wildlife site, Cunning Dale SSSI and Pig 
Tor woods. A route that follows the line of the railway, perhaps going 
alongside it without the need to excavate, may be possible. Having 
reached the town the pipeline could follow the line of Nestle's existing 
pipes from St.Anne's well to Waterswallows. Such alternatives need 
consideration even though they may be more expensive for Nestle. 

- Transfer of materials to the continually moving trenching location will 
mean many journeys. Will heavy vehicles be used which churn up the 
ground adjacent to the excavation? Only light vehicles that do not 
compact the soil should be permitted and matting laid on the ground to 
prevent compaction.

- Where will any surplus spoil be taken to and mounded up before 
disposal? This must be at a site outside the ecology rich route of the 
pipeline.

- We are concerned that the ecological study was carried out in the 
winter when many plants would not be showing, birds were not 
present, and there were no insect studies. Complete surveys should be 
undertaken at a peak time for nature not the convenience of the 
applicant.

- Plastic bottles were found to be the single biggest plastic polluting item 
found in freshwater in Europe. The European Parliament has set the 
following targets in response to the massive problems that plastic 
waste causes:

 Collection target of 90% by 2029 for drink bottles (for example 
through deposit refund systems)

  25% target for recycled content in plastic bottles by 2025 and 
30% by 2030

Page 162



- Using the polluter pays principle Nestle must step up and introduce 
schemes for recycling the waste its consumers produce. We urge the 
Council to ensure Nestle address the severe ecological impact that 
improper disposal of their bottled water containers causes.

Consultees

Consultee Comment Officer 
response 

Arboricultural 
Officer

Outstanding information 

a) Arboricultural Method statement (AMS) 
Further to the above comments I have been 
in discussion with the Arboricultural 
Consultants acting on behalf of Nestle with 
regards to the production of AMS. I advised 
this should be submitted prior to approval 
rather than as a condition.  This has not yet 
been submitted.  

b) An Ecological Report done at the optimum 
time of year and a CEMP as required by 
DWT.

c) Mitigation no details of mitigation  have been 
provided

Updated Comments

I have had a look at this it has the detail required. 

It does address the issues I raised and this is the 
most sensible approach to the installation of the 
pipeline. But it does not necessarily guarantee that 
no trees will be severely damaged or need to be 
removed as a result of works but its does reduce 
the risk of this occurring. 

There is mention of mitigation in terms of 
replacement planting and ecological management 
in the ancient woodland, but none of this is 
specified in any detail in either the CEMP or the 
Arb statement.  

So subject to  a condition which ensures that 
required mitigation is deliverable  I have no 
overriding objections 

If approved I suggest a condition something like the 
following 

Paras 

Page 163



The proposals should be undertaken in accordance 
with the Tree Impact and Protection In Relation To 
Installation Of Pipeline at Rockhead Spring To 
Waterswallows Lane, Buxton prepared By Bowland 
Tree Consultancy Ltd dated 3/7/2019.

No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which 
are shown as being retained on the approved plans 
shall be felled, uprooted, wilfully damaged or 
destroyed, cut back in any way or removed without 
the prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Any trees, shrubs or hedges removed or which die 
or become severely damaged or seriously diseased 
with five years from the completion of the 
development hereby permitted shall be replaced  
on a 2 for 1 basis with trees, shrubs or hedge 
plants of similar
size and species  or as agreed in writing  with the 
Local Planning Authority.
 

Environment 
Agency

From a planning perspective we have no comment 
to make on this application providing there is no 
overall increase in ground level to ensure no 
change in the flood zones.

Given that the proposed pipeline runs over the 
River Wye, the applicant may require a permit for 
these works. 

Paras

Network Rail As the proposal includes works which may impact 
the existing operational railway and in order to 
facilitate the above, a BAPA (Basic Asset 
Protection Agreement) will need to be agreed 
between the developer and Network Rail. The 
developer will be liable for all costs incurred by 
Network Rail in facilitating this proposal, including 
any railway site safety costs, possession costs, 
asset protection costs / presence, site visits, review 
and agreement of proposal documents and any 
buried services searches. The BAPA will be in 
addition to any planning consent

Environmental 
Health

I can confirm that High Peak Borough Council, 
Environmental Health have no observations to 
make concerning this application.  

Wormhill and 
Green Fairfield 

In principle the Council are in favour but with 
reservations. Councillors are concerned that any 

Page 164



Parish Council trench work could possibly damage existing 
property water supplies. The work is likely to affect 
an already substandard road known to DCC which 
needs upgrading & any associated work is likely to 
make matters worse. Ideally this work should be 
carried out in the summer months with access for 
householders at all times.

Natural 
England

As submitted, the application could have 
potential significant effects on the Peak District 
Dales SAC and Wye Valley SSSI. Natural 
England requires further information in order to 
determine the significance of these impacts and 
the scope for mitigation. 
The following information is required: 
Evidence that all possible alternative routes have 
been considered and suitable explanation why 
alternative route outside the Designated sites are 
not possible. 

The Ecological Statement provided by the 
applicant has a number of incorrect assessments 
which means it is not possible to determine 
whether the Assessment of Likely Significant 
Effect (ALSE) can screen out this proposal on the 
Peak District Dales SAC. 

Although the applicant has provided the ALSE, 
High Peak Borough Council as the Competent 
Authority will need to complete an HRA.

In the UK, the screening stage is sometimes 
called an Assessment of Likely Significant Effect 
(ALSE). Projects that cannot be screened out will 
need to proceed to the appropriate assessment 
stage. Without this information, Natural England 
may need to object to the proposal. 

Natural England’s further advice on designated 
sites/landscapes and advice on other issues is 
set out below. 

The Construction Methodology Document has 
detailed the trench has being 600m, clarification 
is required on the size of the trench in order to 
determine the potential impact of the pipeline. 
An updated Ecological Appraisal Document to 
address our concerns as listed below: 

 Section 4.8 states the habitat does not fall 
into any of the National Vegetation 
Classification (NVC) included within the 

Page 165



SAC habitat description. However Natural 
England has it recorded as MG2 Tall-herb 
grassland which is a component of the 
SAC feature. 

 Section 4.9 states that “The proposed pipe 
route passed through woodland as 
described in paragraph 3.8 of this report, 
however this does not comprise the Tilio-
Acerion forests of slopes, screes and 
ravines’ habitat for which the SAC 
designation applies.” 

This is incorrect and the woodland here is 
classified as SAC Woodland and has been 
monitored as such. 

Natural England are currently unable to 
determine no impact from this proposal because 
the features have not been identified correctly, 
therefore we are unable to undertake a correct 
ALSE based on the evidence currently provided 
by the applicant. 

Natural England recommends further grassland 
surveys are undertaken as the initial assessment 
is not correct. The report must also consider the 
impact of the pipeline on the woodland which is 
SAC habitat and for the work to go ahead, this 
will result in a temporary loss of woodland ground 
flora and young woody vegetation. 

The Ecological Appraisal should provide 
evidence that the applicant has looked at 
alternative routes that avoid the SAC/SSSI 
through which the planned route takes it. 
Because it goes through the Peak District Dales 
SAC, the applicant needs to demonstrate they 
have exhausted all other alternatives. 

Natural England notes that the Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) has not been 
produced by your authority, but by the applicant. 
As competent authority, it is your responsibility to 
produce the HRA. We provide the advice 
enclosed on the assumption that your authority 
intends to adopt this HRA to fulfil your duty as 
competent authority.
 
Please note that if your authority is minded to 

Page 166



grant planning permission contrary to the advice 
in this letter, you are required under Section 28I 
(6) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) to notify Natural England of the 
permission, the terms on which it is proposed to 
grant it and how, if at all, your authority has taken 
account of Natural England’s advice. You must 
also allow a further period of 21 days before the 
operation can commence.

Protected Landscapes 

The proposed development is for a site within or 
close to a nationally designated landscape 
namely Peak District National Park. Natural 
England advises that the planning authority uses 
national and local policies, together with local 
landscape expertise and information to determine 
the proposal. The policy and statutory framework 
to guide your decision and the role of local advice 
are explained below. 

Your decision should be guided by paragraph 
172 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
which gives the highest status of protection for 
the ‘landscape and scenic beauty’ of AONBs and 
National Parks. For major development proposals 
paragraph 172 sets out criteria to determine 
whether the development should exceptionally be 
permitted within the designated landscape. 

Alongside national policy you should also apply 
landscape policies set out in your development 
plan, or appropriate saved policies. 

The landscape advisor/planner for the National 
Park will be best placed to provide you with 
detailed advice about this development proposal. 
Their knowledge of the site and its wider 
landscape setting, together with the aims and 
objectives of the park’s management plan, will be 
a valuable contribution to the planning decision. 
Where available, a local Landscape Character 
Assessment can also be a helpful guide to the 
landscape’s sensitivity to this type of 
development and its capacity to accommodate 
the proposed development. 

The statutory purposes of the National Park are 
to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, 

Page 167



wildlife and cultural heritage of the park; and to 
promote opportunities for the understanding and 
enjoyment of the special qualities of the park by 
the public. You should assess the application 
carefully as to whether the proposed 
development would have a significant impact on 
or harm those statutory purposes. Relevant to 
this is the duty on public bodies to ‘have regard’ 
for those statutory purposes in carrying out their 
functions (section 11 A(2) of the National Parks 
and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 (as 
amended)). The Planning Practice Guidance 
confirms that this duty also applies to proposals 
outside the designated area but impacting on its 
natural beauty.

Additional Comments 20th September 2019

NO OBJECTION - SUBJECT TO 
APPROPRIATE MITIGATION BEING 
SECURED 
We consider that without appropriate mitigation 
the application would: 

 have an adverse effect on the integrity of 
Peak District Dales Special Area of 
Conservation 
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.
uk/. 

 damage or destroy the interest features for 
which Wye Valley Site of Special Scientific 
Interest has been notified. 

In order to mitigate these adverse effects and 
make the development acceptable, the following 
mitigation measures are required / or the 
following mitigation options should be secured: 

The Ecological Appraisal and the CEMP 
documents have addressed our previous 
concerns with regards to minimising impacts 
upon the designated sites. 

The Ecological Appraisal and CEMP documents 
stipulates there will be no tree removal and that 
as part of the overall proposal, diversification 
planting within the Wye Valley SSSI woodland 
will take place. The level of intervention and 
planting should be agreed with Natural England 
prior to planting taking place. 

Page 168



We advise that an appropriate planning condition 
or obligation is attached to any planning 
permission to secure these measures. 
Natural England’s further advice on designated 
sites/landscapes and advice on other natural 
environment issues is set out below.

The CEMP biodiversity document is generally a 
good summary of the issues, relating to impacts 
upon the designated sites. We note that impacts 
on the SSSI/SAC are considered of high impact. 
Natural England would agree with this 
assessment. 

The Ecological Appraisal as submitted by the 
applicant describes that as part of the 
construction process, 700m2 of woodland and 
150m2 of grassland within the SAC will be 
inevitably damaged/disturbed. 

Natural England agrees with the Ecological 
Appraisal that in the absence of mitigation there 
is potential for the proposed works to have a 
significant effect on the SAC and it is considered 
that the competent authority (High Peak Borough 
Council) should undertake an Appropriate 
Assessment (AA) as required under the Habitats 
Directive (92/43/EEC) as set out in the amended 
Habitats Regulation’s (2017), your authority 
should utilise the Ecological Appraisal and the 
Construction Management Environment Plan to 
help inform the Appropriate Assessment. 
Natural England is a statutory consultee on the 
appropriate assessment stage of the Habitats 
Regulations Assessment process. 

We recommend that the conditions should be 
implemented under any planning permission 
granted: 

 No tree or branch removal must take place 
during the laying of the pipeline. Should 
any tree works be required, Natural 
England must be consulted prior to works 
taking place. 

 Planting details to be agreed with Natural 
England prior to commencement of works. 
This is to ensure the level of intervention 
will have no likely significant effect on the 

Page 169



Peak District Dales SAC. 

Please note that if your authority is minded to 
grant planning permission contrary to the advice 
in this letter, you are required under Section 28I 
(6) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) to notify Natural England of the 
permission, the terms on which it is proposed to 
grant it and how, if at all, your authority has taken 
account of Natural England’s advice. You must 
also allow a further period of 21 days before the 
operation can commence.

Highways The submitted details propose a pipeline of 
around 4km  length linking Rockhead Spring 
and the existing bottling plant on 
Waterswallows Lane, this being routed along 
lengths of existing highway including the  A6,  
Redgap Lane, Daiseymere Lane and 
Waterswallows  Lane. In addition, Public 
Footpath 21 (Buxton) will be impassable during 
Works within its vicinity and several other 
Rights of Way will be crossed
A Construction Methodology, Design and 
Access Statement has been submitted in 
support of the proposals which is available on 
your Authority's website and has been reviewed 
by the Highway Authority.
The Statement makes reference to ongoing 
consultation with the Highway Authority with 
respect to permissions required for working 
within the highway, identifying the necessary 
applications and time scales for road opening 
licenses and traffic management, and 
temporary closure of the above Public 
Footpath
A preferred location for a site compound has 
been identified although this is subject to 
confirmation once a successful Contractor has 
been appointed.  It's suggested that this may be 
supplemented by more mobile welfare facilities 
as the Works progress. It's recommended that 
prior Consent for locating all site compound/ 
welfare facilities is made the subject of 
Condition.
Therefore, if you are minded to approve the 
proposals, it's recommended that the following 
Condition is included within the Consent:-

Page 170



 Development shall take place, including 
any works of  demolition, until a 
construction management plan or 
construction method statement has been 
submitted to and been approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority . 
The approved plan/statement shall be 
adhered to throughout the construction 
period. The statement shall provide for:

o Parking and manoeuvring for 
vehicles of site operatives and 
visitors Site accommodation

o Routes for construction traffic 
Hours of operation

o Method of prevention of debris 
being carried onto highway 
Pedestrian and cyclist protection

o Proposed temporary traffic 
management

o Areas for standing plant and 
materials clear of the highway 
Areas for loading/ unloading/ 
manoeuvring of goods vehicles

Lead Local 
Flood Authority 

 The LLFA notes this application is major, however 
due to the parameters of the proposals the LLFA 
would have no objections in principle and would 
refer the applicant to our informative notes

Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust

Initial Comments

 An Ecological Appraisal and Assessment of Likely 
Significant Effects Report has been produced by 
Bowland Ecology (February 2019) to accompany 
the above application. We acknowledge that the 
proposed route runs largely along existing tracks, 
roads and footpaths, which will help to minimise 
ecological impacts. Much of the agricultural land 
between the bottling plant and the wooded valley 
along the River Wye is relatively species-poor, 
albeit with some more notable scattered 
species/interesting areas.
 
The key areas of sensitivity are a) the section of 
pipeline that joins Rockhead Spring, which is 
located within Cow Dale LWS b) the section 
crossing the River Wye c) the section of pipeline 
that passes through Peak District Dales SAC / Wye 
Valley SSSI (Unit 003 – Cunning Dale South) / 

Page 171



Cunning Dale South LWS / Pigtor Wood PAWS 
and d) the section of pipeline that runs through an 
area of previous habitat creation at the bottling 
plant. 

There are numerous protected species 
considerations, including great crested newts, 
reptiles, badgers, breeding birds and bats. We are 
also aware of the presence of a localised 
population of green hellebore in Cunningdale South 
LWS, immediately adjacent to the SSSI/SAC. Other 
Derbyshire Red Data Book species in this location 
include saw wort, pale St-John’s wort, and narrow-
leaved bitter cress. Spring cinquefoil is also known 
to occur in the SSSI/SAC. 

Comments on Survey Work 

We note that despite the ecological appraisal being 
undertaken over at least 12 months, the site visits 
to the most sensitive area of the route (through the 
SSSI/SAC) were carried out in sub-optimal periods 
(namely February 2018 and 2019), when there is 
little likelihood of recording the notable plant 
species known to be present locally. 

Whilst we agree that great crested newts can be 
adequately safeguarded through a Method 
Statement, we query the assessment that dew 
ponds are not suitable for amphibians and GCN. 
These ponds are scattered across the Peak District 
and are known to regularly support GCN 
populations. 
Otherwise, the quality of the survey work and 
assessment is good and we agree with the 
conclusions of the report. 

Protected Species Mitigation 

Given the limited footprint of works and that the 
vast majority of landtake is temporary, the majority 
of protected species considerations can be dealt 
with through sensitive working methods and the 
supervision of an Ecological Clerk of Works. 
Prevention of the spread of non-native invasive 
species can also be adequately dealt with in this 
way. A detailed Construction Environmental 
Management Plan would be an adequate way to 
secure this. 
Assessment of Likely Significant Effects to Peak 

Page 172



District Dales SAC and Impacts to SSSI, LWS and 
Ancient Woodland 

We agree with the conclusion of the assessment, in 
that the specific qualifying features of the SAC are 
unlikely to be significantly impacted. Whilst 
numerous elements of the proposal qualify as 
‘Operations likely to damage the special interest’ of 
the SSSI, the pipeline will be routed along the 
existing vehicular track, significantly reducing 
impacts. We do caution that the population of green 
hellebore is located just down-slope of this track 
and should be safeguarded during works. We 
would also expect Natural England to provide a 
response to the proposals within the SSSI. 

Temporary and localised impacts to Cunningdale 
and Cow Dale LWSs are likely, however providing 
the footprint of works is limited, that work is 
supervised and that the pipeline is backfilled with 
the original soil and topped with turves, it is likely 
that habitats will restore relatively easily. 

Should the council be minded to approve the 
application, we advise that a detailed Construction 
Environmental Method Statement (CEMP: 
Biodiversity) is secured through a pre-
commencement planning condition to include all 
measures outlined in Section 5 of the Ecological 
Appraisal. This should include a clear plan of the 
route identifying areas of highest sensitivity, 
ecological designations, key areas of potential for 
protected species, areas of works when ECoW are 
required etc.: 

1. No development shall take place (including 
vegetation clearance or ground works) until a 
construction environmental management plan 
(CEMP: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall be based on the 
measures detailed in Section 5 of the Ecological 
Appraisal (Bowland Ecology, 2019) and include the 
following: 
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging 
construction activities (summarise existing 
assessment). 
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones” 
(include a clear plan of the route identifying areas 
of highest sensitivity, ecological designations, key 

Page 173



areas of potential for protected species). 
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and 
sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce 
impacts during construction (may be provided as a 
set of method statements). 
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to 
avoid harm to biodiversity features. 
e) The times during construction when specialist 
ecologists need to be present on site to oversee 
works. 
f) Responsible persons and lines of 
communication. 
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an 
ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly 
competent person. 
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and 
warning signs. 
i) Statement of compliance upon completion, 
including photographic evidence of restored route. 
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and 
implemented throughout the construction period 
strictly in accordance with the approved details, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

2. A strategy shall be produced to demonstrate how 
proposals will achieve a net biodiversity gain in 
accordance with the NPPF 2019. This may include 
the following: 
 Installation of suitable bat and bird boxes in 
woodland and on hedgerow trees. 

 Removal of Japanese knotweed from Cow Dale 
LWS. 

 Habitat creation/enhancement along the route. 

 Habitat management within Cow Dale LWS. 

Further comments on Submitted CEMP
 A Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) has subsequently  been produced by 
Bowland Ecology (June 2019) to set out an 
appropriate working strategy to safeguard 
ecological receptors along the route, which we 
have reviewed. We have the following comments 
which should be incorporated in a revised version 
of the CEMP: 
 Section 4.14. It should be repeated here that a 
walkover of the route through these sensitive areas 

Page 174



will be undertaken by an ecologist in the key 
botanical survey season (May – August) and 
populations of notable plants will be clearly marked 
for retention and protection. 

It should explicitly state in this section that works 
through the SAC woodland must be limited to the 
existing trackway. The location of spring cinquefoil 
on the trackway, identified by Kieron Huston on his 
site visit, should be avoided and protected. 
 Section 4.15. More detail should be provided on 
turve translocation. Translocation should be 
avoided in summer and winter, with the ideal time 
comprising autumn. Turves should be cut cleanly 
with excavator or by hand and measure at least 0.5 
m x 1 m to reduce the risk of drying out. If they 
have to be stored, they should be laid out 
somewhere suitable (not on other areas of 
important grassland) and regularly watered. If 
possible they should be replaced in the same order 
they were removed. Turve removal should be done 
immediately prior to laying the pipeline to limit the 
time between being relaid. 

 Section 4.18 should explicitly state that common 
amphibians will be moved but if any GCN are 
found, the approach will be reviewed and advice 
sought from Natural England. 

 Section 4.23 should state dismantled slowly ‘by 
hand’. 

 Section 5.2. We advise that this monitoring 
should extend to the LWS also. 

We support the intention in Section 5.1 and advise 
that a management plan or strategy should be 
conditioned to secure net biodiversity gain results 
from the project, as per our previous comments: 
Net Biodiversity Gain 
A strategy shall be produced to demonstrate how 
proposals will achieve a net biodiversity gain in 
accordance with the NPPF 2019. This may include 
the following: 
 Installation of suitable bat and bird boxes in 
woodland and on hedgerow trees. 

 Removal of Japanese knotweed from Cow Dale 
LWS. 

Page 175



 Habitat creation/enhancement along the route. 

 Habitat management within Cow Dale LWS. 
DCC Minerals 
and Waste

I can confirm that it is the view of this Authority that 
the proposed application would not adversely 
impact the minerals safeguarding interest.  Any 
waste material which is not used in engineering 
operations proposed should be disposed of at an 
appropriately licensed waste recycling facility.

DCC 
Archaeology

The application is accompanied by a heritage 
statement which assesses the known
(and potential for unknown) archaeological issues 
along the route.
The Waterswallows end of the site has already 
been subject to archaeological excavation and 
recording in advance of the existing bottling plant. 
From here the route is within existing roads and 
tracks where archaeological potential is likely to be 
minimal.
The route then runs south along 
Daisymere/Redgap Lane, a farm track between 
fields.
This area of historic landscape is characterised by 
straight field boundaries with regular edges 
suggesting late (19th century) enclosure. The die 
straight line of Redgap Lane suggests that it is a 
track established at this time, rather than an earlier 
routeway. South of Red Gap Farm there is a 
section of about 900 metres where the route 
crosses open pasture (fossilised ancient strip fields 
and then enclosures of unknown date). The route
then descends through part of Pigtor Wood along a 
trackway which is shown on the Fairfield Tithe Map 
of 1842 (and may be of early date) before running 
alongside the A6.
The heritage statement suggests that the section of 
route running across open farmland south of Red 
Gap Farm might be of archaeological interest 
because of nearby records for prehistoric burial 
mounds (e.g. at Wool Low and Tim Lodge to the 
east and at Fairfield Low to the NW). I would 
perhaps add that the trackway running through
woodland at Pigtor Wood may be of some 
archaeological interest because of its apparent 
long-standing as a routeway.
I therefore agree with the recommendations of the 
applicant’s heritage statement, that sections of the 
route may have an archaeological impact and that 
this should addressed through archaeological 

Page 176



monitoring of the groundworks, secured by 
condition in line with NPPF para 199. The following 
condition should therefore be attached to any 
planning consent:
“No development shall take place until a written 
scheme of investigation (WSI) for archaeological 
supervision and monitoring has been submitted to 
and approved by the local planning authority in 
writing. For land that is included within the WSI, no
development shall take place other than in 
accordance with the agreed WSI, which shall
include the statement of significance and research 
objectives; and:
• The programme and methodology of site 
investigation and recording and the nomination of a 
competent person(s) or organisation to undertake 
the agreed works
• The programme for post-investigation 
assessment and subsequent analysis,
publication & dissemination and deposition of 
resulting material. This part of the condition shall 
not be discharged until these elements have been 
fulfilled in accordance with the programme set out 
in the WSI.”

Cadent Gas Initial Comments

Searches based on your enquiry have identified 
that there is no record of apparatus in the 
immediate vicinity of your enquiry. Cadent and 
National Grid therefore have no objection to 
these proposed activities.

Additional Comments
Cadent have identified operational gas apparatus 
within the application site boundary. This may 
include a legal interest (easements or wayleaves) 
in the land which restricts activity in proximity to 
Cadent assets in private land. The Applicant must 
ensure that proposed works do not infringe on 
Cadent’s legal rights and any details of such 
restrictions should be obtained from the landowner 
in the first instance. 
 
If buildings or structures are proposed directly 
above the gas apparatus then development should 
only take place following a diversion of this 
apparatus. The Applicant should contact Cadent’s 
Plant Protection Team at the earliest opportunity to 
discuss proposed diversions of apparatus to avoid 
any unnecessary delays.

Page 177



 
If any construction traffic is likely to cross a Cadent 
pipeline then the Applicant must contact Cadent’s 
Plant Protection Team to see if any protection 
measures are required.
 
All developers are required to contact Cadent’s 
Plant Protection Team for approval before carrying 
out any works on site and ensuring requirements 
are adhered to.
 
Cadent Gas has a MAJOR ACCIDENT HAZARD 
PIPELINE in the vicinity, MACCLESFIELD - 
BUXTON 
 
Cadent Gas does have Intermediate Pressure 
apparatus in the vicinity BUXTON 7BAR 
(indicated in green).
 
This was laid to the appropriate standards and in 
accordance with the relevant codes of practice.  
The pipeline is laid in a legally negotiated 
easement to which certain conditions apply.
The intended work is in the vicinity of our pipeline, 
which is laid in a legally negotiated easement to 
which certain conditions apply.
 
It is essential that access to the pipeline is not 
restricted, particularly in the event of an 
emergency. Therefore, there must be no 
obstructions within the pipeline’s maintenance 
easement strip, which would limit or inhibit 
essential maintenance works on the pipeline.
 
The BPD (Building Proximity Distance) for the 
MACCLESFIELD – BUXTON Pipeline is 17.0 
metres.
 
The BPD (Building Proximity Distance) for the 
BUXTON 7BAR Pipeline is 3.2 metres
 The BPD is taken from The Institution of Gas 
Engineers and Managers publication IGEM/TD/1 
Edition 5 which is the standard applicable to steel 
pipelines and associated installations for high 
pressure gas transmission. This is the standard 
adopted by Cadent Gas and endorsed by the 
Health and Safety Executive (HSE).
 
There are other restraints imposed on high 
pressure gas pipelines, these are land use planning 

Page 178



distances. These are distances defined by the HSE 
to allow them to advise on the acceptability of new 
developments next to the pipeline and are 
controlled through the HSE's Planning Advice for 
Developments near Hazardous Installations 
(PADHI) process. Further guidance on how these 
are applied can be found on the HSE's website 
http://www.hse.gov.uk/landuseplanning/padhi.pdf
 
Under Land Use Planning the HSE may wish to 
apply more stringent criteria for Building Proximity. I 
recommend that you ensure that they are formally 
consulted.
 
When working in the vicinity of ANY Cadent Gas 
pipelines, the standards set out in the enclosed 
copy of the Cadent Gas specification SSW22 must 
be strictly adhered to. PLEASE ENSURE THAT 
THIS IS HANDED TO THE RESPONSIBLE 
PERSON ON SITE, TOGETHER WITH COPIES 
OF THE ENCLOSED PLANS. 
 
It is the responsibility of the applicant to 
contact Cadent Gas prior to any works 
commencing on site. As you will appreciate we 
are unable to provide specific guidance based on 
the information provided. It is therefore essential 
that the applicant should contact Cadent Gas at the 
earliest convenience providing detailed site plans, 
method statements and risk assessments. 
Correspondence should be forwarded to the above 
address and marked for the attention of ‘The Plant 
Protection Team’. This will enable us to provide the 
relevant documentation for safe working in the 
vicinity of our pipeline, and to arrange appropriate 
site supervision.
 
Early Contact at the planning stage is very 
important to allow full discussion of proposals 
and to ensure the safety of plant and operators.
Please note that a minimum 7 days notice, or 
shorter if agreed with Cadent Gas, is required 
before any work may commence within the 
easement.

Final Comments

The planning application does not affect the works 
on the gas H/P & I/P pipelines as you are not 
building any properties near our assets 

Page 179

http://www.hse.gov.uk/landuseplanning/padhi.pdf


However all works that are close to /cross over 
/below our pipelines must be submitted into 
cadents plant protection before any works take 
place.

7. OFFICER COMMENT

Policy Context

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to be read in 
conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the Local Planning Authority to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are material 
considerations which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) provides that in determining 
applications the Local Planning Authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the 
Development Plan, so far as material to the application and to any other material 
considerations." The Development Plan currently consists of the High Peak Local 
Plan Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Paragraph 10 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) explains 
that at the heart of the Framework is the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. For decision makers this means that when considering development 
proposals which accord with the development plan they should be approved without 
delay; or where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of 
date, grant planning permission unless:- 

i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole. (Para 11 NPPF July 2018).

7.4 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF identifies the three dimensions to sustainable 
development as economic, social and environmental.

7.5 Local Plan policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development as contained within the NPPF.

7.8 The policies contained in the Framework are supplemented by the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), which is also a material consideration in the 
determination of applications.

7.9 A list of key policies, guidance and other material considerations is provided 
above (section 5).

Page 180



Principle of development

7.10 Under the provisions of Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order, the installation of below ground pipelines are normally 
‘permitted development’ for statutory undertakers including gas, water, electricity and 
telecommunications operators and do not require planning permission.  The pipeline 
in this case is proposed by a private company and as it comprises an engineering 
operation, requires full planning permission. 

7.11 The route of the pipeline lies in open countryside outside of the National Park 
and Green Belt. The site is located within the Open Countryside where Policy EQ3 - 
Rural Development states that outside the settlement boundaries and sites allocated 
for development as defined on the Policies Map, including the Green Belt, the 
Council will seek to ensure that new development is strictly controlled in order to 
protect the landscape's intrinsic character and distinctiveness, including the 
character, appearance and integrity of the historic and cultural environment and the 
setting of the Peak District National Park whilst also facilitating sustainable rural 
community needs, tourism and economic development. This will be achieved by, 
inter alia:

 Supporting rural employment in the form of home working, commercial 
enterprises and live-work units where a rural location can be justified

 Ensuring that all development is of a high quality design and protects or 
enhances landscape character and the setting of the Peak District National 
Park

7.12 Therefore it is considered that Policy EQ3 also offers support for commercial 
enterprises where a rural location can be justified. In this case the fact that the 
development is associated with an existing abstraction facility and an existing 
bottling plant, both of which are located within the rural area means that a rural 
location is inevitable and therefore essential and the development cannot be located 
elsewhere. Moreover Policy S7 recognises the importance of encouraging growth of 
local employment opportunties and supporting the diversification and growth of the 
local economy by supporting the needs of local businesses. Development proposals 
which utilise naturally occuring mineral water sources and accord with other policies 
in the Local Plan which support the local ecomony will be supprted. Support can also 
be drawn from Policy S4 which states that  the Council will maintain and where 
possible, enhance the economic base of the Plan Area. This will be achieved by, 
inter alia, Supporting the appropriate improvement, enhancement and expansion of 
existing Businesses; Supporting new agricultural development, farm diversification 
and other development related to the rural economy that accords with Policy EQ3 
(Rural Development); Supporting proposals that help to deliver the areas of 
economic focus and strategic priorities of the Local Enterprise Partnership. Policy E1 
relates to new employment development and states that new business and industrial 
developments in sustainable locations that contribute towards the creation and 
retention of a wide range of jobs, education and training opportunities will be 
supported. This will be achieved by, inter alia, Supporting business development 
within the countryside that accords with Local Plan Policy EQ3. The proposal is 
therefore considered to be acceptable in principle subject to compliance with other 
relevant local plan policies. 

Page 181



Highways/Parking

7.13 Some of the main concerns expressed by the public relate to disruption and 
congestion on the public highway and access issues during the construction works – 
particularly on and around Red Gap Lane. The applicants are proposing 
management measures following discussions with DCC and will also need to apply 
for a Street Works Licence.  However the following arrangements are initially 
proposed in the Design and Access Statement:

 The main area of concern is the disruption to the A6. It was agreed that 
Highways will review traffic count data for this section and notify Nestlé 
waters should any dates be unavailable. It was considered likely that 
we should avoid both the Buxton Festival and the summer holidays, 
effectively ruling out July and August 2019.

 To work in the highway, Streetworks Licences are required and are to 
be applied for online. As a rule, at least 6 weeks notice will be required.

 Separate temporary traffic management applications must be made 
detailing the traffic management proposals. It is anticipated that;-

o The A6 (400m) will be subject to temporary lights.
o Daisymere lane (1650m) will be subject to priority signage for 

the majority of its length, but to a temporary closure for the 
northernmost 375m adjoining Waterswallows Road.

o Waterswallows Road (short crossing), being adjacent a junction 
will require 3-way lights.

o The footpath through the SSSI will not be passable during the 
works. The Rights of Way Officer, has confirmed that a 
temporary closure of the footpath through the SSSI will be 
required. This will require at least 5 weeks advance notice to 
process the application.

7.14 As regards access to individual residents properties, where this is directly 
from the public highway, this would need to be addressed and considered by the 
applicant as part of their applications to DCC for road closures / street works 
licenses etc. Where private rights of way or access roads / drives / tracks are 
affected this is a civil matter between the developer and the individual landowner. 
Overall, and for these reasons it is concluded that the scheme complies with Local 
Plan Policy EQ6 and CF6 in respect of access and parking. 

Public Right of Way

7.15 The pipeline runs for some distance along the route of Public Footpath 21 
(Buxton) which will need to be temporarily closed during the works. A temporary 
closure order will be required from the County Council. However, DCC have raised 
no objection in principle to the proposal. It is noted also that no objections have been 
raised by the footpath groups, although it has been referred to by third party 
objectors. Nevertheless in the absence of any objection from DCC it is not 
considered that a refusal on Rights of Way grounds would be sustainable. 

Contaminated Land

Page 182



7.16 The route of the pipeline passes mostly through countryside and along roads 
and trackways. The Councils Environmental Health Officers have considered the 
application and raised no objection on contaminated land grounds. 

Archaeology

7.17 The applicants have provided a Heritage Assessment with the application which 
considers archaeological matters. The Assessment concludes:

 The proposed pipeline route lies within a historic landscape characterised by 
small rectilinear fields, trackways and scattered farmhouses and 
farmbuildings. Nineteenth century quarries and limekilns also form an integral 
part of this historic landscape. This landscape has changed relatively little 
since depicted on the Fairfield tithe map of 1842, although larger quarries are 
now present east of Daisymere Lane and north of the A6.

 The archaeological potential of the pipeline route is largely unknown. 
However, the identification of a Mesolithic flint scatter with a nearby 
concentration of pits and postholes, together with a possible Neolithic 
longhouse in an archaeological excavation in advance of the construction of 
the Nestle Waters factory, along with Bronze Age barrows and Roman field 
systems noted close by, indicates that this was a landscape which was 
utilised by hunter-gatherer groups and Neolithic, Bronze Age, Roman and 
later agricultural communities. Any such archaeological remains are likely to 
be of low or medium significance.

 It is understood that the proposed pipeline will involve the excavation of a 
trench some 0.75m wide and 1.2m deep. From the north the pipeline will 
initially cross a field containing a deep pond where archaeological 
investigations for the existing Nestle Waters factory established that there was 
only a low potential for unrecorded archaeology to survive. South of 
Waterswallows Road the pipeline follows a trackway, and then proceeds 
along Daisymere Lane and Redgap Lane. Due to the ground disturbance 
which will have been caused by the creation and maintenance of the track 
and highway it is considered unlikely (although not proven) that significant 
archaeology will survive within the pipeline trench. These areas are therefore 
considered to have a low archaeological potential.

 The areas where archaeological remains are most likely to be disturbed (if 
present) are between Red Gap Farm and Bailey Flat Farm and south of the 
latter where the pipeline crosses pasture fields. Should archaeology exist in 
these areas it will be exposed in the pipeline trench and any construction 
corridor that may be required. These areas are considered to have a high 
archaeological potential. South of these pasture fields it is unlikely that 
archaeology will be present in the steep slope down to the A6 and along the 
route towards the Rockhead pumphouse. This area is therefore considered to 
have a low archaeological potential.

 In summary, the area containing pasture fields between Red Gap Farm and 

Page 183



Bailey Flat Farm and south of the latter are considered to have high 
archaeological potential whereas the remainder of the route is considered to 
have a low archaeological potential. Should archaeological remains be 
present they are likely to be of low or medium significance.

 As construction works for the proposed pipeline are likely to have an effect on 
archaeological remains of local and/or regional significance, archaeological 
mitigation will be required. Therefore, it is recommended that, once planning 
consent has been granted, consultation be carried out with the Derbyshire 
County Council Archaeologist in order to agree an appropriate archaeological 
mitigation strategy. It is envisaged that this will involve the archaeological 
monitoring of selected parts of the pipeline route as it is excavated, notably 
where it crosses the pasture fields south of Red Gap Farm. The pipeline will 
be inserted beneath all field boundary walls along the route and will not have 
any permanent harmful effect on the historic landscape as the ground will be 
fully restored once the pipeline has been installed.

7.18 The County Archaeologist has considered the submitted report and raised no 
objection subject to a condition to require the submission, approval and 
implementation of a written scheme of investigation. 

7.19 Nestle are keen to avoid any pre-commencement conditions and have therefore 
supplied the required Written Scheme of Investigation in advance of the application 
being determined. This has also been considered by the County Archaeolgoist who 
has confirmed that this is an acceptable approach. He states that there are one or 
two issues with the proposed WSI which it would be useful for the archaeological 
contractor to iron out directly with themselves (e.g. the proposed transfer of title 
arrangements) before we are in a position to recommend approval of the WSI. He 
has recommended that they liaise directly to discuss. Once they have an approved 
document then he will recommend a revised condition wording to reference the 
approved WSI. Subject to this condition, the scheme complies with Policy EQ7 of the 
Local Plan. 

Trees 

7.20 A desk top assessment of the proposals indicated two areas of potential 
impact on trees 

a) Impact on the Ancient woodland  - Pigtor Woods 
b) Impact on trees/woodlands adjacent to Daisymere Lane and Redgap Lane. 

7.21 Pigtor Woods relevant designations is designated as:  
 SAC Special Area of conservation – Peak District Dales  Primary habitat  of 

this designation  is Tilio-Acerion forests of slopes, screes and ravines 
 SSSI – Cunningdale South – woodlands an important part of this  designation 
 Ancient woodland
 Derbyshire County Council TPO 3
 Public Right of Way 
 Landscape character limestone dales 

Page 184

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/protectedsites/sacselection/habitat.asp?FeatureIntCode=H9180


7.22 There is an Arboricultural constraints report but this only deals  with the Pigtor 
wood and does not deal with the tree constraints where the proposed pipeline is 
adjacent to trees on Redgap Lane  and Daisymere Lane. The construction 
methodology provided  is generic and not site specific.
 
7.23 The plans do not make it clear where the pipeline will be laid along Redgap 
Lane and Daisymere Lane. It would seem that where there is a grass verge this will 
be the preferred location. Where the pipeline is adjacent to third party trees along the 
highway the impact on the tree roots needs to be considered and locating the 
pipeline on the opposite side of the carriage way would be the preference. 

7.24 Ecological report for the notes that the survey of the woodland was undertaken 
outside the optimum time of year. 
 
7.25 There is no information about possible alternative routes which may have 
avoided the ancient woodland. 

7.26 According to NPPF paragraph 175 “When determining planning applications, 
local planning authorities should apply the following principles: 

a) if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be 
avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), 
adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission 
should be refused;

b) development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest, and 
which is likely to have an adverse effect on it (either individually or in combination 
with other developments), should not normally be permitted. The only exception is 
where the benefits of the development in the location proposed clearly outweigh both 
its likely impact on the features of the site that make it of special scientific interest, 
and any broader impacts on the national network of Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest; 

c) development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats 
(such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless 
there are wholly exceptional reasons1 and a suitable compensation strategy exists; 
and 

d) development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity 
should be supported; while opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in 
and around developments should be encouraged, especially where this can secure 
measurable net gains for biodiversity.”

The impact on Ancient woodland Pigtor wood. 

7.27 This woodland is part of a larger area of wooded dales comprising largely 
ancient woodland and subject to conservation designations (SSI, SAC). Maintaining 

Page 185



the continuity of these woodlands is important to conservation and enhancing their 
biodiversity and landscape value. 

7.28 The proposed route follows the PROW which starts to the south near the A6 
and rises up the ridge to the fields. The path divides Pigtor wood at this point with the 
land rising up to the east and down to the west. Trees to the east and north are 
generally slightly sparser and largely comprise coppiced hazel with some larger ash 
trees 

7.29 To the south the land slopes away from the path and this area has more 
mature trees the majority of which are predominantly a combination of ash, beech  
and sycamore. 
 
7.30 Two reports submitted by the application address the impact on the woodland. 
Firstly the Arboricultural constraints plan is a basic survey of woodland with generic 
comments and some standard references to tree protection. It does not in any 
substantive way deal with the specifics of the site. 

7.31 The ecological report acknowledges that the surveying of this section was not 
undertaken at the optimal time and there may be notable species present not 
identified.  But the overall assessment of the ecological report is that the impact will 
temporary with indirect impacts. 

7.32 The proposed route will require excavation of the existing footpath through the 
wood.  The ground conditions here indicate that the underlying rock is close to the 
surface as indicated the root morphology of the neighbouring trees where their roots 
are exposed and growing over the surface of the track. The excavation for the pipe 
line here is likely to be challenging with significant export of excavated material 
unsuitable for re-instatement and replacement with material more suitable for 
encasing the pipes. All this will be within the construction exclusion zone (CEZ ) as 
defined by BS5837:2012 – Recommendations for construction in relation to trees 
and will lead to a damaging amount of root loss. Whilst in some cases the impact 
may not be immediate there is potential for longer term deterioration and including 
instability and tree loss.

7.33 The construction methodology and design and access report suggests the 
method of working will be agreed with NE and DWT. The ecological report states 
that roots will be left intact and the pipe routed around them. The Councils 
Arboricultural officer has considered this proposal and does not consider that this will 
be feasible at this location. She therefore considers that the proposals are likely to 
see the requirement for the removal of several trees either side of the footpath. 

Impact on Other Trees

7.34 The following locations have mature trees which could be impacted on by the 
excavation for the pipeline

a. Mature open grown tree in field between Pigtor wood and Bailey Flat Farm 
b. 2 Tree groups and Bailey flat farm
c. Tree group south west of Lowfoot farm to east of the road

Page 186



d. Trees at Daisymere farm to the east of the road
e. North of Daisymere farm  both sides of the road but mainly to the east 

There has been no arboricultural assessment of these trees and there are no details 
about the location of the pipeline relative to these trees. 

Assessment – Ancient woodland 

7.35 Natural England’s standing advice gives guidance on making planning 
decisions in relation to ancient woodland as follows  

When making planning decisions, you should consider:

 conserving and enhancing biodiversity
 reducing the level of impact of the proposed development on ancient 
woodland and ancient and veteran trees (see ‘Avoid impacts, reduce impacts and 
compensate as a last resort’)

You should make decisions on planning applications in line with paragraph 175C of 
the NPPF.

You should refuse planning permission if development will result in the loss or 
deterioration of ancient woodland, ancient trees and veteran trees unless:

 there are wholly exceptional reasons
 there’s a suitable compensation strategy in place

7.36 The NPPF is clear that consent should be refused if the proposal will lead to 
the loss or deterioration of the ancient woodland.  In this case as the pipe will be 
underground the main impact is temporary and it is therefore possible that no 
woodland area will be permanently lost. However as the proposals stand it is likely 
that the activities will lead to the deterioration of the ancient woodland through the 
impact on mature trees and the immediate vicinity of the path. 

7.37 If the impact cannot be avoided careful consideration needs to be given to the 
reduction of the impacts. In this case for a pipeline to be constructed between the 
spring and the bottling plant this is the most logical route as it is the narrowest point 
of the ancient woodland  where the pipe can cross and it is beneath an existing 
track. 

7.38 Nevertheless details are needed of how the impact will be reduced and  what 
mitigation is proposed. The Arboricultural Officer considers that given the weight 
given to ancient woodlands in the NPPF this information must be provided before 
any determination of the application.  The following will be required 

 An Arboricultural Impact assessment and method statement (AIS and AMS). 
This should clearly identify which trees are potentially to be lost as a result of 
impact on their roots and provide a workable methodology to limiting the 
damage to the trees. I would expect that this would include Arboricultural 

Page 187

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences#avoid-impacts-reduce-mitigate-impacts-and-compensate-as-a-last-resort
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences#avoid-impacts-reduce-mitigate-impacts-and-compensate-as-a-last-resort
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


supervision of the excavation works. 
 An ecological impact assessment/method statement based on survey work 

done at the optimum time for ground flora. The method statement should deal 
with the potential impact of soil and other substrate removal and replacement 
within alternative materials.

 Mitigation proposals acceptable to DWT, NE and the land owner

7.39 Further information with regards to the impact on other trees is also required. 
The Arboricultural Officer has set out the location of the other trees and an 
Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) is required which either shows that the 
pipeline will be outside the / root protection area Construction Exclusion Zone 
(RPA/CEZ) and where this is not possible a methodology  for the laying of pipes in 
the vicinity of the trees  

7.40 In summary, the Arboricultural Officer has concluded that there is the following 
outstanding information 
 

a) Arboricultural Method statement (AMS) Further to the above comments I have 
been in discussion with Arboricultural Consultants acting on behalf of Nestle 
with regards to the production of AMS. This should be submitted  prior to 
approval rather than as a condition.  This has not yet been submitted.  

b) An Ecological Report done at the optimum time of year  and a CEMP as 
required by DWT.

c) Mitigation no details of mitigation  have been provided
  
7.41 Without the above information she considers that the proposals have a 
significant potential to be detrimental to  the ancient woodland and also other non 
designated trees.   Therefore approval would be contrary to the NPPF as set out in 
section 3.1 above. Whilst it is open to the Council to impose a condition for these 
documents to be provide pre commencement the Arboricultural Officer is not happy 
with this approach given the environmental  sensitivity and considers that this 
information should part of the consideration  prior to consent.

7.42 As noted above Nestle are also keen to avoid pre-commencement conditions 
and this information has therefore been commissioned and submitted. This has been 
given consideration by the Arboricultural Officer and she has confirmed that this 
contains the detail  required and it does address the issues she raised . This is 
considered in arboricultural terms to be the most sensible approach to the installation 
of the pipeline. However, it does not necessarily guarantee that no trees will be 
severely damaged or need to be removed as a result of works but its does reduce 
the risk of this occurring. There is mention of mitigation in terms of replacement 
planting and ecological management in the ancient woodland, but none of this is 
specified in any detail in either the CEMP or the Arboricultural statement.  However, 
this could be secured by condition and subject to this condition, the Arboricultural 
officer raises no objection and it is considered that the scheme complies with Policy 
EQ9 of the Local Plan.

Landscape & Visual Impact (including impact on the Peak Park)

Page 188



7.43 Given that the pipeline will be underground, except for where it crosses the 
River Wye adjacent to the existing quarry access bridge, no landscape or visual 
impact issues are raised.  According to the Design and Access Statement it is 
anticipated that the crossing will be facilitated by either;-

  Appending the pipework to the side of the existing bridge
 Creating a new structure to house the pipework.

7.44 Since the application was submitted, however, a design detail has now been 
agreed and submitted to the Council for approval, showing the pipeline emerging 
from under the road at the site access, being fixed to the side of the bridge deck, 
between the parapet railing and the top of the arch, before going underground again 
on the opposite side. The visual impact of this aspect of the proposal is minimal and  
there is no conflict with Policies EQ2 and EQ6 in terms of landscape or design.

7.45 For the same reason the conclusion is reached that there would be no adverse 
impact on the setting of the Peak District National Park. The proposal therefore also 
accords with paragraph 172 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  The 
statutory purposes of the National Park are to conserve and enhance the natural 
beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the park; and to promote opportunities for the 
understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the park by the public. The 
Peak Park Authority have been consulted on the proposals, however no comments 
have not been received. In the absence of any comment or objection from the 
PDNPA the proposed development would not have a significant impact on or harm 
those statutory purposes. Accordingly the Council has complied with its duty to ‘have 
regard’ for those statutory purposes in carrying out its functions (section 11 A(2) of 
the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 (as amended)). 

Ecology

7.46 The application is supported by Ecological Appraisal and Assessment of Likely 
Significant Effects Report. The conclusions and recommendations are summarised 
below:

Page 189



7.47 Some UK sites are designated as sites of European significance and are 
called Special Protection Areas and/or Special Areas of Conservation. Together, 
these sites are referred to as the Natura 2000 network. Planning permission should 
only be given if the development will not adversely affect the integrity of the site, or if 
there are imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social 
or economic nature. Impacts must be compensated in order to maintain the overall 
integrity of the Natura 2000 network.  SSSIs are nationally important sites and are 
protected under a number of Acts of Parliament including the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Along with the SPA they are the highest form of protections 
that can be placed on an area in ecological terms. The application affects the Wye 
Valley SSSI and it also affects the Peak District Dates Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC)

7.48 The EC Habitats Directive 1992 requires the UK to maintain a system of strict 
protection for protected species and their habitats. 

7.49 The UK has implemented the Directive in the Conservation (Natural Habitats 
etc) Regulations 2010 (as amended) which contain two layers of protection (i) a 
requirement on Local Planning Authorities (“LPAs”) to have regard to the Directive`s 
requirements, and (ii) a licensing system administered by Natural England and 
supported by criminal sanctions.

Page 190



7.50 The conservation and enhancement of the natural environment is a core 
principle of the NPPF where planning policies should promote the preservation, 
restoration and re-creation of priority habitats and ecological networks.  In 
determining planning applications, permission should be refused if significant harm 
resulting from development cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated or, as a last 
resort, compensated for.  Similarly, Local Plan Policy EQ5 promotes the 
maintenance, enhancement, restoration and re-creation of biodiversity and 
geological resources of the plan area and seeks to ensure that development 
proposals will not result in significant harm to these interests.

7.51  Policy EQ5 states that this will be achieved by:

 Conserving and enhancing sites of international, European, and national 
importance. On these sites the Council will not permit any development 
proposal that has an adverse effect on the integrity of a European site (or 
wildlife site given the same protection as European sites under the NPPF) 
either alone or in combination with other plans or projects.

 Conserving and enhancing any Sites of Special Scientific Interest. On these 
sites the Council will not permit any development proposal which would 
directly or indirectly (either individually or in combination with other 
developments) have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest

 Conserving and enhancing regionally and locally designated sites. On these 
sites the Council will not permit any development proposal which would 
directly or indirectly result in significant harm to geological and biodiversity 
conservation interests, unless it can be demonstrated that:

o there is no appropriate alternative site available; and 
o all statutory and regulatory requirements relating to any such proposal 

have been satisfied; and
o appropriate conservation and mitigation measures are provided, such 

mitigation measures should ensure as a minimum no net loss and 
wherever possible net gain for biodiversity; 

o or if it is demonstrated that this is not possible; 
o the need for, and benefit of, the development is demonstrated to clearly 

outweigh
o the need to safeguard the intrinsic nature conservation value of the site 

and compensatory measures are implemented
 Encouraging development to include measures to contribute positively to the 

overall biodiversity of the Plan Area
 Working with partners to help meet the objectives and targets in the Peak 

District Biodiversity Action Plan or its successor
 Working with partners to protect and enhance watercourses
 Identifying local ecological networks and supporting their establishment and 

protection in accordance with Local Plan Policy EQ8, preferentially creating 
biodiversity sites where they have the potential to develop corridors between 
habitats (both terrestrial and freshwater)

 Working with partners in the public, private and voluntary sectors to develop 
and secure the implementation of projects to enhance the landscape and 
create or restore habitats of nature conservation value, and to secure the 
more effective management of land in the Plan Area and its surroundings

Page 191



7.52 The submitted report has been considered by Derbyshire Wildlife Trust (DWT) 
and Natural England. DWT raised no concerns in respect of the proposals but 
recommended that a Construction Environmental Method Statement (CEMP: 
Biodiversity) is secured through a pre-commencement planning condition. As noted 
above Nestle are keen to avoid any pre-commencement conditions and have 
therefore provided this information in advance of the application being determined. 
DWT have considered this document and concluded that the route as shown in the 
CEMP avoids any further significant incursion into the Local Wildlife Site (LWS) 
(other than a short link to the pumphouse). The CEMP has also recognised the 
possible impact on a rare plant within the SSSI that is very close to the proposed 
route. Avoiding a direct impact on this plant and the rocky terrain it is growing on 
should be possible and the CEMP has included a statement to this effect.   

7.53 The CEMP includes a statement that there is a direct impact on the 
Cunningdale South LWS. However, it is unclear where this would be given the 
proposed route. It does pass close by, but DWT are of the view that there would not 
be a direct impact. They have, however, recommended a few amendments to 
strengthen the document and these have been fed back to the developer. A further 
update on whether these have been incorporated will be provided to Members. 

7.54 The Habitats Regulations require an assessment of proposals to be carried out 
(HRA), the first stage of which is to carry out an Assessment of Likely Significant 
Effect (ALSE). If this determines that there will be no significant effects, no further 
action is required other than normal consideration of ecological issues against the 
Local Plan Policy. If, however, the ALSE indicates that there will be significant 
effects, a further Appropriate Assessment will need to be carried out by the 
Developer and if any significant effects cannot be mitigated against the Local 
Planning Authority will need to assess the application against the tests as set out in 
the Habitat Regulations. 

7.55 In this case Natural England, raised objections to the application as originally 
submitted on the following basis:

 That insufficient evidence that all possible alternative routes have been 
considered and suitable explanation why alternative route outside the 
Designated sites are not possible had been provided. 

 The Ecological Statement provided by the applicant had a number of incorrect 
assessments which means it is not possible to determine whether the (ALSE) 
can screen out this proposal on the Peak District Dales SAC. 

7.56 Additional information has now been provided by the developer to Natural 
England to address their concerns. 

7.57 It should be noted that in April 2018, the Court of Justice of the European 
Union delivered its judgment in Case C-323/17 People Over Wind & Peter 
Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta (‘People over Wind’). The judgment clarified that for the 
purposes of deciding whether an Appropriate Assessment is required, competent 
authorities cannot take into account any mitigation measures. As a result, a 
competent authority may only take account of mitigation measures intended to avoid 

Page 192

http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?docid=200970&doclang=EN
http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?docid=200970&doclang=EN


or reduce the harmful effects of a plan or project as part of an Appropriate 
Assessment itself. This is a departure from the approach established by domestic 
case law, which had permitted mitigation measures to be taken into account at the 
ALSE.

7.58 Having considered the additional information, Natural England have 
concluded that that without appropriate mitigation the application would: 

 have an adverse effect on the integrity of Peak District Dales Special Area of 
Conservation https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/. 

 damage or destroy the interest features for which Wye Valley Site of Special 
Scientific Interest has been notified. 

7.59 In accordance with the above therefore, as the competent authority High Peak 
Borough Council should undertake an Appropriate Assessment. 
  
Appropriate Assessment

7.60 According to the Planning Practice Guidance, the scope and content of an 
appropriate assessment will depend on the nature, location, duration and scale of 
the proposed plan or project and the interest features of the relevant site. 
‘Appropriate’ is not a technical term. It indicates that an assessment needs to be 
proportionate and sufficient to support the task of the competent authority in 
determining whether the plan or project will adversely affect the integrity of the site.

7.61 An appropriate assessment must contain complete, precise and definitive 
findings and conclusions to ensure that there is no reasonable scientific doubt as to 
the effects of the proposed plan or project. The Competent Authority will require the 
applicant to provide such information as may reasonably be required to undertake 
the assessment.

7.62 An appropriate assessment must consider the indirect effects on the 
designated features and conservation objectives, including the following principles:

 an appropriate assessment must catalogue the entirety of habitat types and 
species for which a site is protected.

 an appropriate assessment must identify and examine the implications of the 
proposed plan or project for the designated features present on that site, including 
for the typical species of designated habitats as well as the implications for habitat 
types and species present outside the boundaries of that site and functionally 
linked; insofar as those implications are liable to affect the conservation objectives 
of the site.

 where the competent authority rejects the findings in a scientific expert opinion 
recommending additional information, the appropriate assessment must include 
an explicit and detailed statement of reasons which is capable of dispelling all 
reasonable scientific doubt on the effects of the proposal on the site.

 a competent authority is permitted to grant a plan or project consent which leaves 
the applicant free to determine subsequently certain parameters relating to the 
construction phase, only if that authority is certain that the consent includes 
conditions that are strict enough to guarantee that those parameters will not 
adversely affect the integrity of the site.

Page 193



7.63 In the light of this the competent authority must determine whether the proposal 
will not adversely affect the integrity of the site(s). The integrity of a site is the 
coherence of its ecological structure and function, across its whole area that enables 
it to sustain the habitat, complex of habitats and/or the levels of populations of the 
species for which it was designated.

Habitat Types And Species For Which The Site Is Protected

7.64 The application affects the Wye Valley SSSI which has been designated for 
the following reasons:

The White Peak of Derbyshire and Staffordshire is one of the most important 
areas of carboniferous limestone in Britain. The limestone is cut by valleys, 
the 'dales', which both expose areas of high geological and geomorphological 
interest and support a range of important semi-natural woodland, scrub, 
grassland and stream habitats. Of particular importance is the variety of 
daleside grasslands, which show similarities to those found in other notable 
limestone areas such as the lower hills of the Somerset Mendips and the 
higher Craven area of Yorkshire. This gives rise to a distinctive assemblage of 
calcicolous grasslands, with a number of communities and species typical of 
either more northerly or southerly limestone grasslands, here being found 
together.

The dales vary widely in their orientation and this, together with differences in 
slope, affects the development of soil types and plant communities. South 
facing slopes are warm and dry in contrast to north facing slopes which are 
cool and moist, whilst the east facing slopes are slightly cooler than those 
which face west. The most common soils of the steeper dalesides are shallow 
nutrient-poor, well-drained rendzinas, high in calcium carbonate.

Toward the plateau, downwash of loessic material combined with surface-
leaching has reduced the calcium carbonate and resulted in soils which are 
more acidic, and which tend to grade into deeper brown earths. Richer, 
moister soils cover the more variable deposits on the floor of the dales and 
these areas tend to support neutral rather than calcareous plant communities.

The Wye Valley SSSI covers an extensive part of the upper Wye Valley 
extending, from Cunning Dale 1 km east of Buxton for a distance of 
approximately 15 km to its easterly limit 4 km west of Bakewell. A number of 
dry side dales are included within the site including parts of Deep Dale 
(Taddington), Hay Date, Tideswell Dale, Blackwell Dale, Flagg Dale, and Woo 
Dale. A wide variety of habitats are encompassed within a complete 'dale 
system' which, unusually for the area, includes permanent running water. The 
upper end of the main dale is chiefly wooded and has impressive limestone 
cliffs with local areas of open scree and tall-herb grassland below. The 
remainder of the dale, whilst less precipitous, has extensive steep slopes with 
important areas of scree grassland, ‘retrogressive’ scrub and woodland. Large 
areas of calcicolous grassland occur on the dalesides, often with acid 
grassland and heath on leached soils along the top edges. A specialised flora 

Page 194



has developed on lead spoil from the old mines scattered across the site. 
Unmanaged slopes hold stands of herb-rich mesotrophic grassland.

The Wye Valley contains some of the most flower-rich habitats that remain in 
the White Peak. It is important its large areas of species-rich calcicolous, 
mesotrophic and acidic grassland, which support a significant assemblage of 
nationally rare or scarce plant species and large populations of several plant 
species at the southern or northern limits of their geographical ranges in 
Britain. Large areas of woodland, developed on cliffs and steep, often scree-
covered slopes, encompass the full range of structure and floristic 
composition of tree canopy and subsidiary layers. The presence of additional 
rock, spoil, flush and river habitats increase the wildlife value of the site and 
helps support a number of nationally scarce lower plants and invertebrates. 
The Wye Valley is also of major geological interest for the important 
exposures in the Carboniferous Limestone throughout the site, the landslip 
formation at Hob’s House and examples of Permian-Carboniferous igneous 
activity.

7.65 It also affects the Peak District Dates Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
which was designated for the following reasons:

 The Carboniferous Limestone massif of the Peak District is one of the most 
important in Britain, lying in latitude and altitude between the Mendips and the 
Craven area of Yorkshire. The limestone is cut by valleys, the ‘dales’, which 
contain a wide range of wildlife habitats, particularly woodland, scrub and 
grassland. This mosaic of habitats and the transitions between them are of 
exceptional interest for a wide range of characteristic, rare and uncommon 
flora and fauna. 
Peak District Dales includes one of the largest surviving areas in England of 
sheep’s-fescue – meadow oat-grass (Festuca ovina – Helictotrichon pratense) 
grassland. Grasslands at this site range from hard-grazed short turf through to 
tall herb-rich vegetation, with transitions through to calcareous scrub and ash 
Fraxinus excelsior-dominated woodland. Taken together the ash woods of the 
ravines and slopes of the Dales comprise one of the largest areas of this 
habitat in Great Britain. There is also a great physical diversity due to rock 
outcrops, cliffs, screes and a variety of slope gradients and aspects. This is an 
area where northern species meet southern species such as the dwarf thistle 
Cirsium acaule. The relatively cold oceanic nature of the climate means that 
there is enrichment with northern floristic elements, such as limestone 
bedstraw Galium sterneri and globeflower Trollius europaeus. 
There is a wide range of grassland, from that characterised by sheep’s-fescue 
and meadow oat-grass through less calcareous types to, in places, an acidic 
heath grassland mosaic with heather Calluna vulgaris, bilberry Vaccinimu 
myrtillus, dwarf gorse Ulex gallii and many other calcifugous (lime-hating) 
species. This heath can grade into a taller scrub dominated by dwarf gorse. 
The site contains a large area of mixed woodland, dominated by ash Fraxinus 
excelsior. Locally, sycamore Acer pseudoplatanus is abundant. Lime Tilia 
spp. although not widely distributed can be a major component of some of the 
woods. The Dales provide good examples of woodland-scrub-grassland 

Page 195



transitions, with associated rich invertebrate populations and plant 
communities. Among the uncommon plants present in the woods are 
mezereon Daphne mezereum and green hellebore Helleborus viridis, as well 
as whitebeams Sorbus spp. on the crags. 
Other habitats in the dales include rock outcrops and scree. Dog’s mercury 
Mercurialis perennis colonises scree along with oat-grass Arrhenatherum 
elatius and mouse-eared hawkweed Hieracium pilosella. Cliff ledges support 
a wide range of vegetation types from scrub and woodland, including species 
such as yew Taxus baccata, through to areas with only thin soils supporting 
tiny annual plants. Rock outcrops are typically colonised by early flowering 
species such as rue-leaved saxifrage Saxifraga tridactylites and shining 
cranesbill Geranium lucidum. Smaller species of ferns are often abundant and 
these include rusty-back Ceterach officinarum and green spleenwort 
Asplenium viride. This habitat in the Dales is one of the strongholds for the 
endemic moss Brachythecium appelyardiae. Dove Dale is one of the richest 
sites in the Peak District for lichens, in particular for saxicolous (rock-loving) 
species, such as Clathroporina calcarea, which occurs on vertical limestone 
crags, and Solorina spongiosa and Verrucaria murina. Spoil heaps of old lead 
mines support assemblages of plants indicative of metal-rich soils 
(metallophytes), including spring sandwort Minuartia verna, rock hutchinsia 
Hornungia petraea and alpine pennycress Thlaspi alpestre. 
Many dales are dry but some have streams in winter only and some, 
permanent or semi-permanent rivers. These watercourses support important 
populations of brook lamprey Lampetra planeri, bullhead Cottus gobio and 
white-clawed crayfish Austropotamobius pallipes. A number of the dales also 
support fen vegetation associated with springs and flushes. These include 
alkaline fen which supports species such as the common butterwort 
Pinguicula vulgaris.

Implications Of The Proposed Plan Or Project

7.66 In accordance with the PPG advice which states that “The Competent 
Authority  will require the applicant to provide such information as may reasonably be 
required to undertake the assessment”, the updated Ecological Appraisal: Rockhead 
to Waterswallows Lane Pipe Route dated June 2019, produced by Bowland Ecology 
in response to the Natural England Concerns highlighted above, contains at Section 
4 a detailed evaluation and Assessment of Potential Impacts on the species and 
habitats for which the sites were designated including  a Section commencing at 
paragraph 4.15 entitled “Information to support Appropriate Assessment of effects on 
Peak District Dales SAC”. 

7.67 Those impacts are summarised in the following table:

Page 196



Page 197



 

Clearly, therefore the two key areas of concern are H9180 Tilio-Acerion forests and 
H6210 Semi-natural dry grasslands and the report considers these in detail stating: 

H9180 Tilio-Acerion forests

The main NVC types conforming to H9180 Tilio-Acerion forests are the 
‘western’ forms (sub-communities d-g) of W8 (Fraxinus excelsior – Acer 
campestre-Mercurialis perennis woodland), and the equivalent north-western 
community W9 (Fraxinus excelsior – Sorbus aucuparia – Mercurialis perennis 
woodland) (JNCC). Despite sycamore often being a native component of the 
H9180 habitat within much of Europe, this species is introduced within Britain 
and is therefore not a desirable feature of this habitat. Despite a 
comprehensive NVC survey not being carried out within the woodland, the 
survey results show a likely confirmation of the habitat as W8 (see species list 
in Appendix E). The proposed pipe route follows a public footpath through 
approximately 140 m of this habitat (also replanted ancient woodland). A 
detailed  description of the woodland is included within paragraphs 3.22 – 
3.25 above and individual trees, together with root protection zones (RPZs) 
are detailed within a separate Arboricultural Constraints Appraisal (Bowland 
Tree Consultancy, 2019). The European Site Conservation Objectives: 
Supplementary advice on conserving and restoring site features, Peak District 
Dales SAC report (Natural England, 2019) identifies 5 distinct woodland stand 
types within the SAC. The woodland within a 10 m buffer of the footpath most 
closely resembles the ‘secondary woodland’ type, characterised by the lack of 
mature trees. However the area directly adjacent to the footpath could fall 
within the ‘disturbed stand’ type, characterised by abundant sycamore within 
the canopy and shrub layer.

Page 198



The width of the public footpath and the presence of a field gate at its 
beginning suggests that it was historically used for vehicle access. The base 
of the footpath is rocky with sections comprising bedrock. The rocky base of 
the footpath together with disturbance by recreational use and probable 
clearing by the Highways Authority has meant that mature trees have not 
established. Despite this, evidence suggests that the route is only lightly used 
and vegetation that has established includes woodland ground flora species 
(including abundant dog’s mercury and wood avens), scrub (including 
abundant blackthorn, raspberry and bramble) and occasional saplings 
(sycamore). Although the flora along the footpath is quite varied, no rarities 
were observed and all of the species recorded are widespread and commonly 
occurring.

The habitat upslope and downslope of the footpath comprises notable 
woodland, however no notable tree species such as yew (Taxus baccata) or 
rock whitebeam (Sorbus rupicola) were observed within a 10 m buffer of the 
footpath. Furthermore, no veteran or otherwise notable tree specimens were 
observed, and trees within 10 m of the footpath were classed as B, C or U 
according to British Standard BS5837:2012 (Bowland Tree Consultancy, 
2019). A significant number of the trees that have RPZs within the footpath 
are sycamore, an undesirable component of the woodland and a species that 
has been removed in places as part of previous management of the SSSI 
(Natural England). The woodland adjacent to the footpath comprises a diverse 
ground flora, including green hellebore approximately 5 m to the south of the 
footpath (see plan in Appendix F).

In the absence of mitigation, the proposed works could result in the following 
impacts
to H9180 forest habitat:
1) Direct impacts to the woodland habitat through vehicle or personnel 
disturbance,
storage of materials or pollution incidents.
2) Introduction of non-native invasive species.
3) Damage to important tree roots resulting in risk to tree health.
4) Destruction and/or damage to woodland ground flora plants.
5) Indirect impacts such as noise and dust disturbance.

Provided works are confined to the footpath, it is considered that the proposed 
sensitive working methodology (see paragraph 5.5 below) can entirely 
eliminate impacts 1) and 2) as outlined in paragraph 4.18 above.

The proposed sensitive working methodology (paragraph 5.5) includes 
measures to avoid impacts to tree roots as outlined in point 3) above. 
However, it is considered likely that a number of tree roots will be damaged as 
a result of the works, possibly resulting in long term deterioration of trees 
adjacent to the footpath. Bowland Ecology are not qualified to comment on 
the impact of differing levels of root damage to the trees adjacent to the 
footpath. However, it is worth noting that a large number of the trees adjacent 
to the footpath are sycamore, an undesirable component of the woodland, the 

Page 199



loss of which is not considered to constitute a significant impact to the 
woodland. In fact, the removal of sycamore may be beneficial to the long term 
management of the woodland, especially if included within a long term plan 
for the site and associated monitoring.

Even with mitigation measures in place, it is inevitable that impacts as 
outlined in 4) and 5) above will occur. Despite the woodland ground flora 
within the footpath including a number of interesting species, these are all 
widespread and commonly occurring. Provided that the destruction of plants 
is minimised, it is considered that the loss of plants will not constitute a 
significant effect and due to the works being short term, plants are likely to 
quickly recolonise the area.

Provided that mitigation measures are in place, it is not considered that 
indirect pollution impacts as detailed within point 5) above will have a 
significant effect of the woodland habitat for which the SAC is designated. 
Furthermore, it is considered that the air pollution produced by a single small 
excavator for a short period is insignificant when compared to fluctuations in 
the frequency of lorry movements associated with the adjacent quarry 
(Ashwood Dale Quarry) and traffic on the A6.

H6210 Semi-natural dry grasslands

A short section of the proposed pipeline passes through approximately 40 m 
of grassland at TN9, described in paragraphs 3.26 – 3.34 The footprint of the 
proposed pipe route and 10 m buffer are predominantly located within MG5 
and MG6 grassland (see plan in Appendix F). The MG6 grassland is species-
poor and not a habitat for which the SSSI or SAC are designated. This habitat 
is likely to be commonly occurring within the area and therefore, small-scale 
disturbance or loss of this habitat is not considered to constitute a significant 
impact.

MG5 is not listed as a notifiable feature for the SSSI or as a main component 
of the H6210 SAC habitat. However, mosaic and transitions between MG5 
and the main habitats for which the H6210 SAC is designated (CG2, CG6, 
CG7, MG1 and MG2) are considered to form part of the SAC feature (Natural 
England, 2019). Considering the MG5 habitat is located adjacent to CG2 and 
a habitat which has some affinity with MG1e, it should be considered to form 
part of the H6210 feature. Furthermore, despite the footprint of the proposed 
pipe and associated works not anticipated to encroach into CG2 habitat, this 
does fall within the 10 m buffer.

In the absence of mitigation, the proposed works could result in the following 
impacts to H9180 grassland habitat:
1) Direct impacts to the MG5 and MG2 habitats through digging, vehicle or 
personnel
disturbance, storage of materials or pollution incidents.
2) Introduction of non-native invasive species.
3) Destruction and/or damage to notable plants.
4) Indirect impacts such as dust and other pollutants

Page 200



The proposed works will involve unavoidable impacts to approximately 150m2 
of MG5 habitat. However, provided that the proposed sensitive working 
methodology are followed (see paragraph 5.5), it is considered that impacts 
will be temporary and the habitat will revert to its former condition over a short 
timescale. Due to the CG2 habitat being just outside of the proposed working 
area, it is considered that impacts to this habitat can be avoided provided the 
recommendations outlined in section 5 of this report are adhered to.

Provided that the proposed sensitive working methodology are followed (see 
paragraph 5.5), impacts described in 2) and 3) and 4) as outlined in 
paragraph 4.25 above can be avoided. It is considered that the proposed 
works can be undertaken without impeding achievement of the targets 
outlined within the European Site Conservation Objectives: Supplementary 
advice on conserving and restoring site features, Peak District Dales SAC 
report (Natural England, 2019).

Due to the small-scale and temporary nature of the proposed works 
(maximum of a week within the grassland), provided that mitigation measures 
are in place, it is considered highly unlikely that there will be significant 
indirect impacts to the grassland habitat for which the SAC is designated. 
Furthermore, it is considered that areas impacted will quickly return to their 
former condition.

7.68 None of the other non-primary habitats relevant to the SAC designation are 
located within the route of the proposed pipe, therefore they will not be directly 
impacted. However, there is potential for a number of the habitats listed above to be 
in close proximity (~200 m). This is considered in the Appraisal Report which 
concludes that due to the small scale and temporary nature of the proposed works 
the potential threats are limited to indirect impacts from run-off or air pollution. The 
Assessment concludes, however, that “considering none of the habitats for which the 
SAC is designated are located downslope of the proposed works, should a fuel run-
off event occur they would not be impacted (measures will be in place to mitigate 
such an incident anyway). It is considered that the air pollution produced by a single 
small excavator for a short period is insignificant when compared to fluctuations in 
the frequency of lorry movements associated with the adjacent quarry (Ashwood 
Dale Quarry) and traffic on the A6. No further threats from the proposed works to the 
habitats for which the SAC is designated have been identified. As such no mitigation 
for these impacts is required.

Consideration Of Scientific Expert Opinion

7.69 The submitted reports have been considered by both DWT and Natural 
England who, following the submission of the additional information have raised no 
concerns in respect of their methodology or conclusions. Consequently, it is not 
considered that there are any grounds to reject the findings of expert scientific expert 
opinion and that there is no reasonable scientific doubt as to the effects of the 
proposals on the site as summarised in the table above. 

Page 201



Mitigation & Conditions relating to the construction phase to guarantee the integrity 
of the site. 

7.70 The PPG advises that where it cannot be concluded that there will be no 
adverse effects on a site’s integrity, there is a need to consider potential mitigation. 
Mitigation measures are protective measures forming part of a project and are 
intended to avoid or reduce any direct adverse effects that may be caused by a plan 
or project, to ensure that it does not have an adverse effect on the integrity of a 
habitats site(s). Any measures used to inform the decision about the effects on the 
integrity need to be sufficiently secured and likely to work in practice. Measures 
aimed at compensating for the negative effects of a project cannot be considered 
mitigation measures. The mitigation hierarchy should apply and in the first instance 
effort should be made to avoid an adverse effect on site integrity altogether.

7.71 In this case consideration has been given to avoiding an adverse effect on 
site integrity altogether by utilising an alternative route. An alternative route report 
which considers 2 alternative proposals has been submitted. 

 Alternative Route 1: This alternative runs around the southern edge of the 
SSSI through a steep section of the valley side which is characterised by 
dense semi-natural broadleaved woodland that is classified as ancient 
replanted woodland and a small area of calcareous grassland. Semi-natural 
broadleaved woodland and calcareous grassland are classified as Habitats of 
Principal Importance (HPI).

 Alternative Route 1: This alternative route follows other PROWS leading to 
Redgap Lane on a route which is considerably longer and which traverses the 
full length of the SSSI.

The alternative routes are illustrated on a plan within the report. The report 
concludes:

“Alternative route 2 was discounted because: 
 There are severe technical constraints associated with this length of pipe 
and the requirements for pumping mineral water over a considerable distance. 
 It is not a cost effective option. The additional resource needed for the 
longer length of pipe and the pumping apparatus makes this alternative option 
prohibitive. 
 The pipe would pass along the full length of the SSSI in order to climb the 
northern edge of the Wye Valley across the contours of the slope. This has 
environmental implications. 

Alternative route 1 is a more minor variation on the preferred alignment but it 
has also been discounted for the following reasons: 
 The uneven topography, including rock outcrops, along this route would add 
to the technical challenges of excavating the trench for the pipeline. The 
clearance of the route corridor for machine access would be disruptive and 
destructive. 
 There would be an increased cost associated with establishing a route 
across steep and uneven ground. 

Page 202



 The environmental impacts will be significant. The route corridor would 
need to be formed by the clearance of woodland on a steep, rocky slope. 
Whilst this will be on the outer edge of the designated SSSI there will be 
negative implications on wildlife, ancient woodland and the visual / landscape 
character of this part of the Wye Valley.

The preferred route has been selected because it results in the most positive 
outcomes when weighed against the objectives set out in the first chapter of 
this report: 
i. The installation of the pipe along this route is practical and deliverable. All 
parts of the route are accessible by (small scale) machinery. This allows the 
excavation of the trench (and reinstatement) to be carried out with precision, 
minimising as far as possible, any disruption. 
ii. This is a cost effective solution. The requirement for intermediate pumping 
is minimised. It is a reasonably direct route between the source of the mineral 
water and the bottling facility 
iii. Only a small proportion of the pipe route passes through the SSSI (125m of 
a total length of 3600m). More importantly, the route selected is along a well-
established agricultural track where the small scale and temporary works will 
not impact on the integrity of the designated site. It is already a clear and 
unobstructed route where soils have been compacted following many years of 
use providing access to agricultural land and use as a PROW. 
iv. The selected route minimises the extent of excavation (and disruption) 
along the A6 corridor. It is an absolute requirement of Derbyshire County 
Council in its role as the local highway authority that the degree of excavation 
in the public highway is minimised. 

 
7.72 An addendum report has been submitted by the applicant which explains that:

“Nestlé Waters UK has evaluated the alternative route to the east as proposed in the 
last meeting with Natural England on 31st July. From the result of this evaluation, it 
can be concluded: 
 Routing pipeline through the east results in a significantly longer length of pipe 
along the A6 corridor 
 During civil works, it will create an increased disturbance along the A6 associated 
with the alternative route causing greater disruption along a main approach to 
Buxton 
 Consultation with Highways Authority together with High Peak Borough Council 
has raised issues with traffic management and for maintenance access 
 The alternative route requires a new planning application which would result in a 
significant delay to the project 
 A new planning application would need to be supported by new ecological, 
topographical and archaeological surveys for which permission has not currently 
been agreed with the associated landowner. 
 The alternative route requires landowner consent, which is not expected to be 
forthcoming following an initial consultation with the landowner. 
 The financial viability of the project and subsequent future business plan would be 
unacceptable as a result of the cost of the longer pipeline and extended timescale for 
implementation 

Page 203



7.73 On the basis of this assessment it is agreed that the above alternative 
proposals are equally harmful to the proposal under consideration in this application 
and/or impractical, as are other solutions not considered in the report such as routing 
the pipeline entirely along the A6 into the town centre and via Fairfield Road to 
Waterswallows, or utilising an existing pipeline from the source to Staden Lane 
industrial estate and either extending that pipeline across the town centre to 
Waterswallows or tankering the water to the plant. From both a cost and highway 
congestion point of view neither of these options is practical. 

7.74 The PPG goes on to explain if avoidance of the impact altogether is not 
possible impact reduction measures should be applied. For example, this may 
involve:

 switching to a less damaging method of construction;
 undertaking works at a less sensitive time of year (e.g. outside a breeding 

season);
 not proceeding with some parts of the plan or project;
 incorporating additional works into the plan or project to avoid or reduce its 

impact.

7.75 Having regard to the nature of the development (an underground pipeline), 
the impacts are considered to be associated with the construction process and for 
the duration of the construction period rather than long-term as a result of the on-
going presence and operation of the development. The Developer has therefore 
submitted a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan dated June 
2019. This deals not only with the impacts on the HPI, SAC and SSSI but also more 
general ecological constraints including nesting birds, bats, amphibians, badgers, 
reptiles, hedgehogs and brown hare. 

7.76 Specifically, however, for the purposes of this Appropriate Assessment, the 
report sets out the following Method Statement for Designated sites comprising 
broadleaved woodland, notable grassland and flora.

“The proposed pipe route passes through a 180 m section of The Wye Valley SSSI 
(Unit 003 – Cunning Dale South) which comprises broadleaved woodland. The 
portion of the Wye Valley SSSI through which the proposed pipe route passes is also 
designated as a SAC (Peak District Dales). The proposed route also passes 
throughCow Dale LWS, and Cunningdale (sic) South LWS, both designated for the 
presence of unimproved calcareous grassland. There are further three LWSs and 
numerous HPI within 1 km of the site boundary. Due to the small-scale and 
temporary nature of the works, provided appropriate working methodology with 
mitigation measures are followed prior to, during, and on completion of works, the 
integrity of designated sites and HPIs will not be significantly impacted. Furthermore, 
it is considered that areas subject to small-scale impacts will return to their former 
condition over a short to medium timescale. The recommended working 
methodology will involve the following:

 Contractors will be briefed by the ECoW [Ecological Clerk Of Works] on the 
measures to minimise impacts to the protected sites and habitats prior to 
commencing works;

 Contractors will have copies of, and have understood the Ecological 
Constraints Plans;

Page 204



 No works will take place in high risk areas, highlighted with red hatching on 
the Ecological Constraints Plans;

 Works within sensitive habitats (highlighted with orange hatching on the 
Ecological Constraints Plans) will be supervised by the ECoW;

 Turves will be removed prior to works within sensitive grassland habitats to be 
impacted. The methods for turf removal, storage, replacement and post works 
management is included in paragraph 4.15 below;

 Particularly sensitive habitats and notable species will be avoided (namely 
CG2 grassland, spring cinquefoil and green hellebore), and will be clearly 
marked with an appropriate buffer zone (using hazard tape or other fencing);

 The working area will be marked out and works will be confined to this area;
  An ECoW will be on site at the commencement of works to check that 

working methods and level of impact are in line with what was anticipated. If 
this is not the case, further advice will be provided and working methods may 
have to be adapted;

 Works will be undertaken during daylight hours and no artificial lighting will be 
used during the hours of darkness;

 Strict biosecurity measures will be followed during works to ensure non-native
invasive species are not spread. This will include thoroughly cleaning all 
machinery, tools and footwear prior to taking on site and on each subsequent 
visit;

 Pollution prevention measures as outlined in paragraph 4.16 below will be
followed, along with other relevant guidance on the protection of 
watercourses, ground water and soils;

 The number of vehicle and personnel journeys on and off site will be kept to a
minimum to reduce erosion and the chance of introducing non-native invasive
species;

 If works are likely to create significant erosion, matting will be used to protect 
the ground within the working area;

 Tree root protection zones will be established and avoided, and any 
significant tree roots discovered whilst excavating the trench will be retained, 
with the pipe installed around these;

 Where abundant moss occurs within the working footprint, this will be carefully
moved to a suitable location and replaced upon completion of works; No 
foreign soil or plant material will be brought onto site;

 Contractors will undertake a site walkover prior to commencing works each 
day to check for any previously unidentified ecological constraints to the 
works such as the presence of reptiles, bird nests or badger activity. A daily 
log will be completed (Appendix D) and if any issues are identified, advice will 
be sought
from the ECoW; and

 The ECoW will undertake a site inspection following completion of the works 
within the SAC/SSSI and any remedial/habitat reinstatement works required 
will be undertaken immediately.

7.77 Natural England have considered the submitted CEMP and concluded that 
with mitigation there would not be an adverse effect on the integrity of Peak District 
Dales Special Area of Conservation and the scheme would not damage or destroy 
the interest features for which Wye Valley Site of Special Scientific Interest has been 
notified. Natural England have further advised that suitable mitigation including 

Page 205



compliance with the CEMP can be secured by condition.  It is further noted that 
DWT, as the Councils own advisors, have concluded that subject to securing a 
detailed CEMP, which has now been provided prior to determination, the proposal 
the specific qualifying features of the SAC are unlikely to be significantly impacted. 

Summary & Conclusion

7.78 The proposed pipe route passes through a 125 m section of The Wye Valley 
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) (Unit 003 – Cunning Dale South) which 
comprises broadleaved woodland. A number of additional units of the Wye Valley 
SSSI occur within 1 km of the proposed pipe route. The Wye Valley SSSI is 
designated for its geological and geomorphological interest and associated range of 
important semi-natural woodland, scrub, grassland and stream habitats. Of particular 
importance is the variety of daleside grasslands. The portion of the Wye Valley SSSI 
through which the proposed pipe route passes is also designated a Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). The Peak District Dales SAC qualifies for this designation due 
to the presence of semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies on calcareous 
substrates, Tilio-Acerion forests of slopes, screes and ravines and white-clawed 
crayfish along with a number of habitats and species that are not primary reasons for 
its designation.

7.79 The ALSE undertaken by Natural England has concluded that that without 
appropriate mitigation the application would: 

 have an adverse effect on the integrity of Peak District Dales Special Area of 
Conservation https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/. 

 damage or destroy the interest features for which Wye Valley Site of Special 
Scientific Interest has been notified. 

7.80 In accordance with the above therefore, as the competent authority High Peak 
Borough Council should undertake an Appropriate Assessment. That Assessment is 
set out above and has identified that the likely significant effects are on: 

- H9180 Tilio-Acerion forests comprising Disturbance to approx.. 700 m2, 
however no tree removal and limited impacts to other woodland features

- H6210 Semi-natural dry grasslands comprising Disturbance to approx.. 150 
m2

7.81 In the absence of any objection from Natural England or DWT there is no 
scientific basis on which to challenge these conclusions.

7.82 Where likely adverse effect on the integrity is identified avoidance of the 
impact should be considered in the first instance. An alternative routes report and 
addendum report has been submitted which considers alternatives and concludes 
that these too would be harmful or would be impractical / unviable. Other alternatives 
considered by officers are also deemed to be impractical or undesirable. 

7.83 The developer has therefore submitted a CEMP detailing proposed mitigation 
measures. The Developers Ecological Appraisal, CEMP, Natural England and DWT 
agree that adverse effects in the integrity of the SAC can ruled out provided all 

Page 206



agreed or proposed mitigation measures are secured and implemented. Natural 
England has confirmed that this can be achieved by condition. 

7.84 If following mitigation adverse effect on the integrity remain, the Local 
Planning Authority as the Competent Authority would need to consider the 
“Derogation Tests” under the Habitat Regulations. However, in this case, given that 
the impacts can be mitigated and relate to the construction phase only it is permitted 
to grant the project consent provided that the consent includes conditions that are 
strict enough to guarantee that those parameters will not adversely affect the 
integrity of the site. In the light of the Natural England and DWT advice, it is 
considered that this is the case.  

Flooding

7.85 Although parts of the site lie within the Wye Valley alongside the river, and are 
thus within the Flood Zone, as the pipeline will be underground and no changes in 
finished ground levels are proposed, no flooding issues are raised. The Environment 
Agency and Lead Local Flood Authority have been consulted and confirmed that 
from a planning perspective they have either no objection to make to the application 
on this basis and accordingly it is concluded that the proposal complies with Policy 
EQ11 – Development and Flood Risk.
 
Impact on Railway

7.86 Within the A6 works, the trench will pass the pier of a railway viaduct. According 
to the developer, discussions have begun with Network Rail North West Asset 
Protection, but at a depth of just 1.2m deep and a distance of 3 m from the piers, it is 
not anticipated that any extra provision, above a watching brief, will be required. 
Network Rail have been consulted on the application and have raised no objections 
subject to a Basic Asset Protection Agreement which would be negotiated directly 
with Network Rail.

Amenity

7.87 Whilst concern about the amenity impacts of the pipeline has been expressed 
by members of the public the planning issues relating to the development are very 
limited.  Planning is concerned mainly with long term harm that a development might 
cause rather than short-term construction disturbance, which is inevitable with any 
large scale development. Matters of highway access during construction have been 
addressed above. No amenity objections relating to construction impacts have been 
raised by the Environmental Health Officer. Accordingly there is no conflict with 
Policy EQ6 in terms of amenity. 

Gas Pipelines

7.88 Part of the proposed route lies within a consultation zone for a high pressure 
gas main necessitating consultation with National Grid (Cadent Gas). Initially they 
responded to the application stating that none of their equipment would be affected. 
They subsequently issued a further standard response stating that they had 
identified operational gas apparatus within the application site boundary. 

Page 207



7.89 As a result they have highlighted the need for the developer to engage and 
reach agreement with Cadent and have stated that for buildings or structures that 
are proposed directly above the gas apparatus then development should only take 
place following a diversion of this apparatus. Protection measures may also be 
required if construction traffic is to cross their pipeline.  The pipeline in question is 
classed as a Major Accident Hazard Pipeline. The response goes on to explain that 
easements to the pipeline must not be restricted and sets out minimum Building 
Proximity Distances  and states that there are other restraints imposed on high 
pressure gas pipelines, by the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and that the 
HSE's Planning Advice for Developments near Hazardous Installations (PADHI) 
process should be followed. Cadent have recommended that the HSE are formally 
consulted. 

7.90 The proposed Nestle pipeline crosses the Cadent pipelines in a number of 
places. As such development within their easements and within the minimum 
Building Proximity Distances is inevitable and unavoidable. However, following 
further discussion with Cadent it would appear that the minimum distances advice 
and responses in their standard consultation letter relates to the development of 
dwellings and buildings rather than pipelines, given that, as noted above, most 
pipelines are installed by other statutory undertakers and do not require planning 
permission. As a result where other pipelines have to cross or been installed in close 
proximity to Cadent equipment, this is dealt with separately through direct liaison, 
discussion between Cadent and the other pipeline installer and supervision on-site 
by Cadent staff. Cadent have advised that they would deal with the Nestle pipeline in 
the same way. 

7.91 Consequently, they have submitted a further response and stated that the 
planning application does not affect the works on the gas H/P & I/P pipelines as the 
developer not building any properties near to their assets. However all works that are 
close to /cross over /below our pipelines must be submitted into Cadents Plant 
Protection Team for approval before any works take place.

7.92 The HSE have been consulted on the application but no response has been 
received to date. However, on this basis, it is considered that no further measures 
are required in respect of the pipeline. 

Other matters

7.93 A number of other matters have been raised by third party objectors to the 
scheme.

 Concern is raised about damage to other underground services. As noted 
above, this can be controlled through other permitting regimes.

 With regard to damage to highway surfaces, as noted above under DCC 
licensing the road surface will need to be restored. Any damage to private 
roads will be a civil matter between the developer and the owners of the road. 

 A number of objections have been raised relating to bottled water production 
and plastic pollution generally. However, these are not considered to be 
material planning considerations as this application relates to operational 
development for the construction of a pipeline and the planning considerations 

Page 208



must be confined to the impact of the development under consideration. 
 Ecological, geological and habitat issues have been addressed elsewhere in 

this report. 
 Concerns have been raised about the stability of the flow in the River Wye. 

However, this application relates to a pipeline rather than the abstraction of 
the water itself, which requires separate licensing via the Environment 
Agency. The Agency has been consulted on the application and raised no 
objections. 

8. CONCLUSION AND REASONS FOR APPROVAL:

8.1 The site is located within the open countryside but outside the Green Belt and 
the Peak District National Park. Policy EQ3 permits rural employment development 
where a rural location can be justified. In this case, given that the pipeline connects 
to fixed points within the rural area it is considered that this policy requirement is 
met. Moreover Policy S7 supports proposals which utilise naturally occurring mineral 
water, which the proposed pipeline will do. 

8.2 In the absence of any objection from Derbyshire County Council it is considered 
that a refusal on highway grounds could not be sustained and that the appropriate 
highway licensing regime can deal with any short term traffic impacts of development 
including road closures. The Right of Way will also need to be temporarily closed by 
can be reinstated following completion of the works. 

8.3 No objection has been raised by the Councils Environmental Health officer on 
the grounds of contaminated land or disturbance to residents from the construction 
process.  The County Archaeologist has raised no objection subject to a Written 
Scheme of Investigation being provided. This has been submitted, and subject to 
some minor modifications he is satisfied with it. Compliance can be secured through 
condition. 

8.4 The Council’s Arboricultural Officer initially raised some concerns regarding lack 
of information. However, this has now been provided in the form of a Tree Impact 
and Protection Report and Construction Environmental Management Plan. She has 
confirmed that this contains the detail required and it does address the issues she 
raised. This is considered in Arboricultural terms to be the most sensible approach to 
the installation of the pipeline. However, it does not necessarily guarantee that no 
trees will be severely damaged or need to be removed as a result of works but its 
does reduce the risk of this occurring. There is mention of mitigation in terms of 
replacement planting and ecological management in the ancient woodland, but none 
of this is specified in any detail in either the CEMP or the Arb statement.  However, 
this could be secured by condition and subject to this condition it is considered that 
the scheme complies with Policy EQ9 of the Local Plan

8.5 Given that the pipeline will be underground for the majority of its length it is 
considered that there will be no adverse impact on the character and appearance of 
the landscape or the setting of the Peak District National Park. It is noted that no 
objection or comment has been received fro m the PDNPA. A condition can be 
applied to control the appearance of the pipeline structure where it crosses the River 
Wye. 

Page 209



8.6 No objection has been raised by Network Rail, subject to Asset Protection 
Agreements being put in place outside of the planning process. Similarly, following 
discussion with Cadent Gas, it is considered that any potential impact on their 
operations and appropriate protection of their infrastructure can also be addressed 
privately with the developer. 

8.7 With regard to ecological impacts The key areas of sensitivity are a) the section 
of pipeline that joins Rockhead Spring, which is located within Cow Dale LWS b) the 
section crossing the River Wye c) the section of pipeline that passes through Peak 
District Dales SAC / Wye Valley SSSI (Unit 003 – Cunning Dale South) / Cunning 
Dale South LWS / Pigtor Wood PAWS and d) the section of pipeline that runs 
through an area of previous habitat creation at the bottling plant. Following 
submission of additional information Derbyshire Wildlife Trust have confirmed that 
subject to conditions they have no objection to the scheme. Natural England initially 
raised objections and additional information has been submitted directly to them by 
the developer in an attempt to overcome them. Based on this information Natural 
England has undertaken an Assessment of Likely Significant Effects under the 
Habitat Regulations which has concluded that that without appropriate mitigation the 
application would: 

 have an adverse effect on the integrity of Peak District Dales Special Area of 
Conservation https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/. 

 damage or destroy the interest features for which Wye Valley Site of Special 
Scientific Interest has been notified. 

8.8 In accordance with the above therefore, as the competent authority High Peak 
Borough Council has undertaken an Appropriate Assessment. That Assessment is 
set out above and has identified that the proposed pipe route passes through a 125 
m section of The Wye Valley Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) (Unit 003 – 
Cunning Dale South) which comprises broadleaved woodland. A number of 
additional units of the Wye Valley SSSI occur within 1 km of the proposed pipe route. 
The Wye Valley SSSI is designated for its geological and geomorphological interest 
and associated range of important semi-natural woodland, scrub, grassland and 
stream habitats. Of particular importance is the variety of daleside grasslands. The 
portion of the Wye Valley SSSI through which the proposed pipe route passes is also 
designated a Special Area of Conservation (SAC). The Peak District Dales SAC 
qualifies for this designation due to the presence of semi-natural dry grasslands and 
scrubland facies on calcareous substrates, Tilio-Acerion forests of slopes, screes 
and ravines and white-clawed crayfish along with a number of habitats and species 
that are not primary reasons for its designation.

8.9 Furthermore, the Appropriate Assessment has also identified that, unmitigated, 
the likely significant effects are on 

- H9180 Tilio-Acerion forests comprising Disturbance to approx.. 700 m2, 
however no tree removal and limited impacts to other woodland features

- H6210 Semi-natural dry grasslands comprising Disturbance to approx.. 150 
m2

Page 210



8.10 In the absence of any objection from Natural England or DWT there is no 
scientific basis on which to challenge these conclusions.

8.11 Where likely adverse effect on the integrity are identified avoidance of the 
impact should be considered in the first instance. An alternative routes report and 
addendum report has been submitted which considers alternatives and concludes 
that these too would be harmful or would be impractical / unviable. Other alternatives 
considered by officers are also deemed to be impractical or undesirable. 

8.12 The developer has therefore submitted a CEMP detailing proposed mitigation 
measures. The Developers Ecological Appraisal, CEMP, Natural England and DWT 
agree that adverse effects in the integrity of the SAC can ruled out provided all 
agreed or proposed mitigation measures are secured and implemented. Natural 
England has confirmed that this can be achieved by condition. 

8.13 If following mitigation adverse effect on the integrity remain, the Local 
Planning Authority as the Competent Authority would need to consider the 
“Derogation Tests” under the Habitat Regulations. However, in this case, given that 
the impacts can be mitigated and relate to the construction phase only it is permitted 
to grant the project consent provided that the consent includes conditions that are 
strict enough to guarantee that those parameters will not adversely affect the 
integrity of the site. In the light of the Natural England and DWT advice, it is 
considered that this is the case.  

8.14 In summary, for the reasons stated above, and having due regard to all other 
matters raised it is concluded that, the proposal complies with the relevant local plan 
policies and provisions of the NPPF and accordingly is recommended for approval. 
  
9. RECOMMENDATION:

Planning permission is APPROVED subject to the following conditions:

Condition 
number

Brief description Comment

STD Standard 3 year time limit

NON 
STANDARD

Compliance with Approved Plans

LA02 Written Scheme of Investigation – 
Archaeology 

NSTD Construction environmental 
management plan

NSTD A Strategy to secure net biodiversity 
gain

NSTD Compliance with construction 
management plan

NSTD Compliance with Arboricultural Method 
Statement

Page 211



No trees to be felled without LPA 
approval
Any trees / shrubs / hedges damaged 
to be maintained. 

NSTD No tree or branch removal must take 
place during the laying of the pipeline. 
Should any tree works be required, 
Natural England must be consulted 
prior to works taking place. 

NSTD Planting details to be agreed with 
Natural England prior to 
commencement of works. This is to 
ensure the level of intervention will 
have no likely significant effect on the 
Peak District Dales SAC. 

NSTD
There shall be no tree removal and 
that as part of the overall proposal, 
diversification planting within the 
Wye Valley SSSI woodland will take 
place. The level of intervention and 
planting should be agreed with 
Natural England prior to planting 
taking place. 

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision.

The Council has worked with the applicant to secure a sustainable development, 
accordingly paragraph 38 of the NPPF has been adhered to. 

Site Plan

Page 212



Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 15 July 2019 - Clerical Error
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix Bi

	6 Planning Applications
	7 DOC/2017/0071 Land at Linglongs Road, Whaley Bridge - discharge of conditions relating to HPK/2017/0694 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 24, 26, 27, and 28
	Appendix
	Appendix 2

	8 DOC/2108/0110 Land off Linglongs Road, Whaley Bridge - Discharge of condiitions 5, 6, 7, 9, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 21, 29, 32, and 33 in relation to HPK/2017/0247
	9 HPK/2018/0551 Howard Town Brewery - proposed change of use of the existing B2 use class (general industrial) to a Sui Generis (Brew shop with ancillary tasting room and provision of bar  snacks)
	Appendix

	10 HPK/2018/0143 Land at Forge Road, Chinley - residential development comprising 12 dwellings (open market and affordable), public open space and associated infrastructure together with a new car park for 1st Chinley Scout Group
	11 HPK/2019/0097 Rockhead Spring Pump Building, Bakewell Road, Buxton - installation of a pipe from Rockhead Spring Pump House to Waterswallows Lane along a route that includes Bakewell Road, Redgap Lane, Daiseymere Lane and Waterswallows Lane

